
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council  

FROM: David E. Cox, Town Manager  

DATE: July 8, 2021 

SUBJECT: Agenda Information – 7/13/2021 

The following is additional or summary information regarding matters on the upcoming Town Council 
Agenda.  The numbering below follows the agenda and some routine or self-explanatory items are not 
discussed in this memo.  As you review your packet materials, please do not hesitate to contact the 
appropriate staff member or me prior to the Council meeting with any questions or concerns.  Often, 
these conversations can help staff and me be prepared for the Council meeting and be ready to facilitate 
a more productive and efficient meeting for everyone.  

7 Resolutions/Ordinances/Policies/Proclamations 
7a Resolution Approving the Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan - Council is asked to review and 
consider approval of the East Hampton Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan, which was produced in 
cooperation with the Lower Connecticut River Valley Council of Governments (RiverCOG) and is part of 
the regional plan.  The plan identifies various types of hazards created or  impacted by weather or other 
natural events and outlines Town vulnerabilities as well as proposed modifications that should be made.  
The plan, which is required by and prepared with guidance from FEMA, provides a basis for Town efforts 
to improve its ability to handle weather/natural events and creates eligibility for certain grants that can 
be used to offset costs associated with improvements.   Representatives of the RiverCOG will be present 
to provide information on the plan and the East Hampton section.  The East Hampton portion of the 
plan is included with this packet.  The full plan and the Town-specific sections for other municipalities 
may be found on RiverCOG’s website here: https://www.rivercog.org/projects/natural-hazard-
mitigation-plan/.  

Recommended Action: Approve the Resolution approving Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

7b Resolution Accepting and Authorizing Execution of a Historic Document Preservation Grant – 
The Council is asked to accept and approve execution of documents related to a grant in the amount of 
$5,500 through the State’s Historic Documents Preservation Grant Program.  The funds being provided 
to the Town will support the purchase of additional map storage cabinets for the Town Clerk and the 
scanning for electronic storage and retrieval of Building and Land Use Department records. 

Recommended Action: Approve the Resolution accepting and authorizing the grant. 

https://www.rivercog.org/projects/natural-hazard-mitigation-plan/
https://www.rivercog.org/projects/natural-hazard-mitigation-plan/


Town Council - Agenda Information – 7/13/2021 
July 8, 2021 
Page 2 
 

 
 

9 New Business 
9a Police Department General Order Updates regarding Use of Force and Youth Investigations – 
The Council is asked to consider and approve updates to these two policies to reflect updates in State 
Law no longer requiring the filing of a Use of Force report when an Officer uses a firearm to destroy a 
sick or injured animal.  The modifications to the Youth Investigations policy implements changes in state 
requirements related to the elimination of certain procedures regarding youth and families.  The 
changes are briefly described in Chief Woessner’s memorandum included in the meeting packet and the 
full policies showing the changes are included as well.  Chief Woessner will present information on the 
changes. 
 
 Recommended Action: Approve the updated Policies. 
 
9b Consideration of a Collective Bargaining Agreement with the NAGE group – The Council is 
asked to review and consider approval of the collective bargaining agreement with members of the 
NAGE union, which represents employees in the Department of Public Works, Library and Town Hall.  
The proposed agreement would be effective July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2024. 
 
 Recommended Action: Approve the Agreement. 
 

 
The remainder of the items are of a routine nature, in the sole purview of the Council or are 
announcements.  Please contact me or the appropriate staff member with questions or concerns. 
 



Town Council Regular Meeting 1 6/22/2021 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 

Town Council Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, June 22, 2021 

Town Hall Council Chambers and Zoom 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Pete Brown, Vice Chairman Dean Markham, Council Members Tim Feegel, 

Derek Johnson, Barbara Moore, Mark Philhower and Kevin Reich and Town Manager David Cox 

Call to Order 

Chairman Brown called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Town Hall Council Chambers and 

via Zoom. 

Adoption of Agenda 

A motion was made by Ms. Moore, seconded by Mr. Reich, to adopt the agenda as written. Voted 

(7-0) 

Public Hearing 

Neighborhood Assistance Act Application for Epoch Arts 

The CT Neighborhood Assistance Act is a tax credit program designed to provide funding for 

municipal and tax-exempt organizations by providing a corporation business tax credit for 

businesses who make cash contributions to these entities. 

Linda Schroth, 47 Spellman Point Road and Chairperson of the Epoch Arts Board of Directors 

spoke in support of the application and appreciates the Council’s consideration of the application.  

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Mr. Reich to close the Public Hearing.  Voted 

(7-0) 

Approval of Minutes 

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Johnson, to approve the minutes of the Town 

Council Regular Meeting of June 8, 2021 as written.  Voted (7-0) 

Public Remarks 

None 

Presentations 

None  

Bids & Contracts 

None   

Resolution/ Ordinances/ Policies/ Proclamation 

Resolution Authorizing a Lease-Purchase Financing to Finance Acquisition of Two Pierce 

Fire Tankers and Related Equipment 

Mr. Cox provided an overview of the resolution and financing information. The resolution will be 

included with the minutes filed in the Town Clerk’s Office. 

Agenda Item 3a



 

Town Council Regular Meeting  2 6/22/2021 Minutes  

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Johnson, to approve the resolution authorizing 

a lease-purchase financing for the acquisition of two Pierce fire tankers and related equipment as 

presented.  Voted (7-0) 

 

Police Department General Orders 

1) Biased Based Profiling 

2) Pursuit Policy 

Police Chief Dennis Woessner provided an overview of the minor updates to the two General 

Orders. 

 

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Philhower, to approve General Order 1.9 Bias 

Based Profiling and General Order 3.6 Pursuit Policy as presented.  Voted (7-0) 

 

Continued Business 

None 

 

New Business 

Discussion & Possible Approval of Epoch Arts Neighborhood Assistance Act Project 

Mr. Johnson informed the Council that he is on the Epoch Arts Board of Directors and would be 

recusing himself from this item on the agenda. 

 

The CT Neighborhood Assistance Act is a tax credit program designed to provide funding for 

municipal and tax-exempt organizations by providing a corporation business tax credit for 

businesses who make cash contributions to these entities. 

  

A public hearing was held for this item earlier in this meeting.  

 

A motion was made by Mr. Markham, seconded by Ms. Moore, to approve the submission of 

paperwork for the Epoch Arts 2021 Neighborhood Assistance Act project to the State of 

Connecticut. Voted (6-0). Mr. Johnson recused himself from this vote. 

 

Discussion & Possible Approval of RFQ for Water System Evaluation & Design 

Mr. Cox provided an overview of the RFQ for Water System Evaluation & Design.  This RFQ 

seeks a qualified engineering firm to assist the Town in determining a course of action, preparing 

preliminary designs and providing assistance with funding applications for Town water system 

enhancements and expansions.  One correction will be made in the RFQ on page 4, paragraph 3 – 

500,000 will be changed to 700,000.  The RFQ process will follow a qualifications-based selection 

as required by the State.   

 

A motion was made by Mr. Johnson, seconded by Ms. Moore, to approve the RFQ for Water System 

Evaluation and Design as amended above.  Voted (7-0) 

 

Town Manager Report 

Mr. Cox provided an overview of his written report which will be included with the minutes filed 

in the Town Clerk’s Office.  

 

Mr. Cox also provided an update on the lake.  Last week the Health department issued an advisory 

for the lake due to an algae bloom.  It was not near the swim area and the toxicology report indicated 



Town Council Regular Meeting 3 6/22/2021 Minutes 

that it was not the type of cyanobacteria that causes severe problems.  It was most likely due to the 

major rain and the heat.  A BioBlast treatment has been started. 

The paving on Route 196 should be completed in another day.  They are done with the Village 

Center area and Summit Street should be completed on Wednesday.  It only needs striping.  After 

this area they will move over to Young Street toward Route 151. 

Chip sealing in the White Birches has been delayed until after July 4th. 

The bricks in the Village Center that were undermined during the heavy rainstorm have been 

collected and are being stored at Public Works.  The Director of Public Works will review the area 

and work on a new project to re-set the bricks that were washed out and possibly re-set the bricks 

in the other areas of the Village Center. Temporarily there will be asphalt where the bricks originally 

were set. 

Appointments 

None 

Tax Refunds 

A motion was made by Mr. Philhower, seconded by Ms. Moore, to approve tax refunds in the 

amount of $954.78.  Voted (7-0) 

Public Remarks 

None 

Communications, Correspondence & Announcement 

None 

Executive Session 

1) Potential Purchase of Property

2) Discussion of Town Manager Performance Evaluation

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Mr. Johnson, to enter Executive Session at 7:16pm.  

Voted (7-0).  Mr. Cox will attend Executive Session for the first item. 

Note – no action other than Adjournment will be taken following Execution Session. 

Executive Session ended at 7:55pm. 

Adjournment 

A motion was made by Mr. Reich, seconded by Ms. Moore, to adjourn the meeting at 7:55pm.  

Voted (7-0) 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cathy Sirois 

Recording Clerk 



A RESOLUTON CONCERNING THE 2021 LOWER CONNECTICUT RIVER 

VALLEY HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN UPDATE DATED MAY 2021 

For the purpose of adopting the Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan as required by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency in order to be eligible for certain Federal assistance for any natural hazards. 

WHEREAS, the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, at 42 U.S.C. § 5165, 

and 44 CFR Part 201.6 of the Federal Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000, require the municipalities to adopt a 

mitigation plan in order to be eligible for grants to implement certain mitigation projects; and  

WHEREAS the Lower Connecticut River Valley Council of Governments (RiverCOG) municipalities 

have experienced past flooding and other natural hazard events that pose risks to public health and safety, may 

cause serious property damage, and a plan is needed to address the results of these events: and 

WHEREAS the planning process fostered by the Connecticut Department of Emergency Services and 

Public Protection, Division of Emergency Management and Homeland Security, and set forth by the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency, offers the opportunity to consider natural hazards and risks, and to identify 

mitigation actions to reduce future impacts of such hazards; and 

WHEREAS the State of Connecticut has provided federal Hazard Mitigation Assistance program funds 

to support development of the mitigation plan; and 

WHEREAS a Hazard Mitigation Plan (the “Plan”) has been updated by the Hazard Mitigation Planning 

Committee and staff from RiverCOG and 15 of its municipal members, including the Town of East Hampton; 

and 

WHEREAS the Hazard Mitigation Plan recommends several mitigation actions that will help minimize 

and reduce safety threats and damage to private and public property; and  

WHEREAS a public meeting was held on July 13, 2021, to present the Plan and proposed mitigation 

actions and to solicit questions and comments. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of East Hampton, 

Connecticut, that the Hazard Mitigation Plan, including Volume I and the annex for our municipality, is hereby 

adopted. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the municipal offices identified in the Plan are hereby directed to 

pursue implementation of the recommended priority actions that are assigned to their agencies. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any action proposed in the Plan shall be subject to and contingent 

upon budget approval, if funding is required, and this resolution may not be interpreted so as to mandate any 

such appropriations. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Department of Public Works is designated to coordinate with 

other offices and entities and shall periodically report on the activities, accomplishments, and progress, and shall 

prepare a progress report as required by the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 

Adopted this 13th day of July, 2021.  

APPROVED: 

TOWN COUNCIL           ATTEST 

____________________________     _____________________________ 

James Brown, Chairperson              Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk 

Agenda Item 7a



LOWER CONNECTICUT RIVER VALLEY COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 2020 UPDATE 

TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON MUNICIPAL ANNEX 



i 

 

TTOWN OF EAST HAMPTON ANNEX 
UPDATED FOR THE 2020 HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 Point of Contact ...................................................................................................................................1 

1.1 Town of East Hampton ........................................................................................................................1 

1.1.1 East Hampton Local Planning Team ....................................................................................................1 

1.2 Lower Connecticut River Valley Council of Governments ...................................................................1 

2.0 Jurisdiction Profile ...............................................................................................................................1 

2.1 Town of East Hampton Profile .............................................................................................................1 

2.2 Government Style ................................................................................................................................4 

2.3 Development Trends ...........................................................................................................................4 

2.4 Specific Hazard Concerns .....................................................................................................................4 

2.4.1 Flooding ...............................................................................................................................................4 

2.4.2 Dam Breach .........................................................................................................................................5 

2.4.3 Winter Weather ...................................................................................................................................6 

2.4.4 Hurricanes and Tropical Storms ..........................................................................................................7 

2.4.5 Wildland Fire ........................................................................................................................................7 

2.4.6 Tornado and Microbursts ....................................................................................................................7 

2.4.7 Drought ................................................................................................................................................7 

2.4.8 Extreme Heat and Climate Change ......................................................................................................7 

2.4.9 Earthquake ...........................................................................................................................................8 

3.0 Hazard Risk ..........................................................................................................................................8 

3.1 Historical Events ..................................................................................................................................8 

3.2 Recent Events ......................................................................................................................................8 

3.3 Hazard Risk Ranking .......................................................................................................................... 10 

3.4 Potential Impacts of Hazards ............................................................................................................ 11 

3.5 National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) Participation ................................................................... 12 

3.5.1 Repetitive Loss Property Detail ........................................................................................................ 12 

4.0 Capability Assessment ...................................................................................................................... 12 

4.1 Critical Facilities ................................................................................................................................ 12 

4.2 Municipal Capabilities....................................................................................................................... 15 

4.2.1 Regulations and Ordinances ............................................................................................................. 15 

4.2.2 Operations and Procedures .............................................................................................................. 15 



ii 

 

4.2.3 Emergency Response Capabilities .................................................................................................... 16 

4.2.4 Capital Improvements ...................................................................................................................... 18 

4.2.5 Outreach, Education, Communication, and Warnings ..................................................................... 18 

4.2.6 New Capabilities and Completed Actions......................................................................................... 18 

5.0 Hazard Mitigation Action Plan .......................................................................................................... 18 

5.1 Hazard Mitigation Goals and Objectives .......................................................................................... 18 

5.2 Previous Mitigation Actions Disposition ........................................................................................... 18 

5.3 Updated Mitigation Goals, Objectives and Actions .......................................................................... 20 

5.3.1 Prioritization of Mitigation Strategies .............................................................................................. 21 

5.4 2020-2025 Prioritized Hazard Mitigation Actions ............................................................................ 23 

 

Figure 2-1. East Hampton Location Map ....................................................................................................................2 
Figure 2-3. East Hampton Land Cover ........................................................................................................................3 
Figure 2-4. Town of East Hampton Demographics - Published on Town of East Hampton CT  (Source: https://s3-us-
west-2.amazonaws.com/cerc-pdfs/2019/East-Hampton-2019.pdf) .........................................................................4 
Figure 2-5. Location East Hampton Dams ..................................................................................................................5 
Figure 4-1. Location of Critical Facilities in East Hampton ...................................................................................... 13 
 

Table 1-1. East Hampton Planning Team ...................................................................................................................1 
Table 2-1. DEEP Inventory of Registered and Recorded Dams in East Hampton .......................................................6 
Table 3-1. Presidentially Declared Natural Hazard Events. ........................................................................................8 
Table 3-2. Flood Event PA Reimbursements, East Hampton. ....................................................................................9 
Table 3-3. Hurricane Wind Event PA Reimbursements, East Hampton. ....................................................................9 
Table 3-4. Winter Storm PA Reimbursements, East Hampton. ..................................................................................9 
Table 3-5. Hazard Rankings. .................................................................................................................................... 10 
Table 3-6. Summary of Potential Hazard Impacts. .................................................................................................. 11 
Table 4-1. Critical Facilities. ..................................................................................................................................... 14 
Table 4-2. Legal and Regulatory Capability. ............................................................................................................ 16 
Table 4-3. Administrative and Technical Capability. ............................................................................................... 17 
Table 4-4. Financial Resources. ............................................................................................................................... 17 
Table 5-1: Status of Previous Mitigation Strategies and Actions. ........................................................................... 18 
Table 5-2. BCR Scoring System ................................................................................................................................ 23 
Table 5-3. East Hampton Hazard Mitigation Strategies and Prioritization. ............................................................ 24 
 

 



1 

 

11.0 Point of Contact 
1.1  Town of East Hampton 

Matthew Walsh, Public Works Director 

One Public Works Drive 

East Hampton, CT 06424 

T: 860-267-4747 

E:  

1.1.1  East Hampton Local Planning Team 
The following representatives listed in Table 1-1 participated in meetings and provided input, data, and council 
toward the development of Volume 1 and this East Hampton, Connecticut Annex. 

Table 1-1. East Hampton Planning Team 

Name Title 

Dennis Woessner Police Chief 

Jeremy DeCarli Planning and Zoning  

Matt Walsh* Director of Public Works 

Richard Klotzbier Fire Marshal/EMD 

Russell Melmed Director of Health  
*Local Coordinator 

1.2  Lower Connecticut River Valley Council of Governments 
Margot Burns – Environmental Planner 

RiverCOG  

145 Dennison Rd.  

Essex, CT 06426  

T: (860) 581-8554 x 702 

E: mburns@rivercog.org 

2.0 Jurisdiction Profile 
2.1  Town of East Hampton Profile 
Originally incorporated as Chatham in 1767, the town included a portion of what is now Portland, which split off 
in 1841.  An act of the Connecticut General Assembly changed the name to East Hampton in 1915.  

The Town of East Hampton is located on the eastern bank of the Connecticut River in central Connecticut, 
approximately 20 miles southeast of Hartford and 12 miles east of downtown Middletown. East Hampton is in 
Middlesex County and is one of seventeen-member municipalities served by the Lower Connecticut River Valley 
Council of Governments (RiverCOG). Figure 2-1 shows the location and boundaries of East Hampton. 



2 

 

 
Figure 2-1. East Hampton Location Map 

The center of East Hampton is commonly identified as the area along Route 66, whereas the “village center” is 
offset slightly to the south. Together, these areas comprise the most densely developed part of East Hampton.  

East Hampton's topography is dominated by numerous hills interspersed with streams, valleys, and wetland areas. 
Elevations range from a height of 916 feet above sea level on Meshomasic Mountain (part of the Bald Hill Range 
in the northwest corner of Town) to as low as 10 feet along the Connecticut River and the southern end of the 
Salmon River in the southeast corner of Town. Steep slopes (>15%) are scattered throughout the Town, with 
concentrations in the Middle Haddam/Cobalt area as well as along the eastern Town boundary near Route 66. 
Notwithstanding the variation in topography, the Town’s character is dominated by Lake Pocotopaug. The lake is 
located north of Route 66 near the town center. Numerous residential developments surround the lake. The lake 
is a significant recreational resource in Connecticut. 

Water quality protection is one of the highest priorities in the July 1, 2016 Plan of Conservation and Development 
(POCD). The POCD also declares that the Town is dedicated to “Preserve More Meaningful Open Space” through 
acquisitions of land. Figure 2-3 shows land cover in East Hampton.  



3 

 

 
Figure 2-2. East Hampton Land Cover 

The 2010 Census reported a town population of 12,959 people which represents a 2.9% decrease from 2000. A 
2018 estimate predicts a population drop by less than one percent to 12,854. Figure 2-4 provides demographic 
data for East Hampton.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



4

 

 
Figure 2-3. Town of East Hampton Demographics - Published on Town of East Hampton CT  
(Source: https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/cerc-pdfs/2019/East-Hampton-2019.pdf) 

22.2  Government Style 
The East Hampton form of government is Town Council with a Town Manager. 

2.3  Development Trends 
Development in East Hampton is occurring at a steady, moderate rate. Most development in East Hampton occurs 
on ridges and hills, rather than in valleys where flood risks exist. Hampton Woods (partially built), Belltown Place 
(not developed), and Edgewater Hills are ongoing residential development projects that fit this pattern. The 
Edgewater Hills development is undergoing a slow buildout. Town staff report that a handful of other minor 
subdivision projects are underway. Redevelopment of nonresidential properties in the village center is also 
underway as properties become vacant or available. 

2.4  Specific Hazard Concerns 
East Hampton is vulnerable to many types of natural hazards. Flooding is by far the most significant natural hazard 
with the potential to do harm to people, places, and property and to cause financial losses. The second greatest 
threat is from hurricanes. The information below is intended to supplement the hazard specific analysis completed 
in Section 2, of Volume 1 of this plan.  

2.4.1  Flooding 
While flooding occurs in East Hampton, it is typically limited to floodplains and other known flood areas and does 
limited damage to private property. NFIP losses for East Hampton have historically been very low. Flash flooding 
is a greater concern than riverine flooding. 



5 

 

An emerging challenge identified by East Hampton is the deterioration of metal culverts throughout the town, 
making the town’s roads vulnerable to flood events. State owned roads running through town are also a concern; 
these roads have historically flooded frequently, causing local traffic problems.  

Spring flooding events threaten the Connecticut River. Fortunately, most of the structures along the River are on 
high ground. Of concern for the town is the series of three dams in sequence along the Pocotopaug Creek, corridor 
from Pocotopaug Lake downstream. The Town does not have control over operation of the dams and is concerned 
about risks associated with the dams. Pocotopaug Lake Dam is typically opened and closed without input from 
the Town. This can potentially lead to conflicts in water management. For example, Town staff report that a canoe 
was stuck in the dam several years ago. 

The Town is concerned about leakage through Bevin Pond dam in the Village Center. This dam is one of the three 
located along the creek. 

22.4.2  Dam Breach 
The Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection (CT/DEEP) dam inventory shows 26 dams in East 
Hampton. Of those 26 dams, four have unclassified hazards, 11 are low hazard, nine are moderate hazard and two 
are rated as Significant Hazard Dams. There are no high hazard rated dams in East Hampton. There are no 
municipally owned dams in East Hampton. Dam locations are shown in Figure 2-5. 

 
Figure 2-4. Location East Hampton Dams 

 



6 

 

Of concern for the town is the series of three dams in sequence along the Pocotopaug Creek, corridor from 
Pocotopaug Lake downstream. The Town does not have control over operation of the dams and is concerned 
about risks associated with them. Pocotopaug Lake Dam is typically opened and closed without input from the 
Town. This can potentially lead to conflicts in water management. For example, Town staff report that a canoe 
was stuck in the dam several years ago. 

The Town is concerned about leakage through Bevin Pond dam in the Village Center. This dam is one of the three 
located along the creek. The 11 moderate and significant hazard dams are shown in Table 2-1.  A full list of dams 
in East Hampton is included in Appendix B.  

 

Table 2-1. DEEP Inventory of Registered and Recorded Dams in East Hampton 

CT 
Dam 

# 
Dam Name Hazard Class Owner 

4204 ARTISTIC WIRE COMPANY POND DAM B-Significant ANDERSON, TRUSTEES 

4206 LAKE POCOTOPAUG DAM B-Significant Pocotopaug Water Power Company 

4201 BEVINS POND BB-Moderate BEVIN BROTHERS MANUFACTURING COMPANY 

4209 NELSON GUSTINE DAM BB-Moderate NELSON GUSTINE 

4211 MARKHAM POND BB-Moderate BELLTOWN SPORTSMANS CLUB INC. 

4212 WOPOWOG POND BB-Moderate MURRAY OSTRAGER 

4213 HURD PARK POND BB-Moderate Connecticut DEEP 

4214 STATE PARK POND BB-Moderate Connecticut DEEP 

4217 WALLIEN POND BB-Moderate DIRK BEKER 

4220 CAMP RAMAH UPPER POND BB-Moderate Connecticut DEEP 

4222 DEL REEVES ROAD DAM BB-Moderate Connecticut DEEP 

 

22.4.3  Winter Weather 
Heavy snowfall, ice storms, and extreme cold can immobilize an entire region. Areas that normally experience 
mild winters can experience a major snowstorm or extreme cold. Winter storms can result in flooding, storm 
surge, closed highways, blocked roads, downed power lines and hypothermia in people. Blizzards can also come 
without much warning and leave the area with significant snowfall totals making clean-up difficult. By far the 
greatest risk of damage (especially to utility lines) is from ice storms. Where heavy snow may be an inconvenience, 
a severe ice storm can cause major damage to trees, power lines and create hazardous driving conditions. A major 
ice storm could bring down trees impeding emergency services access to requests for assistance. Special needs 
people such as those who rely on oxygen machines are vulnerable to loss of power. People with other special 
needs also may need to go to the nearest open shelter. Snowstorms do regularly occur; but the losses are not as 
catastrophic as the losses associated with flooding and hurricanes. Falling trees and limbs during storm events is 
a problem in East Hampton, as it is in many of Connecticut’s towns. There are many ash trees killed by the Emerald 
Ash Borer, and many oak trees damaged by Gypsy Moth caterpillars, located along roads. This is a concern relevant 
to hurricanes and tropical storms, summer storms, and winter storms. 



7 

 

22.4.4  Hurricanes and Tropical Storms 
Hurricanes are one of the most threatening natural hazards facing East Hampton. Although hurricanes affecting 
Connecticut typically have a more severe impact along the shoreline, the inland areas can experience significant 
damage as well. Hurricanes with heavy rain and strong winds are possible as well. A consequence of Hurricanes 
and Tropical Storms is long-term power outages. After both Tropical Storm Irene and Hurricane Sandy, fallen trees 
tore down wires and poles, causing week long power outages in some cases. Tropical Storm Irene caused over 
800,000 power outages statewide while Hurricane Sandy caused over 600,000 outages. Falling trees and limbs 
during storm events is a problem in East Hampton, as it is in many of Connecticut’s towns. There are many ash 
trees killed by the Emerald Ash Borer, and many oak trees damaged by Gypsy Moth caterpillars, located along 
roads. This is a concern relevant to hurricanes and tropical storms, summer storms, and winter storms. 

2.4.5  Wildland Fire 
East Hampton occasionally experiences small brush fires, which are quickly contained. The area of the Village 
Center relies on the pond located in the Village Center (Bevin Pond) for fire suppression; this pond is experiencing 
sedimentation and the Town is concerned about leakage through its dam. The dam must be managed, and the 
pond dredged to ensure the pond continues to be usable for fire protection. 

2.4.6  Tornado and Microbursts 
Areas of East Hampton are forested and therefore susceptible to a heavy limb clearing during a Tornado or 
microburst. East Hampton has experienced an EF3 Tornado event on August 21, 1951 which resulted in a total of 
8 injuries to residents. This was the worst recorded Tornado in the history of the RiveCOG region. Tornados, 
though rare, do occur and cause a considerable amount of damage to the area touched by them. Microbursts are 
nearly impossible to predict and are dangerous. Research has determined that microbursts are much more 
common and occur much more frequently than had previously been thought. Falling trees and limbs during storm 
events is a problem in East Hampton, as it is in many of Connecticut’s towns. Located along roads are many ash 
trees killed by the Emerald Ash Borer, and many oak trees damaged by Gypsy Moth caterpillars.  

2.4.7  Drought  
Unlike floods, hurricanes and earthquakes, droughts rarely pose an immediate threat to life and property. Instead, 
drought causes economic hardship through failed crops, loss of livestock and increased expenses and/or lost 
revenue for water dependent businesses. In addition, drought can have health consequences, especially when 
ground water quality degrades or becomes unavailable to residences using wells. Municipalities and water 
companies often ask for the public’s help in conserving water during dry periods to prevent the depletion of water 
supplies.  

Droughts also increase the risk of wildfires. Large forest in the region include the: Salmon River  State Forest, a 
forest encompassing nearly 6,000 acres located in the neighboring towns of Hebron, Marlborough Colchester and, 
East Haddam as well as East Hampton;  the Meshomasic State Forest, encompassing 9,118 acres in Portland and 
East Hampton; and Hurd State Park, nearly 1,000 acres in East Hampton and East Haddam The threat of wildfires 
for people living near wild land areas or using recreational facilities in wilderness areas is real. Dry conditions at 
various times of the year increase the potential for wildfires. 

2.4.8  Extreme Heat and Climate Change 
Extreme heat and heat waves are a possibility during the summer months, particularly between June and August. 
The elderly in homes without air conditioning are vulnerable. Town officials have identified cooling centers for 
those desiring a place to go to cool off. 

Blue/green algae has required closure of Pocotopaug Lake in the past and is still a recurring threat. Health impacts 
are possible and economic losses indirectly occur as a result of closures. It is expected that this impact will increase 
with rising temperatures due to climate change. The spread of mosquito-borne illnesses is another concern for 



8 

 

the Town; in recent years, cancellation of outdoor events to mitigate the spread of Eastern Equine Encephalitis 
(EEE) has caused economic losses. 

22.4.9  Earthquake 
The entire town could be affected by an earthquake in this region; however, impacts could vary locally.  

In East Hampton and the surrounding region, recorded impacts have been limited to shaking to the extent that 
things were knocked off shelves and people were alarmed. Structural damage has been limited to building 
components such as chimneys and buildings in poor repair; but failing structures have caused property damage 
in nearby towns. 

3.0 Hazard Risk 
3.1  Historical Events 
Table 3-1 lists presidentially declared disaster events that have impacted East Hampton since 2010. Preliminary 
Damage Assessment figures are based on Public Assistance applications, and include losses reported by the Water 
Pollution Authority and East Hampton Housing Authority. 

Table 3-1. Presidentially Declared Natural Hazard Events. 

Type of Event Date Preliminary Damage Assessment 

Flood Event (DR-1904) 4/23/2010 $37,514.95 

Severe Storm - Snow (DR-4046) 11/17/2011 $60,564.28 

Hurricane Event (DR-4023) 09/02/2011 $179,912.21 

Hurricane Event (DR-4087) 10/30/2012 $63,788.09 

Winter Weather Event (DR-4106) 03/21/2013 $172,584.44 

 

3.2  Recent Events 
 The most recent flood event of note in East Hampton occurred in September 2018 during a flood that 

affected most of Connecticut from the Fairfield area east-northeastward to the Lebanon area. During this 
event flooding was limited mostly to floodplains and other areas where flooding is expected. Some 
basements were flooded, and a few road washouts were experienced on town roads and Route 151. 

 The Town did not find it necessary to submit Public Assistance (PA) reimbursement requests following the 
2018 flood. 

 The Town did not find it necessary to submit PA reimbursement requests following the 2015 winter storm. 
 Microbursts, wildfires, and other geographically unique hazard events have not occurred in recent years.  
 High wind and snow events have occurred as usual in recent years. 

Total PA reimbursements (1998 – 2019) to the community were as follows: 

 Flood Events: $37,515 ($1,786 annually) 
 Hurricane (Wind) Events: $246,950 ($11,760 annually) 
 Winter (Snow) Storm Events: $360,7111 ($17,177 annually) 

These are summarized in Table 3-2, Table 3-3, and Table 3-4.  



9 

 

Table 3-2. Flood Event PA Reimbursements, East Hampton. 

Incident Mar-May 2010 

Declaration 4/23/2010 

Disaster No. 1904 

Entity FEMA PA Reimbursement 

 State  $ 

Municipal $ 

Nonprofit $ 

 Total  $37,515 

 Annualized  $1,786 

 

Table 3-3. Hurricane Wind Event PA Reimbursements, East Hampton. 

Incident 
Aug-Sep 2011 
(T.S. Irene) 

Oct-Nov 2012 
(SuperStorm Sandy) 

Declaration 9/2/2011 10/30/2012 

Disaster # 4023 4087 

Entity   

State  $ $ 

Municipal $ $ 

Nonprofit  $ $ 

Total  $179,912 $63,788 

Annualized  $8,567 $3,038 

 

Table 3-4. Winter Storm PA Reimbursements, East Hampton. 

Incident Oct 2011 Feb 2013 

Declaration 11/17/2011 3/21/13 

Disaster # 4046 4106 

Entity FEMA PA Reimbursement 

State  $ $ 

Municipal $ $ 

Nonprofit  $ $ 

Total  $60,564 $172,584 

Annualized  $2,884 $8,218 

   



10 

 

33.3  Hazard Risk Ranking 
East Hampton participated in the regional hazard ranking conducted by the Hazard Mitigation Planning Team. 
Table 3-5 shows the scoring for the various ranking parameters that were used. The probability of each hazard is 
determined by assigning a level, from unlikely to highly likely, based on the likelihood of occurrence from historical 
data. The total impact value includes the affected area, primary impact, and secondary impact levels of each 
hazard. Each level's score is reflected in the matrix. The total score for each hazard is the probability score 
multiplied by its importance factor times the sum of the impact level scores multiplied by their importance factors. 
Based on this total score, the hazards are separated into three categories based on the hazard level they pose to 
the communities: Significant, Moderate, Limited.   

Table 3-5. Hazard Rankings. 

Probability  Importance  2.0   Secondary Impacts  Importance  0.5  

Based on estimated likelihood of occurrence from 
historical data 

Score  
Based on estimated secondary impacts to 
community at large considering economic 
impacts, health impacts, and crop losses 

Score 

Unlikely (Less than 1% probability in next 100 years or has 
a recurrence interval of greater than every 100 years.) 

1  Negligible - no loss of function, downtime, 
and/or evacuations 

1 

Somewhat Likely (Between 1 and 10% probability in next 
year or has a recurrence interval of 11 to 100 years.) 

2  Limited - minimal loss of function, downtime, 
and/or evacuations 

2 

Likely (Between 10 and 100% probability in next year or 
has a recurrence interval of 10 years or less.) 

3  Moderate - some loss of function, downtime, 
and/or evacuations 

3 

Highly Likely (Near 100% probability in next year or 
happens every year.) 

4  High - major loss of function, downtime, and/or 
evacuations 

4 
       

Affected Area  Importance  0.8   Survey Score  Importance  1.0  
Based on size of geographical area of community affected 
by hazard 

Score  Survey Score = (Survey Rating / 3) x 10 where: 

Isolated 1  Survey Rating is the average rating of concern based on 
a scale of 1 (low concern) to 3 (high concern) compiled 
from the survey responses. Small 2  

Medium 3     

Large 4  Total SScore = (Probability x Impact) + Survey Score, 
where:  

    Probability = (Probability Score x Importance) 

Primary Impact Importance  0.7   Impact = (Affected Area + Primary Impact + Secondary 
Impacts), where: 

Based on percentage of damage to typical facility in 
community 

Score  Affected Area = Affected Area Score x Importance 

Negligible - less than 10% damage 1  Primary Impact = Primary Impact Score x Importance 

Limited - between 10% and 25% damage 2  Secondary Impacts = Secondary Impacts Score x 
Importance 

Critical - between 25% and 50% damage 3     

Catastrophic - more than 50% damage 4  Hazard Planning Consideration  Total Score Range  
    Limited 0 - 26 
    Moderate 26.1 - 50 
    Significant 50.1 - 74 



11 

 

 

33.4  Potential Impacts of Hazards 
Table 3-6 shows the results of the regional hazard ranking. East Hampton endorsed the ranking, with the caveat 
that droughts are of higher concern to East Hampton than to the rest of the region.  

Table 3-6. Summary of Potential Hazard Impacts. 

Hazard Type and Methodology 

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
 

Impact 

Survey 
Rating 

Survey 
Score 

Total 
Score 

Hazard 
Planning 

Consideration 

Af
fe

ct
ed

 A
re

a 

Pr
im

ar
y 

Im
pa

ct
 

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
Im

pa
ct

s 

Winter Storms 
(Snow, Ice, Wind, 
including 
Nor’easters) 

Historic analysis for 
probability and 
annualized 
damages 

4 4 1 3 3 10 50.80 Significant 

Flood (Riverine, 
Drainage, Coastal 
Surge, Sea Level 
Rise - includes 
flooding from 
Nor’easters) 

Hazus, SLR Overlay, 
FS Model Overlay, 
Historic data and 
damages for 
additional 
probability 

3 3 2 3 3 10 43.60 Significant 

Severe Weather 
(thunderstorms, 
downbursts, hail, 
lightening) 

  4 2 1 2 2 7 33.87 Significant 

Extreme Heat 
and Cold 

Qualitative based 
on historic 3 4 1 1 1 3 25.53 Limited 

Hurricanes Hazus for wind 2 4 3 3 2 7 35.07 Significant 

Tornadoes 

Historic analysis for 
probability and 
annualized 
damages - pulling 
in surrounding 
counties  

2 1 4 2 2 7 30.27 Moderate 

Earthquakes Hazus, 3 scenarios 1 4 4 4 1 3 20.93 Limited 

Drought  

Historic analysis for 
probability and 
annualized 
damages - some 
qualitative 

2 3 1 1 1 3 18.13 Limited 

Wildfire Historic analysis for 
probability and 

2 2 1 1 1 3 14.13 Limited 



12 

 

Hazard Type and Methodology 

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
 

Impact 

Survey 
Rating 

Survey 
Score 

Total 
Score 

Hazard 
Planning 

Consideration 

Af
fe

ct
ed

 A
re

a 

Pr
im

ar
y 

Im
pa

ct
 

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
Im

pa
ct

s 

annualized 
damages 

Tree Disease - in 
"Other Hazards 
Category" 

Research based, 
mostly qualitative, 
supplemented by 
municipal figures, 
recommend survey 
for further analysis 

3 3 1 2 3 10 38.40 Significant 

Invasive Species - 
in "Other Hazards 
Category" 

Mostly qualitative  3 2 1 1 1 3 26.73 Limited 

 

33.5  National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) Participation 
East Hampton participates in the NFIP and commits to adhere by the rules and regulations in order to continue 
being NFIP compliant. East Hampton’s initial Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM) was adopted 11/29/1974, and 
its initial Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) and entry into the NFIP was April 1, 1982. The current active FIRM is 
dated 2/6/2013. Overall, the NFIP has 15 policies in force in East Hampton, with paid losses to date totaling 
$51,594.  

3.5.1  Repetitive Loss Property Detail 
Since entering the NFIP in 1979, one residential property has been listed as a Repetitive Loss Property (RLP) along 
an inland stream. That property has had six claims totally approximately $43,000.  

4.0 Capability Assessment 
4.1  Critical Facilities 
The Town Hall was relocated to its current location in 2020; the previous building has been sold and is no longer 
a critical facility. The Town has also moved its Police Department Headquarters and Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC) into the new Town Hall facility. The EOC had previously been housed within a fire house. The East Hampton 
Middle School has a portable generator stationed on-site. The sewer pumping stations in East Hampton are all in 
the process of being fitted with generators. The location of critical facilities within the Town of East Hampton is 
shown in Figure 4-1. 



13 

 

 
Figure 4-1. Location of Critical Facilities in East Hampton 

Public and private utility facilities are vital to maintaining or restoring normal services to areas of town before, 
during, and after a natural disaster. Sanitary sewer service is provided throughout much of the town by the East 
Hampton WPCA. Many properties have private septic systems. The Town also collects and treats sewage from 
adjacent municipalities such as Colchester and Hebron. The Town owns and operates two small public water 
systems that are listed in the table below. However, the majority of the public water systems located in the town 
are owned and operated by companies such as Aquarion, Connecticut Water Company, and others. Electricity is 
provided by Eversource. Public and private utility facilities are subject to the same loss of power, potable water, 
communications, and accessibility as is the community they serve. Table 4-1 contains critical facilities located in 
East Hampton.  



14 

 

Table 4-1. Critical Facilities. 

FFacility Type Address 
FEMA 
Flood 
Zone  

Generator  Notes 

Town Hall Facility 

 Town Hall 
 Police 

Department 

EOC 
Municipal 
Emergency Response 

1 Community 
Drive  No Yes New building 

completed in 2020 

East Hampton Fire, 
Company #1 Emergency Response 3 Barton Hill 

Road No Yes  

East Hampton Fire 
Cobalt Company #2 

Emergency Response 366 West High 
Street No Yes  

East Hampton Fire, 
Company #3 Emergency Response 99 White Birch 

Street No Yes  

High School Shelter 15 N Maple 
Street No Yes  

Middle School Backup Shelter 19 Childs Road No Portable  

Public Works Municipal 1 Public Works Dr No Yes  

Water Pollution 
Control Facility Infrastructure 20 Gildersleeve 

Drive 

100-year 
Zone A 
touches 
back of 
property 
but not 
the 
facilities 

Yes  

Sewer Pumping 
Stations Infrastructure Multiple N/A Partial In process: installing 

generators for all 

Senior Center 
Library 

Community 
Comfort Station 

105 Main Street 

100-year 
Zone A. 
Parcel 
and 
Building 

Yes  

Center Elementary 
School School 7 Summit Street No Yes Town-owned water 

system 

Royal Oaks Residential Royal Oaks Ave No Yes Town-owned water 
system 

Cobalt Health Care & 
Rehabilitation Center Care Facility 29 Middle 

Haddam Rd No Yes  

Westside Manor Care Facility 9 W High Street No Yes  

 



15 

 

44.2  Municipal Capabilities 
The Town of East Hampton has a variety of natural hazard mitigation capabilities, including local regulations and 
ordinances, operational protocols, and emergency response capabilities. Following is a list of some highlighted 
capabilities identified by municipal staff. 

4.2.1  Regulations and Ordinances 
The Town of East Hampton participates in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). Section 10 of the town’s 
Zoning Regulations defines flood plain management regulations. Section 10.8 contains provisions for flood hazard 
reduction. 

The Zoning Regulations restrict all new construction and substantial improvements in the 1-percent annual-
chance floodplain as depicted on the 2013 FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM). These regulations conform to 
both Federal and State requirements. Substantial Improvements is defined as any combination of repairs, 
reconstruction, alteration, or improvements to a structure taking place over a ten-year period, the cumulative 
cost of which equals or exceeds 50% of the market value either before the improvement or repair is started or, if 
the structure has been damaged, before the damage occurred. Elevated buildings must have at least one access 
route above the base flood elevation. The regulations prohibit all encroachments in regulated floodways. 

The Subdivision Regulations require a storm drainage plan that minimizes runoff and maximizes infiltration before 
discharging storm water into wetlands and watercourses. If storm water discharge will overload existing 
downstream drainage facilities, the storm drainage plan must provide adequate retention or detention of the 
runoff. The regulations require the protection of natural features including those that contribute to the natural 
functioning of the natural drainage system. The regulations also address damaging winds as a result of severe 
storms; utility lines are required to be buried for new subdivisions and are encouraged for certain projects such 
as major road projects.  

The Building Department ensures conformance with the Connecticut State Building Code including flood resistant 
construction and elevation certification (Section 3107).  

The Inland Wetlands Agency, through its Inland Wetlands and Watercourses regulations, works toward the 
conservation of wetland resources through avoiding impacts from development on functional wetlands and 
watercourses. The Commission also seeks to restore and enhance wetlands that have been degraded. 

4.2.2  Operations and Procedures 
The Town has a budget of $50,000 per year for grounds and tree maintenance; this has not always been sufficient 
to proactively maintain dangerous trees. The town’s utility provider, Eversource, reportedly focuses attention on 
the town and trims areas along utilities. Utilities are mostly installed underground for new developments.  

East Hampton has significant debris management capabilities and will prefer to chip branches prior to bringing 
them to the debris storage site at the Town transfer station. Whenever possible, Public Works examines and clears 
public storm drains and grates of debris during periods of rainfall, snowfall, and storms. 

The DPW addresses ice problems on roads on a case-by-case basis. Occasionally, and as needed, improved 
drainage systems will be installed to help reduce groundwater seepage that causes ice. The Town is able to handle 
most winter plowing needs in-house, hiring outside contractors only in extreme cases. The Town uses salt for 
deicing. 

When possible, the DPW uses low impact development (LID) tools and green infrastructure such as swales and 
infiltration instead of traditional drainage systems; the Town has found that the costs of these tools tend to be 
lower than traditional systems. The Town is exploring development of an internal manual for LID techniques. 



16 

 

44.2.3  Emergency Response Capabilities 
The Town has installed about 40 dry hydrants around Town for fire protection. The network of dry hydrants has 
been mapped to guide maintenance and emergency response. All dry hydrants are flow-tested annually, and those 
with problems are scheduled for inspection and repair. Underground cisterns (20,000 gallons in size) are required 
for some new developments. The Fire Department also owns three tanker trucks that can carry a combined 8,000 
gallons of firefighting water. Table 4-2, Table 4-3, and Table 4-4 highlight legal, regulatory, technical, 
administrative and financial capabilities within East Hampton that contribute to mitigation.  

Table 4-2. Legal and Regulatory Capability. 

 
Local 

Authority  
State or Federal 

Prohibitions 

Other 
Jurisdictional 

Authority   

State 
Mandated  

Comments 

Codes, Ordinances & Requirements 

Building Code Yes Yes No Yes 
All municipalities 
enforce the State 
Building Code 

Zoning Code Yes No No No  

Subdivisions  Yes No No No  

Post Disaster Recovery  Yes No No No  

Real Estate Disclosure  Yes No No Yes Statewide requirement 

Growth Management No No No No  

Site Plan Review  Yes No No No  

Special Purpose (flood 
management, critical 
areas) 

Yes Yes No Yes State flood management 
Statutes and regulations 

Planning Documents 

General Plan Yes No No Yes Plan of Conservation 
and Development  

Floodplain or Basin Plan No No No No  

Stormwater Plan  No No No No  

Capital Improvement 
Plan Yes No No No  

Habitat Conservation 
Plan No No No No  

Economic Development 
Plan Yes No No No GrowSmart (2016) 

Emergency Response 
Plan Yes No No Yes LEOP templates 

provided by DEMHS 

Shoreline Management 
Plan No No No No  



17 

 

  
LLocal 

Authority  
State or Federal 

Prohibitions 

Other 
Jurisdictional 

Authority   

State 
Mandated  

Comments 

Post Disaster Recovery 
Plan Yes No No Yes LEOP templates 

provided by DEMHS 

 

Table 4-3. Administrative and Technical Capability. 

Staff/Personnel Resources  Available?  Department/Agency/Position  

Planners or engineers with knowledge of 
land development and land management 
practices 

Yes Planning and Zoning/Engineering 

Engineers or professionals trained in 
building or infrastructure construction 
practices 

Yes Engineering Dept and Public Works 

Planners or engineers with an 
understanding of natural hazards Yes RiverCOG 

Staff with training in benefit/cost analysis No  

Floodplain manager Yes Building Official 

Surveyors No Contract as needed 

Personnel skilled or trained in GIS 
applications Yes RiverCOG 

Emergency manager Yes Dept of Emergency Management 

Grant writers Yes Planning 

 

Table 4-4. Financial Resources. 

Financial Resources 
Accessible or Eligible 

to Use?  

Community Development Block Grants Yes 

Capital Improvements Project Funding Yes 

Authority to Levy Taxes for Specific Purposes Yes 

User Fees for Water, Sewer, Gas or Electric Service Yes 

Incur Debt through General Obligation Bonds Yes 

Incur Debt through Special Tax Bonds Yes 

Incur Debt through Private Activity Bonds Yes 

Withhold Public Expenditures in Hazard-Prone Areas Yes (State) 

State Sponsored Grant Programs  Yes 

Development Impact Fees for Homebuyers or Developers  No 



18 

 

44.2.4  Capital Improvements 
Capital Improvement Plan addresses municipal improvements including rights-of-way, infrastructure, land, 
housing, or utilities for public purposes. Mitigation actions from this NHMP should be included in the CIP. Larger 
items such as bridge and culvert replacements and elevation of roads are included in the 5-year CIP. The CIP should 
be reviewed often so that it can include new mitigation action items each time the NHMP is updated. This is a 
good way for the town to prioritize mitigation items and use the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) to set aside 
funds for infrastructure improvements to reduce loss of life and property during natural hazard (NH) events. 

4.2.5  Outreach, Education, Communication, and Warnings 
The Town has locally implemented the Everbridge system and can contact residents through that system. Town 
staff note that the Town Council or Town Manager must authorize use of Everbridge on a case-by-case basis, 
presenting a potential barrier to use during an emergency event. East Hampton’s Emergency Management 
Department also maintains a page on the Town website that provides information and updates.  

4.2.6  New Capabilities and Completed Actions 
A number of actions have been completed or capabilities improved since adoption of the 2014 HMP. A selection 
is listed below. 

 Abbey Road culvert was replaced (in-kind replacement). 
 The State is reportedly replacing the Pocotopaug Creek culverts under Route 66 in 2020-2021. This may 

involve an upsize in capacity. 
 East Hampton’s Zoning Regulations have been updated since adoption of the previous HMP to include 

freeboard to be consistent with the State Building Code. 
 The Salmon Run development, completed in 2018, used mostly LID designs and techniques. 

5.0 Hazard Mitigation Action Plan 
5.1  Hazard Mitigation Goals and Objectives 
This section presents the progress made on the 2014 action plan and establishes new goals, objectives and actions 
identified for the 2020-2025 planning horizon.  

5.2  Previous Mitigation Actions Disposition 
During the process of developing the 2014 Middlefield Hazard Mitigation Plan, several hazard mitigation actions 
were identified to be pursued during the five-year planning horizon that followed. Table 12 presents the actions 
listed in that document, and the status of those actions. 

Table 5-1: Status of Previous Mitigation Strategies and Actions. 

ACTION  Description Status Details 

Debris 
Management 

Plan 
Develop Debris Management Plan 

Carry 
Forward 

with 
Revisions 

The Town does not have a written plan but 
has protocols for handling debris from 
storms. Tree limbs are chipped and brought 
to the transfer station or brought to the 
transfer station for subsequent processing 
if they cannot be chipped.  
The Town will identify a readily available 
written plan to use as a template and tailor 
to its needs. 



19 

 

AACTION  Description Status Details 

Debris 
Management 

Equipment 

Purchase additional equipment to clear roads 
of downed trees, disabled vehicles, or 
unforeseen obstacles. i.e. chain saws, lifting 
gear (chains & winches), bulldozer, chipper, 
wheeled excavator with grapple. 

Partially 
Complete 

Carry 
Forward 

The Town is planning to acquire a new 
excavator in 2020-2021, along with a new 
chipper. The Town would like to carry this 
action forward for more progress. 

Christopher 
Brook Culverts 
at North Main 

Street 

Triple culverts carrying Christopher Brook 
under North Main Street are undersized. 
Replace culverts with box culvert. 

Completed 
This action was completed between 2017 
and 2019. The flow capacity of the 
structure was increased. 

White Birch 
Road Bridge 

Bridge on White Birch Road is vulnerable to 
damage from flood events from Fawn Mill 
Brook and Loos Pond. Replace with new larger 
bridge. 

Carry 
Forward 

The Town has not made progress on this 
action due to limited funds. 
Carry forward. 

Collie Brook 
Road Culvert 

Undersized culvert on Collie Brook Road 
results in roadway flooding. Replace with 
larger culvert 

Carry 
Forward 

The Town has determined that the stream 
grade at this site is too gentle for a culvert 
replacement to directly reduce flooding. 
Nevertheless, upsizing is expected to 
reduce clogging with debris at the site.  
Action is carried forward. 

Mine Brook 
Culvert at 
Route 151 

Undersized 3' diameter culvert on Route 151 
at Mine Brook results in roadway flooding. 
Replace with larger box culvert 

Drop 

The State repaired this structure following 
the September 2018 flood. A headwall was 
added, but the Town does not believe the 
opening was enlarged.  

Elbow Brook 
Culvert at 
Wopowog 

Road 

Undersized 24" culvert on Elbow Brook at 
Wopowog Road results in roadway flooding 
and erosion of gravel surfaced road. Replace 
with 3' culvert. 

Carry 
Forward 

This culvert washed out during the 
September 2018 flood but was replaced in 
kind.  
Carry forward. 

Hale Brook 
Culvert at Lake 

Drive 

Undersized culvert on Hale Brook at Lake Drive 
results in roadway flooding. Replace with 
larger culvert. 

Carry 
Forward 

No progress due to limited funding. 
Carry forward. 

13 Summit 
Street 

Pocotopaug 
Creek Bypass 

Pocotopaug Creek passes under the old factory 
building at 13 Summit Street. At high flows, 
the water flows around the building and into 
lower level windows flooding the lower floor 
of the building. Construct high level by- pass 
around the building and under Summit Street. 

Carry 
Forward 

with 
Revisions 

The Town has determined that constructing 
a bypass around the building and under the 
road would be excessively costly and may 
not even be feasible.  
The Town prefers to pursue removal of the 
building and daylighting the stream, 
potentially along with removal of the dam.  

Wildfire Plan 
Due to proximity to Meshomasic State Forest, 
work with DEEP and Fire Department to 
develop a Wildfire Plan 

Drop 
The State has sufficient capabilities to 
maintain forest land it owns. Sufficient 
firefighting access is available.  

Evacuation 
Plan Need for wildfire and evacuation plan. Drop The Town reports that it has sufficient 

evacuation capabilities.  

 

 



20 

 

55.3  Updated Mitigation Goals, Objectives and Actions 
As noted in Section 3 of Volume 1, all the RiverCOG participating communities, including East Hampton, 
participated in setting regional goals and objectives. East Hampton has identified the goals and objectives valid 
for the Town’s annex.  The three goals and objectives are as follows:  

Goal 1: Promote implementation of sound flood management and other natural hazard mitigation principals on a 
regional and local level. Note: Covers future development through policy, planning, regulation, emergency 
services, and environmental strategies. 

 Objective for Goal 1: To promote the development, improvement and implementation of programs, 
policies, regulations and emergency services that result in the reduction of long-term risks to life and 
property. 

Goal 2: Implementation of effective natural hazard mitigation projects at the regional and local level regional and 
local level. Note: Covers infrastructure and building related projects – the existing built environment. 

 Objective for Goal 2: To enhance the ability of RiverCOG, other regional entities, and local communities 
to reduce or eliminate risks to life and property from natural hazards through cost-effective hazard 
mitigation projects, including avoidance. 

Goal 3: Increase research, planning and outreach activities for the mitigation of natural hazards on a regional and 
local level. Note: Covers the people component of mitigation via outreach and education, and integration with 
other planning and continuous improvement through increase research. 

 Objective for Goal 3: To increase general awareness of the region’s natural hazards and encourage State 
agencies, local communities, and the public to be proactive in taking actions to reduce long-term risk to 
life and property. 

East Hampton identified a series of new actions and hazard mitigation needs to consider:  

 The Public Works Department would like to make progress replacing deteriorated metal culverts with 
more suitable materials. As replacements occur, the Town may consider installation of larger culverts, 
open-bottom culverts, or bridges. 

 If the Whippoorwill Hollow Road culvert fails, houses will become isolated. The Town would like to replace 
this culvert soon; an increase in capacity is desired.  

 East Hampton includes numerous dams, but the Town has little control over their operation and 
maintenance. 

 Bevin Pond dam in the Village Center is of concern, as the dam is known to have leakage problems and 
the impoundment is used as a source of firefighting water.  

 Developing a protocol for cooperation between the Town, the State, and the owners and operators of the 
dams along Pocotopaug Creek may help to ensure the dams are maintained in good condition and 
operated safely. 

 The Town may work with CT DEEP to ensure all dam owners have up-to-date Emergency Action Plans 
(EAPs) and will make copies of those EAPs available to Town staff. 

 The Town may designate one staff person or position to be responsible for coordinating its efforts to 
improve dam safety. 

 East Hampton does not have a consolidated GIS system for emergency and disaster management and 
recovery; instead, each department tends to use its own system. The Town is interested in identifying a 
GIS software to improve its ability to respond to, and recover from, disaster events. 

 The Town may need to revise the protocols for use of the Everbridge system to allow for rapid deployment 
in an emergency situation. 



21 

 

 East Hampton has planned a dredging project to remove sediment from Bevin Pond in the Village Center 
to ensure it continues to be usable for fire protection. 

 East Hampton staff are very concerned with risks associated with trees and will focus on addressing these 
risks. 

 It may be necessary for East Hampton to increase its tree maintenance budget given the high number of 
dead or damaged trees due to recent pest infestations. 

 The Town would like existing utilities to be placed underground in areas such as the Village Center, 
although it may not pursue this as a high priority because these areas tend to be less wooded and have 
relatively less risk of damage to above-ground powerlines (however, ice can bring down power lines). 

 The Town is exploring development of an internal manual for LID techniques. Referencing the Rural LID 
manual developed using CIRCA funding may be useful to informing this effort. 

 The Town is working to address the recurring problem of blue/green algal blooms on Pocotopaug Lake 
during the summer months. The Town should follow the recommendations set forth in the Lake 
Pocotopaug Nine Elements Watershed Based Plan prepared by the Pocotopaug Lake Commission in 2017. 

 East Hampton is also concerned about the spread of Mosquito-borne illnesses such as EEE. Identification 
and treatment of breeding areas (standing water), as well as public education around removal and 
treatment of breeding areas, are steps the Town may take to mitigate this risk. 

55.3.1  Prioritization of Mitigation Strategies 
In considering which projects, processes, and other measures to undertake in the upcoming plan period, municipal 
and regional officials evaluated the need to address problems and vulnerabilities in their communities against the 
communities' resources and capabilities. To prioritize mitigation strategies, a set of criteria commonly used by 
public administration officials and planners was applied to each proposed strategy. The method, called STAPLEE, 
is outlined in FEMA planning documents such as Developing the Mitigation Plan (FEMA 386-3) and Using Benefit-
Cost Review in Mitigation Planning (FEMA 386-5). STAPLEE stands for the "Social, Technical, Administrative, 
Political, Legal, Economic, and Environmental" criteria for making planning decisions. Benefit-cost review was 
emphasized in the prioritization process. Criteria were divided into potential benefits (pros) and potential costs 
(cons) for each mitigation strategy. The following questions were asked about the proposed mitigation strategies: 

Social: 

 Benefits: Is the proposed strategy socially acceptable to the community? 
 Costs: Are there any equity issues involved that would mean that one segment of the community could 

be treated unfairly? Will the action disrupt established neighborhoods, break up voting districts, or cause 
the relocation of lower-income people? Is the action compatible with present and future community 
values? 

Technical: 

 Benefits: Will the proposed strategy work? Will it reduce losses in the long term with minimal secondary 
impacts? 

 Costs: Is the action technically feasible? Will it create more problems than it will solve? Does it solve the 
problem or only a symptom? 

Administrative: 

 Benefits: Does the project make it easier for the community to administrate future mitigation or 
emergency response actions? 



22 

 

 Costs: Does the community have the capability (staff, technical experts, and/or funding) to implement the 
action, or can it be readily obtained? Can the community perform the necessary maintenance? Can the 
project be accomplished in a timely manner? 

Political: 

 Benefits: Is the strategy politically beneficial? Is there public support both to implement and maintain the 
project? Is there a local champion willing to see the project to completion? Can the mitigation objectives 
be accomplished at the lowest cost to the community (grants, etc.)? 

 Costs: Have political leaders participated in the planning process? Do project stakeholders support the 
project enough to ensure success? Have the stakeholders been offered the opportunity to participate in 
the planning process? 

Legal: 

 Benefits: Is there a technical, scientific, or legal basis for the mitigation action? Are the proper laws, 
ordinances, and resolutions in place to implement the action? 

 Costs: Does the community have the authority to implement the proposed action? Are there any potential 
legal consequences? Will the community be liable for the actions or support of actions or for lack of 
action? Is the action likely to be challenged by stakeholders who may be negatively affected? 

Economic: 

 Benefits: Are there currently sources of funds that can be used to implement the action? What benefits 
will the action provide? Does the action contribute to community goals such as capital improvements or 
economic development? 

 Costs: Does the cost seem reasonable for the size of the problem and the likely benefits? What burden 
will be placed on the tax base or local economy to implement this action? What proposed actions should 
be considered but be tabled for implementation until outside sources of funding are available? 

Each proposed mitigation strategy presented in this plan was evaluated and quantitatively assigned a "benefit" 
score and a "cost" score for each of the seven STAPLEE criteria as outlined below: 

 For potential benefits, a score of "1" was assigned if the project will have a beneficial effect for that 
criterion or a "0" if the project would have a negligible effect or if the questions were not applicable to 
the strategy. 

 For potential costs, a score of "-1" was assigned if the project would have an unfavorable impact for that 
criterion or a "0" if the project would have a negligible impact or if the questions were not applicable to 
the strategy. 

 Technical and Economic criteria were double weighted (multiplied by two) in the final sum of scores. 
 The total benefit score and cost score for each mitigation strategy was summed to determine each 

strategy's final STAPLEE score. 

Although a community may implement recommendations as prioritized by the STAPLEE method, an additional 
consideration is important for those recommendations that may be funded under the FEMA mitigation grant 
programs. To receive federal funding, the mitigation action must have a benefit-cost ratio (BCR) that exceeds a 
value of 1.0. Calculation of the BCR is conducted using FEMA's Benefit Cost Analysis (BCA) toolkit. The 
calculation method may be complex and vary with the mitigation action of interest. Calculations are dependent 
on detailed information such as property value appraisals, design and construction costs for structural projects, 
and tabulations of previous damages or NFIP claims. The BCR scoring system used is outlined in Table 5-2. 
 



23 

 

Table 5-2. BCR Scoring System 

Scoring Benefits Costs 

Low: 0-1 
points 

Few would benefit; the impacts being 
addressed are not severe; benefits may 
be short term 

Likely to be done by existing personnel with little 
impact on budget; not complicated to 
accomplish. Costs to implement is likely to be 
under $10,000. 

Medium: 
2-3 
points 

Benefits may be felt by many in the 
community; the action may solve a 
problem or otherwise benefit the 
community for several years 

May need additional funding or studies; may 
require change in practices; costs to implement 
may be between $10,000 and $100,000 

High: 4-5 
points 

Benefits would accrue to many in the 
community; benefits may accrue to the 
most vulnerable or those not able to 
recover on their own; benefits would 
be long term and may permanently 
protect from damages 

Likely to cost over $100,000 and require 
obtaining funding outside of operating budget; 
complicated, lengthy process to implement 

 

The STAPLEE method accounts for cost-benefit considerations both directly (through the "Economic" category) 
and indirectly (through general consideration of costs and benefits of actions). Additionally, the range of estimated 
costs of each strategy are included in the STAPLEE table. The assumed costs of projects and generalized 
presentation of the benefits accruing from them are not based on specific detailed cost estimates as that level of 
analysis is not appropriate for this type of planning effort. For some projects, such as routine or recurring 
operations that are established practices and conducted with municipal general operating funds and existing staff, 
the STAPLEE results can be the only explicit comparison of costs and benefits. For projects for which bonding 
and/or grant funding will be sought, more in-depth evaluations of costs and benefits will be required. As project 
scopes are detailed, benefits and costs can be identified with more precision, and the benefit-cost ratio which 
results from a full benefit-cost analysis may differ from the planning-level STAPLEE results presented here. 

It should be noted that higher BCRs do not necessarily correspond to high priorities, nor do low BCRs or BCRs 
under 1.0 correspond to low-priority projects. An important project with a high priority to the community may 
have a lower BCR because of its complexity, assumed high expense, and other costs. Communities should not be 
discouraged or deterred from further consideration of projects that have low BCRs or BCRs less than 1.0 until 
additional, more specific evaluations of the costs and benefits have been undertaken. 

55.4  2020-2025 Prioritized Hazard Mitigation Actions  
In addition to the regional mitigation actions endorsed by East Hampton and outlined in Section 3 of Volume 1 of 
the regional plan, the Town identified or carried over from the last update, ranked and evaluated the actions in 
Table 14. For each identified action, the goal and objective it addresses is noted. Additionally, a description, lead 
agency, indication of costs and potential funding sources and estimated timeline for completion is included.  Also 
included are the hazards addressed by a specific action.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



24 

 

KEY: SW= Severe Weather, TW = Tornado/Wind, ET = Extreme Temperatures, WS=Winter Storm, F = Flood, TI = Tree Damage and Invasive Species, WF = Wild Fire, D = Drought, E = Earthquake, 
CC = Climate Change 

Table 5-3. East Hampton Hazard Mitigation Strategies and Prioritization. 

Ac
tiv

ity
 #

 

Go
al

/O
bj

ec
tiv

e 

Activity Description Lead Agency Est. Cost* 
Potential 
Funding 
Sources 

Timeframe 
for 

Completion 

Hazard (s) 
Addressed 

Weighted STAPLEE Criteria  

So
ci

al
 B

en
ef

it 

So
ci

al
 C

os
t 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l B
en

ef
it 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l C
os

t 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Be

ne
fit

 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Co

st
 

Po
lit

ic
al

 B
en

ef
it 

Po
lit

ic
al

 C
os

t 

Le
ga

l B
en

ef
it 

Le
ga

l C
os

t 

Ec
on

om
ic

 B
en

ef
it 

Ec
on

om
ic

 C
os

t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 
Be

ne
fit

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l C
os

t 

Total 
STAPLEE 

Score/Priority 

1 1-
1 

Acquire additional 
equipment to clear 
roads of downed 
trees, disabled 
vehicles, or 
unforeseen obstacles 
i.e. chain saws, lifting 
gear (chains & 
winches), bulldozer, 
chipper, wheeled 
excavator with 
grapple. 

PW, BOS, BOF $10,000-
$20,000 CIP 7/2021 – 

6/2025 
SW, TW, 
WS, TI 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4/H 

2 2-
1 

Bridge on White 
Birch Road is 
vulnerable to 
damage from flood 
events from Fawn 
Mill Brook and Loos 
Pond. Replace with 
new larger bridge. 

PW, BOS, BOF $100,000
+ 

Grant 
HMA 

7/2023 – 
6/2026 F 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7/H 



25 

 

Ac
tiv

ity
 #

 

Go
al

/O
bj

ec
tiv

e 

Activity Description Lead Agency Est. Cost* 
Potential 
Funding 
Sources 

Timeframe 
for 

Completion 

Hazard (s) 
Addressed 

Weighted STAPLEE Criteria  

So
ci

al
 B

en
ef

it 

So
ci

al
 C

os
t 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l B
en

ef
it 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l C
os

t 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Be

ne
fit

 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Co

st
 

Po
lit

ic
al

 B
en

ef
it 

Po
lit

ic
al

 C
os

t 

Le
ga

l B
en

ef
it 

Le
ga

l C
os

t 

Ec
on

om
ic

 B
en

ef
it 

Ec
on

om
ic

 C
os

t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 
Be

ne
fit

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l C
os

t 

Total 
STAPLEE 

Score/Priority 

3 2-
1 Replace culvert on 

Collie Brook Road 
with a larger culvert 

PW, BOS, BOF $25,000-
$50,000 

Grant 
HMA 

7/2022 – 
6/2024 F 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7/H 

4 2-
1 

Undersized culvert 
on Hale Brook at 
Lake Drive results in 
roadway flooding. 
Replace with larger 
culvert. 

PW, BOS, BOF $25,000-
$50,000 

Grant 
HMA 

7/2022 – 
6/2024 F 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7/H 

5 2-
1 

Demolish factory 
building at 13 
Summit Street and 
daylight 
Pocotopaug Creek, 
and possibly 
remove the existing 
dam. 

PW, BOS, BOF $1M+ 
Grant 
HMA 

7/2023 – 
6/2025 

F 
 

1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 9/M 

6 2-
1 

Undersized 24" 
culvert on Elbow 
Brook at Wopowog 
Road results in 
roadway flooding 
and erosion of 
gravel surfaced 
road. Replace with 
3' culvert. 

PW, BOS, BOF $25,000-
$50,000 

Grant 
HMA 

7/2022 – 
6/2024 F 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7/H 



26 

 

Ac
tiv

ity
 #

 

Go
al

/O
bj

ec
tiv

e 

Activity Description Lead Agency Est. Cost* 
Potential 
Funding 
Sources 

Timeframe 
for 

Completion 

Hazard (s) 
Addressed 

Weighted STAPLEE Criteria  

So
ci

al
 B

en
ef

it 

So
ci

al
 C

os
t 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l B
en

ef
it 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l C
os

t 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Be

ne
fit

 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Co

st
 

Po
lit

ic
al

 B
en

ef
it 

Po
lit

ic
al

 C
os

t 

Le
ga

l B
en

ef
it 

Le
ga

l C
os

t 

Ec
on

om
ic

 B
en

ef
it 

Ec
on

om
ic

 C
os

t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 
Be

ne
fit

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l C
os

t 

Total 
STAPLEE 

Score/Priority 

7 2-
1 

Develop an 
inventory of 
deteriorating metal 
culverts throughout 
town to begin 
replacing those 
most in need.  

PW $10,000-
$20,000 

OB 
Grant 

7/2021 – 
6/2022 F 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7/H 

8 1-
1 

Work with private 
dam owners on a 
communication 
plan regarding the 
opening and closing 
of the dams along 
the Pocotopaug 
Creek corridor. 

PW, BOS, BOF $1,000-
$5,000 

OB 
Staff 
Time 

7/2021 – 
6/2022 F 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3/L 

9 1-
1 

Ensure all 
Emergency Action 
Plans (EAPs) for any 
dam in town is 
maintained on file.  

PW, BOS, BOF $1,000-
$5,000 

OB 
Staff 
Time 

7/2021 – 
6/2022 F 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3/L 



27 

 

Ac
tiv

ity
 #

 

Go
al

/O
bj

ec
tiv

e 

Activity Description Lead Agency Est. Cost* 
Potential 
Funding 
Sources 

Timeframe 
for 

Completion 

Hazard (s) 
Addressed 

Weighted STAPLEE Criteria  

So
ci

al
 B

en
ef

it 

So
ci

al
 C

os
t 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l B
en

ef
it 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l C
os

t 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Be

ne
fit

 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Co

st
 

Po
lit

ic
al

 B
en

ef
it 

Po
lit

ic
al

 C
os

t 

Le
ga

l B
en

ef
it 

Le
ga

l C
os

t 

Ec
on

om
ic

 B
en

ef
it 

Ec
on

om
ic

 C
os

t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 
Be

ne
fit

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l C
os

t 

Total 
STAPLEE 

Score/Priority 

10 2-
1 

Replace and 
upgrade the 
capacity of the 
Whippoorwill 
Hollow Road 
culvert. If this 
culvert fails, houses 
will be cut off from 
egress.  

PW, BOS, BOF $10,000-
$20,000 

Grant 
HMA 

7/2022 – 
6/2024 F 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7/H 

11 1-
1 

Pursue funding to 
develop a low 
impact 
development (LID) 
manual for 
techniques to be 
implemented 
throughout the 
town. 

PW, BOS, BOF, 
Planning 

$5,000 - 
$10,000 

OB 
Grant 

7/2021 – 
6/2024 F 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3/L 

12 1-
1 

Develop a 
management plan 
that tracks areas in 
need of tree 
trimming and 
removal.  

Tree Warden, 
PW 

$5,000-
$15,000 OB 7/2021 – 

6/2022 
SW, TW, 

WS, F, WF 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4/H 



28 

Ac
tiv

ity
 #

 

Go
al

/O
bj

ec
tiv

e 

Activity Description Lead Agency Est. Cost* 
Potential 
Funding 
Sources 

Timeframe 
for 

Completion 

Hazard (s) 
Addressed 

Weighted STAPLEE Criteria 

So
ci

al
 B

en
ef

it 

So
ci

al
 C

os
t 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l B
en

ef
it 

Te
ch

ni
ca

l C
os

t 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Be

ne
fit

 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Co

st
 

Po
lit

ic
al

 B
en

ef
it 

Po
lit

ic
al

 C
os

t 

Le
ga

l B
en

ef
it 

Le
ga

l C
os

t 

Ec
on

om
ic

 B
en

ef
it 

Ec
on

om
ic

 C
os

t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 
Be

ne
fit

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l C
os

t 

Total 
STAPLEE 

Score/Priority 

13 2-
1 

Locate alternative 
fire protection 
water sources or 
identify alternative 
storage methods 
for fire suppression 
capabilities.  

Fire Dept., 
PW, BOS, BOF 

$5,000-
$15,000 OB 7/2021 – 

6/2023 WF, D 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 8/H 

EDC 
SS 
PH 

DPW 
EMD 

Economic Development Commission 
Social Services 
Public Health 

Department of Public Works 
Emergency Management Director 

P&Z 
BOE 

ConCom 
OB 

HMA 

Planning & Zoning 
Board of Education 

Conservation Commission 
Operating Budget 

FEMA Hazard Mitigation Assistance 



Town of East Hampton 

RESOLUTION 

Authorization – State Library Historic Document Preservation Grant 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT, David E. Cox, Town Manager of the Town of East Hampton, is 

empowered to execute and deliver in the name of and on behalf of this municipality a contract with 

the Connecticut State Library for a Historic Documents Preservation Grant. 

Approved this 13th day of July 2021. 

TOWN COUNCIL 

___________________________________ 

James Brown, Chairperson  

ATTEST 

_________________________________ 

Kelly Bilodeau, Town Clerk 

Agenda Item 7b











Agenda Item 9a



Agenda Item 9a(1)





























Agenda Item 9a(2)

































i  

WORKING AGREEMENT 

 BETWEEN 

THE TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 

AND 

LOCAL R1-216 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES 

NAGE 

JULY 1, 2021 - JUNE 30, 2024 
(Highlighted) 

Agenda Item 9b



 

ii  

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
                                                                                                                                              Page(s) 
 
Definitions            
Preamble            
Article I - Recognition and Unit Description          
Article II - Union Security            
Article III - Wages             
Article IV - Holidays, Personal Days, Funeral Leave        
Article V - Hours of Work            
Article VI - Overtime and Holiday Pay           
Article VII - Seniority             
Article VIII - Layoffs and Recalls           
Article IX - Uniforms             
Article X - Safety and Health            
Article XI - Vacations           
Article XII - Sick Leave          
Article XIII – Workers’ Compensation         
Article XIV - Medical Care Insurance         
Article XV - Retirement          
Article XVI - Grievance Procedure         
Article XVII - No Strike          
Article XVIII - Promotions and New Positions       
Article XIX - Longevity          
Article XX - Discipline          
Article XXI - General Provisions         
Article XXII - Union Activities Leave         
Article XXIII - Severability          
Article XXIV - Management Rights         
Article XXV - Job Classification         
Article XXVI - Duration of Agreement         
Signature Page            
Appendix A-Wages – Salary Plan 2021-2024       
Appendix B – Partnership 2.0 Information          

     



 

iii  

EAST HAMPTON TOWN EMPLOYEES 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
The following definitions shall be used and applied to all sections of this Agreement. 
 
Chief Administrative Officer Town Manager - shall mean the Town official filling the Charter 
designated position of Town Manager, who is recognized as the Chief Administrative and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Town pursuant to law. 
 
Members of the Unit - shall include all members of the bargaining unit. 
 
Regular Full-time Employees - shall mean any employee in the bargaining unit who works 
twenty (20) hours or more per week. 
 
Full-time Employee and Regular Full-time Employee - shall mean the same thing, an employee 
in the bargaining unit. 
 
Resignation without Prejudice - shall mean any employee who voluntarily resigns from Town 
service with no disciplinary charges pending against him/her. 
 
Resignation with Prejudice - shall mean any employee who resigns rather than facing charges 
against him/her. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 1 

PREAMBLE 
 
This Agreement made and entered into by and between the TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON, 
CONNECTICUT (hereinafter referred to as the “Town”) and LOCAL R1-216 of the NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES (hereinafter referred to as the “Union”) by 
virtue of negotiations between the Town and the Union under Chapter 113, Sections 7-467 through 
7-477 of the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut (hereinafter referred to as “MERA”), as 
amended from time to time, in order to fix the wages, hours of employment and other conditions 
of employment of all members of the unit as that term is hereinafter defined. 
 

ARTICLE I 
RECOGNITION AND UNIT DESCRIPTION 

 
Section 1.  The Town recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of 
collective bargaining relative to wages, hours and other conditions of employment of all employees 
of the Town working twenty (20) or more hours per week, including without limitation, all clerical, 
secretarial and technical employees working in the Town Hall (“Town Hall Group”),  Children’s 
Library, Children’s, Adult/Young Adult, Reference/Young Adult Library, Library 
Acquisition Manager Head of Circulation and Technical Services, WPCA clerical position, 
Public Works clerical position and all employees in the Town’s Public Works Division (“Public 
Works Group”), excluding however, the Director of Public Works, the Administrative Secretary 
to Council/Manager, the Personnel Technician, department heads, seasonal, and temporary 
employees and all others excluded by virtue of the provisions of MERA. 
 
Section 2.  Hereinafter all of the employees in the bargaining unit shall be referred to collectively 
as “the Unit” and all members of the Unit shall be referred to as the “employee or employees.” 
 

ARTICLE II 
UNION SECURITY 

 
Section 1.  The Town agrees to deduct from the pay of all employees who individually certify in 
writing to the Town that they authorize such deductions, such dues and fees as may be fixed and 
certified to the Town by the Union and allowed by MERA.  The Town will remit to the Union any 
amounts collected once each month, together with a list of employees from whose wages these 
sums have been deducted.  Such authorizations, forwarded to the Town not less than ten (10) days 
prior to the first pay day of the month, shall be effective the month received by the Town. 
 
Section 2.  All employees shall, as a condition of employment with the Town, may elect to 
become members of the Union or authorize in writing that an agency service fee be deducted 
from their salary using the procedures provided above for voluntary dues deductions within 
sixty (60) days after execution of this Agreement.  The agency service fee shall represent the 
cost of collective bargaining, contract administration and grievances adjustment and shall 
not exceed the amount of the uniformly assessed Union dues or agency fee deductions within 
sixty (60) days after their first day of work for the Town.  If an employee resigns, retires, is 
terminated or receives a leave, any unused portion of his Union dues or agency fee shall be 
returned to said employee upon his written request to the Town and the Union.  When an employee 



 

 2 

does not have sufficient money due him after deductions required by law, Union dues or agency 
service fees for such deduction periods shall be deducted in the first dues or service fees deduction 
pay period in which the employee has sufficient funds due him. 
 
Section 3.  The Union, its officers and members, shall not intimidate or coerce employees into 
joining or remaining members of the Union; and the Town shall not intimidate or coerce employees 
for the purpose of not joining the Union. 
 
Section 4.  The Union agrees to indemnify the Town for any loss or damages arising from the 
operation of this Article II.  It is also agreed that neither any employee nor the Union shall have 
any claim against the Town for any deductions made or not made, as the case may be, unless a 
claim of error is made, in writing, to the Town within thirty (30) calendar days after the date such 
deductions were, or should have been, made. 
 

ARTICLE III 
WAGES 

 
Section 1.  The pay rates and pay ranges for job classes in the Unit, for the period July 1, 2015 
2021 through June 30, 2018 2024, are set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and made a part 
hereof. 
 
Section 2.   The hourly wage is official.  The “yearly” wage is for informational purposes only and 
based on a regular hourly schedule. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

HOLIDAYS, PERSONAL DAYS AND FAMILY FUNERAL LEAVE 
 
Section 1.  The Town shall provide the following paid holidays for all regular full-time employees 
of the unit: 
 
  New Year’s Day   Columbus Day 
  Martin Luther King Day (observed) Veteran’s Veterans Day  
  President’s Day   Thanksgiving Day 
  Good Friday    Day after Thanksgiving 
  Memorial Day (observed)  Christmas Day 
  Independence Day   Two Floating Holidays 
  Labor Day          
 
In the event that any of the above mentioned holidays fall on a Saturday, said holiday shall be 
observed on the preceding Friday; in the event the holidays falls on a Sunday, it shall be observed 
on the following Monday.  In order to receive pay for an observed holiday, an employee must be 
in work or paid leave status on the scheduled work day immediately preceding, and following, the 
holiday.  The Town may, if abuse is suspected, require a note from the treating physician for the 
illness that caused the absence the day before and/or the day after a holiday, in order for an 
employee to qualify for holiday pay.  
 



 

 3 

        
Section 2.  If a holiday falls while an employee is on sick leave, he shall be paid for the holiday 
and no deduction shall be made from his sick leave bank.  If a holiday falls during an employee’s 
vacation, he shall be paid for the holiday and no deduction shall be made from his/her vacation 
time.  
 
Section 3.  A full time employee who has successfully completed the entry level probationary period 
may be granted paid personal leave days.  Such days may only be taken with the approval of the 
employee's immediate supervisor, which will not be unreasonably denied; the day time will be used 
for necessary personal business that otherwise cannot be conducted outside of the work day. 
 
Three (3) personal leave days will be granted to each employee at the beginning of each contract year.  
Personal leave days not used in one (1) contract year will not carry over into any later contract years.  
Pay shall be equal to the hourly rate times the number of hours in a regularly scheduled day for each 
particular employee.  At the discretion of the employee’s supervisor, personal leave days may be 
combined with vacation or may be taken with other personal leave days in the same week.  Except in 
the case of an emergency, employees must request approval from their immediate supervisor to take 
such leave at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance. 
 
Approved personal leave may be taken in one-half (1/2) hour increments.  
  
Section 4.  Each full-time employee shall be granted, with pay, funeral leave up to a total of three 
(3) working days in the event of the death of the employee’s spouse, child, mother, father, sister, 
brother, grandparent, grandchild, stepchild or stepparent. 
 
Each regular full-time employee shall be granted, with pay, funeral leave up to a total of two (2) 
working days in the event of the death of the employee’s father-in-law, mother-in-law, daughter-
in-law, son-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law. 
 
Each regular full-time employee shall be granted, with pay, funeral leave up to a total of one (1) 
working day in the event of the death of the employee’s aunt or uncle or niece or nephew. 
 
Leave taken under this section will be taken in the period between the death of the relative and 
through the funeral.  When an employee is taking leave under this section and the funeral is held 
over three hundred (300) miles from the employee’s home, the employee will be granted one (1) 
more day of paid leave, which may be used for travel after the funeral. 
 
Funeral leave shall apply only to an employee who is actually in attendance at the funeral or 
engaged in activities in connection therewith. 
 
Section 5.  Employees out of work due to a workplace injury shall not be eligible for holiday pay 
during such absence if the employee is receiving workers’ compensation benefits (any form of 
temporary total disability benefits, temporary partial disability benefits or a permanency award), 
in accordance with the Connecticut Workers’ Compensation Act during such absence. 

 
 



 

 4 

ARTICLE V 
HOURS OF WORK 

 
Section 1.  The standard work week for regular, full-time employees in the Town Hall Group shall 
consist of thirty-five (35) hours made up of three (3) days of seven (7) continuous hours Monday, 
Wednesday and Thursday from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., exclusive of an unpaid lunch period of one 
(1) hour duration; as well as one (1) day, Tuesday, of nine and one-half (9½) continuous hours 
from 8:00 a.m. to 6:30 p.m. exclusive of an unpaid lunch period of one (1) hour; and one (1) day, 
Friday, of four and one-half (4½) continuous hours, 8:00 a.m. to 12:30 p.m.   
 
The Water Pollution Control/Joint Facilities Administrative Assistant’s hours will be thirty-five 
(35)  hours, 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Monday through Friday with an unpaid lunch period of one (1) 
hour. The Public Works Administrative Assistant’s hours will be thirty-five (35) hours, 8:00 a.m. 
to 3:30 p.m. Monday through Friday with an unpaid lunch period of one-half (½) hour. 
 
Section 2.  Except as set forth below, the standard work week for regular, full-time employees in 
the Public Works Group (which shall consist of the following positions: Foreman, Chief 
Mechanic, Mechanic, Crew Leader DPW, Crew Leader Maintenance, Maintainer I, II, III, Parks 
and Recreation, Mechanics Aide/Maintainer II) shall consist of forty (40) hours made up five 
(5) days of eight (8) continuous hours each, Monday through Friday, from 7:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m., 
exclusive of an unpaid lunch period of one-half (½) hour duration (for exception see Section 6 
below). 
 
Effective the first full week of July of each year, the standard work week for regular full-time 
employees in the Public Works Group (excluding Parks and Recreation, Chief Mechanic, 
Mechanics and Mechanics Aide/Maintainer II) shall consist of forty (40) hours made up of five 
(5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, Monday through Friday, 6:00 a.m. to 2:30 p.m., with an unpaid 
one-half (½) hour for lunch.  Lunch shall be from 11:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m.  This summer schedule 
shall remain in effect through the last full week in August. 
 
The Building Maintainer’s standard work week shall consist of forty (40) hours comprised of five 
(5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, Monday through Friday, normally 5:30 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. with 
an unpaid one-half (½) hour lunch, provided, however, the hours within a day shall flexible 
pursuant to the operational requirements of Town buildings. 
  
When the Building Maintainer is out of work or if the needs of the Town require additional 
assistance with building maintainer duties and responsibilities, Maintainer II employees may be 
assigned such duties and responsibilities.  Additionally, the Building Maintainer may be assigned 
Maintainer II duties and responsibilities.  Building Maintainer assignments include all of the duties 
and responsibilities of the position, including, but not limited to, building and outside work.  
Accordingly, such assignments and the day to day duties and responsibilities of Building 
Maintainer shall be at the discretion of the Town.    
 
Section 3.  Working hours may be altered by mutual agreement between the Town and the Union.  
The Town reserves the right to temporarily alter hours after consultation with the Union. 
 



 

 5 

Section 4.  Each employee may have two (2) fifteen (15) minute coffee breaks each workday, one 
in the morning and the other in the afternoon. 
 
Section 5.  When an employee is required to work for extended periods during emergency winter 
and other conditions, no such employee shall be required to work more than ten (10) consecutive 
hours in addition to said employee’s normal work day.  Each employee shall be granted up to four 
(4) hours of rest time with pay at the said employee’s regular base rate of pay after working sixteen 
(16) consecutive hours to be used, at the Town’s discretion, either during the employee’s work day 
on the specific day that the employee earned the use of the rest time or within the same payroll 
period that the employee earned the rest time.  The rest time provided for in this Section 5 shall be 
scheduled by the Town in its absolute discretion with a view toward maximum efficiency of work 
and safety of employees. 
 
Section 6.  The standard number of hours of work for library positions in a work week is thirty-
five hours (with an unpaid lunch break of one (1) hour).  
 
Assignment of flexible hours to library positions shall be in accordance with past practice. 
 
Section 7.  Volunteers - The library shall not depend on volunteers for daily operations but may 
use volunteers as long as they do not displace any current employee. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY 

 
Section 1.  All employees in the Town Hall Group who perform authorized overtime in excess of 
seven (7) hours in any one (1) day or thirty-five (35) hours in any one (1) week shall be paid at the 
rate of time and one-half (1½) his regular base rate of pay for such authorized overtime.  Except 
that as provided for in the amended Article V, Section 1, the day (Tuesday) of nine and one-half 
(9½) continuous hours shall be considered at the regular rate of pay for all nine and one-half (9½) 
hours and shall be exempt from overtime. 
 
Section 2.  All employees in the Public Works Group, including the Building Maintainers 
(custodians), who perform authorized overtime in excess of eight (8) hours in any one (1) day or 
forty (40) hours in any one (1) week shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1½) his regular 
base rate of pay for such authorized overtime. 
 
Section 3.  When a full-time employee is ordered to work on an official town holiday, as defined 
in Article IV above, he shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1½) his regular base 
rate of pay in addition to holiday pay for all hours actually worked and authorized; excepting, 
however, an employee working on New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Thanksgiving Day and 
Christmas shall be compensated at the rate of twice the employee’s regular base rate of pay in 
addition to the holiday pay for all authorized overtime.  The holiday for double pay purposes shall 
be the entire twenty-four (24) hour period.  Work authorized on Sunday shall be paid at the double 
time rate. 
 



 

 6 

Section 4.  Overtime assignments shall be allocated among full-time employees within the 
classifications requiring the overtime on a fair and reasonable basis to the fullest degree 
practicable, by rotation on a seniority basis, subject to the employee’s classification and ability to 
perform the required work.  If an employee is scheduled for, or offered overtime, and does not 
avail himself of the opportunity to work, he will be charged with the scheduled overtime as if he 
had worked. 
 
Section 5.  The Town has the right to schedule overtime as required.  There shall be no concerted 
action against overtime work by employees.  Should the Town be unable to fulfill its overtime 
schedule because of a number of refusals, the Town may require the least senior employees, from 
the classifications needed, to do the necessary work required. 
 
Section 6.  When a regular full-time employee, after departing from his regularly scheduled work 
day, is officially ordered to report back to work for emergency service, he shall be compensated 
for all hours worked, at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times his regular base rate of pay, or four 
hours at his regular rate of pay, whichever is greater.  Only hours worked between the employee’s 
regularly scheduled quitting time and one (1) hour before his next regularly scheduled starting 
time are subject to this provision.  Continuous hours of overtime at the end of the regular workday 
will be compensated on an as worked basis. 
 
Section 7.  When a regular, full-time employee is officially ordered to report to work for 
emergency service (i) one (1) hour before his next regularly scheduled starting time, he shall be 
compensated for said one (1) hour at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times his regular base rate 
of pay or (ii) in excess of one (1) hour before his next regularly scheduled starting time, he shall 
be compensated for all hours worked at the rate of one and one-half  (1½) times his regular base 
rate of pay or four (4) hours at his regular base rate of pay, whichever is greater. 
 
Section 8.  An employee called to work before or after his regularly scheduled work day shall be 
paid from the time he is called to report to work, provided he reports for work no later than thirty 
(30) minutes after such notification, otherwise, he will be paid from the time of reporting. 
 
Section 9.  Employees who are required to work overtime four (4) or more hours beyond the end 
of their regular shift will be permitted a one-half (½) hour meal break during that four (4) hour 
period with no interruption in pay. 
 
Section 10. 
 
A. During the winter snow and ice control operations, or during other emergency situations, 

the Town, in its discretion, may provide a meal to eligible bargaining unit employees 
from a local eating establishment that the Town has an account with in an amount of 
up to the allowances set forth below.  If a meal from a local eating establishment is 
not an option offered by the Town, eligible employees will be paid for meals 
reimbursed for meals (with the submission of a receipt) for the performance of work 
while on working overtime work, not more than in an amount of up to the following: 

 
  Breakfast $10.00 



 

 7 

  Lunch $15.00 
  Supper $20.00 
 

Employees called in prior to 6:00 a.m. shall receive be eligible for the breakfast meal 
allowance, and those working an extended work day after 6:00 p.m. shall be provided 
eligible for the supper meal allowance.  In order to qualify for a paid meal period the 
applicable meal allowance, an employee must be employed working during the times 
referred to above.  Additionally, the meal must be purchased on the day of the actual 
event giving rise to the meal allowance. 

 
B. Town Hall employees attending seminars, etc. will be paid for meals eligible for a meal 

allowance while attending the specific function, not more than in an amount of up to 
the following: 

 
  Lunch $9.00 $15.00 

  Supper $20.00 
 

If a function or seminar includes the cost of meals, the Town will pay for the cost of the 
function and the meal allowance shall not apply. 

 
Section 11. A Recording Clerk performing work after 6:00 p.m. shall be paid one and one-half 
(1½) times his or her regular hourly rate of pay or the amount of forty dollars ($40.00), whichever 
is greater. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
SENIORITY 

 
Section 1.  The purpose of seniority is to provide a declared policy of right of preference as to 
layoffs, transfers, vacations, promotions and other working conditions. 
 
Section 2.  For the purposes of this Agreement, seniority shall be based on the employee’s total 
length of continuous service as a regular, full-time employee of the Town and shall be determined 
from the date such employee was officially appointed as a regular full-time employee. 
 
Section 3.  All new employees covered by this Agreement shall serve a probationary period of six 
(6) months.  Determination of the employee’s level of performance, whether satisfactory or not, is 
at the sole discretion of the Chief Administrative Officer Town Manager, or his designated 
representative, during this period.  During the probationary period, the employee shall be on 
probation and may be discharged or disciplined for any reason whatsoever, without right of appeal.  
In such event, neither the Union nor the employee shall have recourse to the grievance and 
arbitration provisions of this Agreement.  Upon successful completion of the employee’s 
probationary period his seniority shall date back to the date of his original employment as an 
employee of the Town.  If the probationary period is extended for any reason, written notice thereof 
shall be given to the Union. 
 



 

 8 

Section 4.  An employee’s earned seniority shall not be broken because of absence due to illness, 
vacations, authorized leave, or any call to military service for the duration. 
 
Section 5.  An employee’s seniority in the unit will be broken and cease when he: 
 
 A. Quits 
 B. Retires 
 C. Is discharged for just cause 
 D. Obtains a leave of absence by false or misleading statements 
 E. Is absent from work for three (3) consecutive days without giving notice to his 

supervisor 
 F. Exceeds a leave of absence without satisfactory explanation to the Town 
 G. Fails to report to work within fourteen (14) calendar days after written notice of 

recall 
 H. Accepts employment elsewhere while on leave of absence 
 I. Is laid off for a consecutive period equal to his seniority at the time of such layoff, 

but in no event to exceed eighteen (18) months. 
 
Section 6.  The Town shall prepare a list of full-time employees, showing their seniority in length 
of service with the Town and deliver the same to the Union at its request but in no event more 
often than once per fiscal year. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
LAYOFFS AND RECALLS 

 
Section 1.  When a personnel reduction, in any classification, is required for whatever reason, 
employees shall be laid off in the inverse order of length of service as defined in Article VII above. 
 
Section 2. 
 
 A. Layoffs within classification shall be made by seniority and take effect as follows: 
 
  1. Temporary and/or seasonal employees; 
  2. Probationary employees; 
  3. Employees working twenty (20) hours but less than forty (40) hours in the 

Public Works Group and thirty-five (35) hours in the Town Hall Group; 
  4. Regular, full-time employees; 
  5. An employee scheduled for layoff may, if he so desires, replace an 

employee with less seniority in an equal or lower job classification, 
provided the employee qualifies for the position without retraining and has 
greater job seniority than the employee he replaces.  Such employee’s base 
rate in the lower classification shall be that rate, which is nearest to, but does 
not exceed, his previous base rate and, in no case shall the regular base rate 
of pay exceed the maximum base rate of the classification. 

 



 

 9 

 B. Laid off employees, within classifications with the most seniority shall be rehired 
first, and no employee shall be hired in these classifications until all laid off 
employees in those classifications have been given the opportunity to return to work 
within fourteen (14) calendar days of written notification.  Such written notice shall 
be deemed to have been given when the notice has been sent by certified mail to 
the employee’s last known address.  Failure to respond in writing to a notice of an 
opening within fourteen (14) calendar days from the delivery of said notice shall be 
deemed a refusal to accept re-employment.  If an employee has not been recalled 
within a period of two (2) years, the Town will drop their name from the call list 
and have no further obligation under this section to rehire said employee. 

 
Section 3.  Regular employees subject to layoff shall be notified in writing, two (2) calendar weeks 
prior to the effective date, but, in an emergency, not less than one (1) calendar week.  In the event 
that a layoff is pending or proposed, the Town shall notify the Union as soon as practical, but in 
no event less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time said layoff is to be effective. 
 
Section 4.  Members of the unit whose names are on the recall list shall be notified of opportunities 
for temporary, part-time or seasonal positions.  No new employees shall be hired for a temporary, 
part-time or seasonal position until all employees on the recall list have had an opportunity to 
decline.  Notification of opportunities for such employment shall not constitute recall, and no 
employee shall forfeit recall, and no employee shall forfeit recall rights by declining such 
employment. 
 
Section 5.  Employees reinstated, before the expiration of eighteen (18) months of their layoff, 
shall regain their seniority and provided, however, that the period of separation will not count 
toward seniority. 

 
ARTICLE IX 
UNIFORMS 

 
Section 1.  Upon submission of a receipt for the purchases, the Town shall reimburse annually, 
all regular full-time employees who are normally required to wear a uniform, the actual cost of the 
required uniform, to include a winter jacket, a light weight jacket, pants and shirts up to a maximum 
of three hundred seventy-five dollars ($375.00) per contract year, or in the case of a mechanic up 
to a maximum of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per contract year to also include including the 
cost of coveralls, if purchased, as if coveralls or replacement coveralls are necessary.  The 
color and style of such uniforms shall be agreed to by the Town and Union. The Town may 
designate a single source vendor to purchase the clothing from, with mutual agreement by the 
Town and Union giving due consideration to price and quality.  Neither party’s agreement will be 
unreasonably withheld.  Cleaning of the clothing, except the head mechanic and mechanic’s 
coveralls cited above, shall be the responsibility of the employee.  In the event that the designated 
vendor cannot supply article necessary, employee may purchase same and be reimbursed by the 
Town with the prior approval of the Department Head. 
 
Section 2.  The Town shall reimburse each employee, who is required by law and regulations to 
wear safety shoes, for the purchase of said safety shoes up to a maximum of two hundred dollars 



 

 10 

($200.00) in each contract year two hundred twenty-five dollars ($225.00) in each contract 
year upon submission of a receipt for the purchase.  Safety shoes are defined as shoes with steel 
toes and steel shank or may be constructed of composite material as approved by the American 
National Standards Institute (ANSI). 
 
Section 3.  Unless otherwise authorized by the Public Works Director, employees shall be required 
to wear all items of the prescribed working uniform.  If any employee fails to wear such uniform 
items as made available and prescribed by the Town, he shall be subject to the disciplinary 
procedure provided in Article XX. 
 

ARTICLE X 
SAFETY AND HEALTH 

 
Section 1.  Both parties to this Agreement hold themselves responsible for mutual cooperative 
enforcement of safety rules and regulations. 
 
Section 2.  The Town shall, at its sole cost and expense, furnish to all regular full-time employees 
who are normally required to wear same, foul-weather gear, i.e., raincoats, rain hats, boots, dry 
and wet weather gloves, etc., and for their care as necessary. 
 
Section 3.  The Town shall furnish safety helmets, safety glasses or goggles and facemasks to 
employees working in hazardous locations, and equipment as prescribed by the Public Works 
Director.  If such equipment has been issued and the employee fails to wear such equipment, he 
shall be subject to the disciplinary procedure provided in Article XX. 
 
Section 4.  The Town shall replace such foul-weather gear and safety equipment as found 
necessary upon inspection, and as approved by the Public Works Director.  Such replacement shall 
be at the Town’s expense, except that gear or equipment damaged or lost through the employee’s 
negligence or wrongdoing shall be replaced at the employee’s expense. 
 
Section 5.  If an operator of mechanical equipment reasonably believes that the equipment that he is 
operating, or about to operate, he/she should document the defect on the Daily Driver Inspection 
Report and provide a copy of the inspection report to the chief mechanic on duty.  The chief mechanic 
shall review the report and inspect the vehicle and determine if it is safe to return to service.     No 
employee may operate equipment that he or she reasonably believes to be unsafe. 
 
Section 6.  When, in the judgment and sole discretion of the Public Works Director or his 
designated foreman, there is a need to have two (2) employees per truck during emergency winter 
conditions, two (2) such employees shall be used in said truck whenever possible.  This Section 6 
shall not be construed as establishing a firm policy with respect to having two (2) employees per 
truck during emergency winter conditions. 
 
Section 7.  The Town agrees to abide by and follow all State and federal statutes and regulations 
with respect to providing safe, healthy and sanitary conditions for all employees in the unit. 
 



 

 11 

ARTICLE XI 
VACATIONS 

 
Section 1.  Regular, full-time employees shall be eligible for annual vacation leave paid at (i) 
thirty-five (35) hours times a Town Hall Group employee’s straight time hourly rate at said 
employee’s normal weekly salary and (ii) forty (40) hours times a Public Works Group employee’s 
straight time hourly rate at said employee’s normal weekly salary, exclusive of overtime for each 
week, in accordance with the following schedule: 
 
 Length of Continuous Service   Vacation Leave Earned 
     
  Less than one (1) year         zero (0) days* 
 Upon completion of one (1) year   ten (10) days 
 Upon completion of five (5) years   fifteen (15) days 
 Upon completion of ten (10) years   twenty (20) days 
 Upon completion of fifteen (15) years  twenty-five (25) days 

*After six (6) months, an employee in good standing may be 
permitted to take five (5) days of vacation from the ten (10) days 
he/she will earn upon the completion of one (1) year of service. 

Years of service for determining vacation eligibility hereunder shall be based upon full years of 
employment and the employee’s anniversary date of employment shall be used. 
 
Section 2.  Requests for vacation time shall be made in advance and shall be granted where 
practicable to employees in accordance with seniority rights within classification.  Vacation 
requests made without notice will be considered in light of operating needs and vacation schedules.  
There will be no mass shutdown for vacation purposes.  The minimum vacation period that may 
be taken at any time is two hour increments.  The minimum amount of vacation time that 
may be used is two (2) hours.   
 
Section 3.  Employees shall be allowed to accumulate unused vacation leave from year to year up 
to a maximum of twenty-five (25) vacation days.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set 
forth in this Section 3, any employee who has accumulated in excess of twenty-five (25) vacation 
days as of July 1, 1990 shall be allowed to maintain said accumulated vacation time but it shall not 
be increased thereafter.  The Town has the option to purchase excess accumulated vacation time 
from employees who have maintained same under this Section. 
 
Section 4.  When a holiday occurs during a regular vacation, the employee shall be paid for the 
holiday and no deduction shall be made from his/her vacation time.  
 
Section 5.  An employee who is separated, discharged or retired from Town service shall be paid 
the total of his vacation leave credited prior to the date of such separation, provided, however, for 
purposes of such payout, vacation time provided during the employee’s last year of employment 
shall be prorated from his/her anniversary date through his/her last day of actual employment with 
the Town.  Retiring employees may not utilize vacation time to extend the retirement date.  
Payment for such days shall be in two (2) payments; the first during the then current fiscal year, 
and the second, one (1) year after the first payment. 



 

 12 

 
Section 6.  In the event of the death of an employee, the employee’s accrued vacation time shall 
be paid to the employee’s estate, up to the maximum number of hours permitted, provided, 
however, for purposes of such payout, vacation time provided during the employee’s last year of 
employment shall be prorated from his/her anniversary date through the date of death. 
 

ARTICLE XII 
SICK LEAVE 

 
Section 1.  Authorized sick leave shall be considered to be absent from duty, with pay, for the 
following reasons: 
 
 A. Personal illness, physical quarantine, physical incapacity, or non-compensable 

bodily injury, except where directly traceable to employment by an employer other 
than the Town. 

 
 B. When the employee is required to undergo medical, optical, or dental treatments, 

only when this cannot be accomplished on off duty hours, and provided the Chief 
Administrative Officer Town Manager is notified at least one (1) day in advance 
of the day on which the absence is to occur. 

 
 C. When the serious illness, as defined under the Federal Family & Medical Leave 

Act, of a member of the employee’s immediate family requires his personal 
attendance, when supported by a doctor’s certificate.  

 
Section 2.  The Town may require proof of illness for any authorized sick leave, provided, sick leave 
in excess of three (3) consecutive days must be accompanied by a note from the employee’s 
treating physician for the illness causing the employee’s absence from work.   
 
Additionally, in the event that an employee either demonstrates a pattern of absenteeism or an 
abuse of sick leave, the Town may require a note from the employee’s treating physician 
addressing the employee’s absences.   
 
In the judgment of the Chief Administrative Officer Town Manager, proof of sick leave may 
include a doctor’s certificate, or other proof of illness or injury from the employee’s treating physician 
for the illness that caused the absence, indicating the nature and duration of the illness.  Proof of illness 
or injury will not normally be required for sick leave of less than four (4) consecutive full work days 
or less than eight (8) full work days per rolling twelve (12) month period.  If the frequency rate rises 
to eight (8) full work days, a doctor’s certificate from the physician treating the employee for the 
illness that caused the absence may be required for all illnesses unless waived by the Chief 
Administrative Officer Town Manager.  The Town may investigate and require proof of illness 
or injury for any absence for which sick leave is requested. 
 
Section 3.  In order to have an absence counted as sick leave, the employee, on the first day of 
absence due to illness or injury, shall notify either the employee’s department head or his 
designated representative, of his illness or injury at least thirty (30) minutes subsequent to his 



 

 13 

normal time for reporting to work, except where sufficiently limiting circumstances exist, in which 
case he shall report as soon as practicable. 
 
Section 4.  To the extent allowed by the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable laws, 
the Town reserves the right to require any employee to submit to a physical examination by a doctor 
of the Town's choice, the cost of the physical examination to be at the Town's expense. 
 
Section 5.  Sick leave shall be earned by each regular, full-time employee at the rate of one and 
one-fourth (1¼) working days for each complete calendar month of continuous service, the total 
of which shall not exceed fifteen (15) sick leave days in any twelve (12) months.  Sick leave earned 
in any month of service shall be available during any subsequent month. 
 
Section 6.  The following shall apply to sick leave accumulation: 
 
 A. All unused sick leave of any regular, full-time employee during continuous 

employment may be accumulated up to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) 
days. 

 
 B. The amount of each employee’s accumulated sick leave on the day prior to the 

effective date of this Agreement shall be credited toward his accumulated sick leave 
under this Agreement. 

 
 C. No credit toward accumulated sick leave shall be granted for time worked in excess 

of his normal workweek. 
 
 D. Sick leave shall continue to accumulate during authorized leaves of absence with 

pay. 
 
Section 7.  The following shall apply to sick leave redemption: 
 
 A. An employee who has successfully completed the probationary period, upon 

resignation without prejudice, shall receive, on the basis of his base rate of pay, 
compensation for fifty percent (50%) of his unused, accumulated sick leave, as 
severance pay, up to ninety (90) days maximum.  Payment for such days shall be 
in two (2) payments; the first during the then current fiscal year, and the second, 
one (1) year after the first payment.   

 
 B. An employee who is discharged, or resigns with prejudice, shall receive no 

compensation for any of his unused, accumulated sick leave. 
 
 C. Upon retirement or death of a regular, full-time employee, eighty percent (80%) of 

his unused, accrued sick leave shall be remitted on the basis of his current base rate 
of pay to the employee, or his estate, up to a maximum of ninety (90) days. Payment 
for such days upon retirement shall be in two (2) payments; the first during the then 
current fiscal year, and the second, one (1) year after the first payment.  Payment 



 

 14 

for such days upon death, will be paid to the employee’s estate in one (1) lump sum 
during the then current fiscal year.     

 
 D. An employee, who is subject to a layoff without prejudice, may elect to receive, on 

the basis of his base rate of pay, compensation for fifty percent (50%) of his unused, 
accumulated sick leave, as severance pay, up to ninety (90) days maximum.  If an 
employee elects the above, he will forfeit all sick leave on the books if recalled at 
a later date regardless of his seniority.  An employee must exercise this option 
before his seniority rights have expired under Article VIII. 

 
Section 8.  Sick leave shall be used in at least two (2) hour increments.  The minimum amount 
of sick time that may be used is one-half (1/2) hour with prior written approval of the Town 
Manager or his/her designee to be used, if possible, at the beginning or the end of the 
employee’s work shift.  
 

ARTICLE XIII 
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

 
Section 1.  Each employee shall come under the terms of the Workers’ Compensation Act for 
injuries which occur while the employee is engaged in the performance of his duties for the Town.  
Employees are covered by Workers’ Compensation Insurance and are paid stated amounts due to 
injuries received on duty.  The Town, in case of a compensable injury incurred in the line of duty, 
shall supplement the payments of the insurance company so the employee will receive his full base 
rate of pay during his absence (less applicable state and federal withholdings) while the employee 
is out of work and receiving temporary, total disability benefits, for a period not to exceed six (6) 
calendar months. 
 
In the event that an employee is out of work and is temporary, partially disabled and light duty 
work is available for such employee (as determined by the Town); he/she shall work the light duty 
assignment (provided such light duty work is within his/her light duty restrictions) and not be 
eligible for the supplemental benefit set forth herein. 
 
In the event that an employee is out of work and is temporary, partially disabled and no light duty 
work is available within his/her light duty restrictions  (as determined by the Town), he/she shall 
be eligible for the supplemental benefit set forth herein. 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
MEDICAL CARE INSURANCE 

 
Section 1.  The Town will provide the following insurance coverage for the period from July 1, 
2021 through June 30, 2024 for all regular, full-time employees and their dependents: 
 

1. Except as set forth under Section 7 below, For the period from July 1, 2018 
through June 30, 2021, the following insurance plan will be offered: 
 



 

 15 

The Connecticut State Partnership Plan (as administered by United HealthCare) 
(health, dental and vision) and the prescription drug plan offered through the 
Connecticut State Partnership Plan (as administered by CVS Caremark) with the 
benefits outlined in the attached (See Appendix B, Schedule A Labeled 
“Partnership2.0_benefitsummary_Medical), provided.  If the plan design 
changes during the period of time that the Town is a participating member, the new 
plan design will be adopted).  

 
2. Within eighteen (18) months of joining the plan, all employees and dependents 

must meet the minimum requirements of the Connecticut State Partnership’s Health 
Enhancement Program (“HEP”), as outlined in the attached (See Appendix B, 
Schedule C Labeled “Partnership2.0_benefitsummary_HEP”). 
 

3. As set forth in the Connecticut State Partnership Plan, employees who do not meet 
the minimum HEP requirements will be subject to deductibles of three hundred 
fifty dollars ($350.00) for individual or one thousand four hundred dollars 
($1,400.00) for family coverage, as well as an additional one hundred dollars 
($100.00) in premium payments per calendar month. 

 
4. The carrier network for the plan will be the Oxford Freedom network for 

providers in Connecticut, New York and New Jersey, and the United 
HealthCare Choice Plus network for carriers in all other states.  The carrier 
network for the plan will be the carrier selected by the State. 
 

5. Employees will pay the following premium share contributions in lieu of the 
premium share contributions set forth under Article X of the collective bargaining 
agreement between the parties: 

 
July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019:  10% 
July 1, 2019 – June 30, 2020:  12.5%   
July 1, 2020 – June 30, 2021:  14% 
July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022:  14% 
July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023:  14%   
July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024:  15%   
  
Such premium share contribution shall be based on the cost of the plan and fees 
incurred by the Town related to joining and remaining in the Connecticut 
Partnership Plan.   

 
6. In the event that the State imposes additional fees or increases the Town’s cost of 

the premium at the end of the 2018-2019, 2019-2020 or 2020-2021 any contract 
years, employees shall pay a percentage of such increase(s) based upon the 
employee’s premium share contribution as set forth above.  The additional fees 
and/or increases in the premium, if any, will be paid as part of the employee’s 
premium share contribution during the term of the contract year.   

 



 

 16 

7. The parties agree to reopen this Agreement prior to July 1, 2020 for the limited 
purpose of negotiating health insurance benefits, if the Town decides to 
discontinue participating in the State Partnership Plan.  If the Town decides 
to discontinue participating in the State Partnership Plan during the term of 
this Agreement or upon expiration of this Agreement, the co-pays, deductibles, 
co-insurance maximums, out of pocket maximums and prescription costs 
under the State Partnership Plan shall not be considered the baseline for 
negotiating subsequent plan(s).  Under such circumstances, the parties will 
meet to negotiate a substitute health insurance plan.    

 
Group Term Life Insurance.  Effective July 1, 1989 Group Term Life Insurance shall be one (1) 
times the annual salary rounded to the highest one thousand dollars ($1,000.00).  Employees who 
retire after July 1, 1990 shall be provided with a two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) 
life insurance policy. 
 
Section 2.  An employee who elects not to accept the health insurance benefits provided in Section 
1 above, shall be remunerated in the amount of five hundred dollars ($500.00) at the end of each 
quarter of the year, effective with the quarter beginning July 1, 2006; provided, however, said 
employee shall furnish to the Town evidence satisfactory to the Town that said employee carries, 
individually or through members of his immediate family, insurance coverage similar to or better 
than that offered by the Town in this Article.  Such person choosing this option shall not be able 
to change his decision prior to the end of each quarter, and the Town shall be relieved of its 
responsibility to provide such coverage during the previous quarter.  If an employee is hired for 
a bargaining unit position covered by this Agreement on or after July 1, 2021, the waiver 
language set forth herein shall not apply to the employee if he/she is eligible for coverage 
under any health insurance plan offered by the Town.  Life insurance, however, shall continue 
to be provided such employee. 
 
Section 3.  The Town reserves the right to change insurance carriers cited in Section 1 as long as 
the benefits are equivalent to, or better than, those offered above as determined on an overall plan 
benefit basis, with the consent of the Union which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 

ARTICLE XV 
RETIREMENT 

 
Section 1.  Except as set forth in Section 2, herein, the Town’s present and existing retirement plan 
(the “Retirement Plan”) shall remain in full force and effect unless modified by mutual agreement 
and approved by the Town’s legislative body and the Union, provided, however, effective July 
1, 2018, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be six percent (6.0%).  
Effective July 1, 2019, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be six and 
one-half percent (6.5%).  Effective July 1, 2020, the eligible employee’s contribution toward 
such plan shall be six and one-half percent (6.5%).  Effective July 1, 2021, the eligible 
employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be seven and one-half percent (7.5%).  
Effective July 1, 2022, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be eight 
percent (8.0%).   
 



 

 17 

Section 2.  A separate pension plan agreement effective January 1, 2008 and separately negotiated 
shall continue in effect until amended by mutual agreement of both parties provided, however, 
effective July 1, 2018, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be six 
percent (6.0%).  Effective July 1, 2019, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan 
shall be six and one-half percent (6.5%).  Effective July 1, 2020, the eligible employee’s 
contribution toward such plan shall be six and one-half percent (6.5%).  Effective July 1, 
2021, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be seven and one-half 
percent (7.5%).  Effective July 1, 2022, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan 
shall be eight percent (8.0%).   
 
Employees hired on or after July 1, 2015, shall not be eligible for the plans set forth herein.  Such 
employees shall be eligible for a 401A defined contribution plan offered by the Town in 
accordance with the terms of the plan.     
 
“Average Annual Earnings” means if the Participant retires from employment with the Town on 
or after his Normal Retirement Date, or retires or otherwise terminates employment prior to his 
Normal Retirement Date, his highest average annual earnings received for the last sixty (60) 
months immediately preceding the date the Participant’s employment terminates. 
 
Section 3.  The Town will implement a pre-tax wage deduction plan in accordance with applicable 
federal and State laws as it applies to health and retirement co-pays. 
 

ARTICLE XVI 
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 
Section 1.  The purpose of the grievance procedure shall be to settle employee grievances at as 
low an administrative level as possible and practicable, so as to ensure efficiency and employee 
morale. 
 
Section 2.  A grievance for the purpose of this procedure shall be considered to be a written 
complaint, alleging a specific violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of at least one (1) 
provision of this Agreement, filed by a grievant(s), who is a member of the bargaining unit making a 
claim that a grievance has occurred to his or her detriment. 
 
Section 3.  The grievance procedure under this Agreement shall be as follows: 

 
 Step 1 The grievant shall, within ten (10) calendar days of occurrence of same, reduce the 

grievance to writing and submit it to the immediate Supervisor in the Department 
in which the grievance occurred.  The immediate Supervisor shall meet with the 
grievant within five (5) working days of receipt of such grievance and use his/her 
best efforts to settle the dispute and shall issue a written decision to said party within 
five (5) working days of such meeting. 

 
 Step 2 If said grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the immediate 

Supervisor and elects further processing, they may, within ten (10) working days, 
submit the grievance to the Chief Administrative Officer Town Manager who 



 

 18 

shall meet with the grievant within five (5) working days of receipt of such 
grievance and use his best efforts to settle the dispute.  The Chief Administrative 
Officer Town Manager’s decision shall be submitted in writing to said party 
within five (5) calendar days of such meeting. 

 
 Step 3 If said grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the Chief 

Administrative Officer Town Manager and elects further processing, the Union 
may, within fifteen (15) calendar days, submit the grievance to the Connecticut 
State Board of Mediation and Arbitration.  Notice of intention to proceed to 
arbitration must be given to the Chief Administrative Officer Town Manager.  
The arbitrator or arbitrators shall be limited to the express terms of the Agreement 
and shall not have the power to modify, amend or delete any terms or provisions of 
the Agreement. 

 
 Step 4 Neither party waives its or his right to legal appeal under the Connecticut General 

Statutes. 
 
Section 4.  Mediation services may be used at any step of the grievance procedure. 
 
Section 5.  If either of the parties related to the grievance process desires to meet for the purposes 
of oral discussion, a meeting shall be requested and if satisfactory to the other party, a meeting 
shall be promptly scheduled.  Such procedure shall not extend the time limitations above. 
 
Section 6.  The employee, the Union, or the Town shall have the right, at his or its own expense, 
of choice of representation whenever representation is desired.  While the employee has the right 
to the choice of representation, he or she may have only one spokesperson at any one step of the 
grievance procedure or at arbitration. 
 
Section 7.  Disciplinary action other than dismissal and/or suspension, when appealed through the 
grievance procedure shall be effective with the decision of the State Board of Mediation and 
Arbitration. 
 
Section 8.  The parties will use the State Board of Arbitration and Mediation’s tripartite panel 
arbitration.  The prevailing party in said grievance procedure shall be reimbursed for his or its 
filing fee by the losing party.  If the grievance is partially sustained, the fee will be split by both 
parties.  The parties may by mutual agreement use expedited arbitration, referenced in earlier 
agreements by these parties as single public member arbitration.  The Town shall have the option 
to select AAA as long as the Town pays one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the arbitration 
and the filing fee. 
 

ARTICLE XVII 
NO STRIKE 

 
During the term of this Agreement, the Union agrees that there shall be no authorized or sanctioned 
cessation, retarding, or stoppage of work, picketing, sympathy strikes, work to rule action, or other 
interference, because of any dispute that may result from interpretations of this Agreement or for any 



 

 19 

cause whatsoever.  The failure or refusal on the part of any employee to comply with this provision 
shall be cause for immediate discipline, including discharge. 
 

ARTICLE XVIII 
PROMOTIONS AND NEW POSITIONS 

 
Section 1.  When new jobs are created or exist, the Town shall post the position for ten (10) working 
days and each employee within the unit who is interested shall have the opportunity to apply for said 
opening.   
 
When a vacancy exists and the Town, in its’ discretion, decides to fill the vacant position, the Town 
shall post the position for ten (10) working days and each employee within the unit who is interested 
shall have the opportunity to apply for said opening. 
 
Section 2.  When a vacancy exists (and the Town decides to fill the vacancy) or a new position is 
created, applicants will receive preference on the basis of their qualifications.  Where the 
qualifications of two or more applicants are equal, the internal applicant with the greatest seniority 
will be given preference.   The candidate will be placed on a probationary period per Article VII of 
this agreement.  If the probation is not satisfactorily completed, then the candidate will be returned to 
his or her original position, if it exists.  Otherwise the candidate will have all rights he or she would 
otherwise have under the reduction in force provisions of this agreement. 
 

ARTICLE XIX 
LONGEVITY 

 
Section 1.  Longevity pay, as noted in this Article, will be paid annually after the employee 
meets the service requirement as follows: 
      
    5 years   $200.00 
  10 years   $350.00 
 15 years $500.00 
 20 years $650.00 
 25 years $800.00 
 30 years $950.00 
 35 years                             $1,100.00 
 
Annual longevity payments shall be made in full upon the anniversary date of employment.  Only 
employees employed in the bargaining unit as of June 11, 2013 shall be eligible for longevity 
payments. 
 

ARTICLE XX 
DISCIPLINE 

 
Section 1.  No employee shall be suspended or discharged without good and sufficient cause.  All 
suspensions and discharges shall be preceded by a notice in writing with the reasons for said 
suspension or discharge stated therein.  A copy of such notice must be given to the employee at 



 

 20 

the time of the suspension or discharge.  The Union President shall be notified when an employee 
is disciplined or discharged. 
 
Section 2.  Disciplinary actions shall normally follow this order: 
 
 A. Verbal warning with notation or order in writing; 
 B. Written warning; 
 C. Suspension without pay; 
 D. Discharge. 
 
Section 3.  The provisions of the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (Act) shall apply to 
employees, if the employee’s meets the eligibility requirements set forth in the Act, based on a 
rolling year, as defined in the Act, as amended.   

 
ARTICLE XXI 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Section 1.  The Town shall provide bulletin board space for the Union located in the designated 
areas for the posting of notices concerning Union business and activity. 
 
Section 2.  The Town shall provide a copy of this Agreement to each employee presently employed 
and to each new employee upon employment and five (5) copies to the National Union. 
 
Section 3.  The provisions of the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (Act) shall apply to 
employees, if the employee meets the eligibility requirements set forth in the Act, based on a 
rolling year, as defined in the Act, as amended.   
 
Section 4.  The Town will provide jury leave for regular, full-time employees ordered to serve on 
jury duty, precluding their being available for work.  In such cases, the employee shall receive that 
portion of his regular pay, which will, together with jury pay, equal his total salary for the same 
pay period.  The employee shall notify his immediate supervisor of the scheduled jury duty at least 
forty-eight (48) hours in advance, except where sufficiently limiting circumstances exist.  An 
employee reporting for jury duty and who is dismissed shall return to work so long as one half a 
work day or more remains to be worked. 
 
Section 5.  When the context so requires, the masculine gender shall include the feminine and the 
feminine shall include the masculine, and the singular shall include the plural and the plural the 
singular. 
 
Section 6.  During the term of this Agreement, the Town shall furnish the Union with an up to date 
list of employees.  When a new employee is hired, the Town shall notify the Union and furnish the 
Union with the name, date of employment, classification and the rate of pay of the new employee.  
When the employment of an employee terminates, the Town shall notify the Union and furnish the 
name and date of termination of the employee. 
 



 

 21 

Section 7.  Each employee may review his personnel file with the Chief Administrative Officer 
Town Manager by appointment.  Copies of material placed in the employee’s file other than a 
record keeping shall be provided to an employee.  Should an employee wish to obtain a complete 
copy of his personnel file, such copy will be provided upon written request. 
 
Section 8.  When an employee is required by the Town to use his/her own motor vehicle to perform 
Town business, he/she shall be reimbursed at the IRS rates. 
 
Section 9.  The Town agrees that the regular payday is on Thursday.  Paychecks will be released 
to employees after 12:00 noon on Thursday.  In the event a holiday falls on Thursday, employees 
shall be paid on Wednesday.  Any change in this schedule shall only be made upon mutual 
agreement between the Town and the Union.  Paychecks will be issued on a biweekly schedule.  
Direct deposit of paychecks shall be required.  
 
Section 10.  All Personnel Rules and Regulations that are the property of the Town shall be 
available to all bargaining unit employees.  Any future changes that affect those working 
conditions subject to the Municipal Employee Relations Act (“MERA”), as amended, shall be 
negotiated with the Union. 
 
Section 11.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent any employee from holding outside 
employment, other than Town work, as long as such employment does not conflict with the 
employee’s duties as a Town employee subject to the approval by the Town which will not be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 
Section 12.  Nothing in this Agreement shall require any employee to be a resident of the Town 
of East Hampton. 
 
Section 13.  Copies of individual job descriptions will be provided to the Union. 
 
Section 14. Past practices concerning subjects that would require bargaining under the Municipal 
Employees Relations Act (“MERA”) presently enjoyed by the Bargaining Unit are protected by 
this Agreement. 
 
Section 15.  The Town shall provide for reimbursement for all tuition and books needed by an 
employee attending job related courses, approved by the Plant Superintendent and Public Utilities 
Administrator, and with documentation of a C or better grade (or a “pass” in a “pass/fail” course) 
once they have completed one year of service.  Reimbursement of all tuition, books, and other 
costs are up to a maximum of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) per calendar year for undergraduate 
or work related courses and up to one thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500.00) per calendar year 
for graduate-level courses.  Seminars and conferences are to be approved by supervisor and the 
Town Manager. Any books purchased will remain the property of the Town. 
 
Section 16.  The Town shall reimburse employees required by the Town to possess a CDL the 
difference between the cost of a regular driver’s license and the CDL.  Amounts for trailer 
endorsements required by the Town shall also be reimbursed by the Town to the employee.  
 



 

 22 

Section 17. If any illness or injury results in a disability that has prevented the employee from 
performing the essential functions of the position (with or without a reasonable accommodation) 
for a period of twelve (12) months or longer, the Town shall have the right to retire or discharge 
the employee.   
 
Section 18. The parties agree that the lining of Town fields by unauthorized individuals shall 
not be considered subcontracting of bargaining unit work.  
 
Section 19. Effective July 1, 2018, Upon submission of a paid invoice/receipt, the Town will 
reimburse bargaining unit employees for DOT physicals if the employee’s job requires such a 
physical.   
 
Such reimbursement shall be no greater than one hundred thirty dollars ($130.00) annually.  In the 
event that the Town designates a physician to conduct DOT physicals, the employee shall be 
required to use the designated physician in order to receive the aforementioned reimbursement.      
 
Section 20. Upon the retirement of the Library Acquisition Manager employed by the 
Town in such position as of July 1, 2018, the Town may expand the duties and responsibilities 
of the position to include technical services and other additional duties the Town deems 
necessary for the position, provided, the parties agree to meet to negotiate over the impact 
of such additional duties and responsibilities, if any.    
 

ARTICLE XXII 
UNION ACTIVITIES LEAVE 

 
Section 1. The three (3) members of the Union Negotiating Committee shall be granted leave 
from duty with full pay for all meetings between the Town and the Union for the purpose of 
negotiating the terms of Agreement when such meetings take place at a time during which such 
members are scheduled to be on duty. 
 
Section 2. One (1) member of the Union Grievance Committee, in addition to the employee 
or employees who filed the grievance, shall be granted leave from duty with full pay for all 
meetings between the Town and Union for the purpose of processing grievances through 
arbitration when such meetings take place at a time during which such members are scheduled to 
be on duty. 
 
Section 3. Members of the Union selected to serve as authorized representatives of the 
Union shall be certified in writing to the employer.  Each representative will be expected to 
perform his duties on his own time.  However, it is recognized that from time to time it will be 
necessary for Union activities to be carried out during working time, for example, investigation 
and processing of complaints and disputes, and attendance at executive board and general meetings 
with a maximum fiscal year allowance of two and one-half (2½) working days.  It is further 
recognized that there are reasonable limited deviations from this letter that do not require 
substantial periods of time.  Where such activities are necessary or reasonable to be performed 
during working hours, they may be done without loss of pay to the representative involved.  All 
Union activity will be reported on the appropriate time reporting form.  Prior to engaging in Union 



 

 23 

activities during work time, the employee shall give sufficient notice to the employer (at least three 
(3) days except in unexpected circumstances). 
 

ARTICLE XXIII 
SEVERABILITY 

 
This Agreement contains the full and complete agreement between the Town and the Union on all 
negotiable issues, and neither party shall be required during the term thereof to negotiate upon any 
issue, whether it is covered or not covered in this Agreement.  It is the understanding of the parties 
to this contract that each provision of this Agreement and any schedules or addenda hereto is 
severable and distinct from any other provision, schedule or addenda hereof and that the 
unenforceability or invalidity of any one of said provisions, schedules or addenda shall not affect 
the remainder of this Agreement and this Agreement shall be read and construed as if said 
unenforceable or invalid portion has never been included herein. 
 

ARTICLE XXIV 
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 

 
Unless expressly limited by a specific section of this Agreement, the rights, powers and authority 
held by the Town of East Hampton, including any of its boards, agencies, departments or 
commissions pursuant to any Town Charter, general or special acts of the legislature, Town 
ordinance, regulation or other type of lawful provision over matters involving Town employees, 
including but not limited to full control over the policies, practices, procedures and regulations 
with respect to employees of the Town covered by this Agreement, shall remain vested solely and 
exclusively in the Town of East Hampton. 
 

ARTICLE XXV 
JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 
Section 1.  When the Town creates a new classification or changes an existing job other than a 
minor change, the Town and the Union shall negotiate appropriate pay rates for such new or 
changed classification, and said classification and pay rates shall become effective upon agreement 
through negotiations. 
 
Section 2.  All members of the various classifications listed in the wage schedules shall be paid at 
a rate in accordance with the amount of services they have in that particular classification except 
that any member advanced or promoted to a higher classification shall be paid the next higher rate 
of pay, not less than one full step, over which he was receiving at the lower classification. 
 
Section 3.  When an employee is assigned, in writing, by the Town Manager or his/her 
designee, and satisfactorily performing the job duties of to another job classification for more 
than thirty (30) consecutive work days (due to either another employees absence from work or 
the position is vacant), and the employee satisfactorily performs all of the essential duties of 
the position, the employee shall be paid at his/her the next higher pay grade rate in his/her pay 
grade for all such time worked in excess of thirty (30) consecutive work days at such in the 
classification.  If such the work assigned, in writing, by the Town Manager or his/her designee, 



 

 24 

is performed for more than ninety (90) consecutive work days, the individual employee may 
request, in writing to the Town Manager, a permanent upgrading or “reclassification."  All such 
requests shall be considered on the basis of job evaluation and recommendation by the department 
head to the Chief Administrative Officer Town Manager.  The Chief Administrative Officer 
Town Manager shall make the final determination regarding reclassification.  A written response 
to all requests for reclassification under the above noted circumstances shall be issued within sixty 
(60) calendar days of the filing date of such the request. 

 
Section 4.  When an employee is assigned, in writing, by the Town Manager or his/her 
designee, and satisfactorily performs all the duties of a non-bargaining unit supervisor position 
for more than thirty (30) consecutive work days, he/she shall receive additional compensation of 
one dollar ($1.00) per hour.  Effective July 1, 2022, the additional compensation set forth 
herein shall be increased to one dollar and twenty-five cents ($1.25) per hour. 
 

ARTICLE XXVI 
DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

 
The effective date of this Agreement shall be July 1, 2018 2021 and it shall remain in effect for 
three years until June 30, 2021 2024.  This contract Agreement shall remain in effect upon 
expiration and during negotiation until agreement is reached and signed to amend or modify this 
Agreement.  At least one hundred twenty (120) days before the expiration date of this contract 
Agreement, the parties agree to meet and discuss a new Agreement.   
 
In the event that the total cost of a group health plan or plans offered under this contract 
triggers an excise tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 4980I, or any other local, state 
or federal statute or regulation, the parties agree to reopen this Agreement for the limited 
purposes of negotiated a substitute health insurance plan and premium share contributions.  
 
FOR THE TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON  FOR THE EAST HAMPTON 

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES 
ASSOCIATION 

 
Town Manager                 NAGE 
 
Signed: 
__________________________________   ____________________________________ 
David Cox, Town Manager     Michael Angeli, President, NAGE/NAME    
 
__________________________________   ____________________________________ 
Witness      Witness 
 
Date:   ____________________________   Date:  _____________________________ 
 
 
 
 



 

 25 

 
 
 
 

Wage Schedule  APPENDIX A 

       
Pay Grade Beginning Hire 1 Year 2nd Year 3rd-5th Year 6th-10th Year After 10 Years 

        
Foreman 7/1/21 $29.34  $31.83  $34.86  $35.26  $35.42  

  2.00% $61,027.20  $66,206.40  $72,508.80  $73,340.80  $73,673.60  

              

  7/1/22 $30.00  $32.55  $35.64  $36.05  $36.22  

  2.25% $62,400.00  $67,704.00  $74,131.20  $74,984.00  $75,337.60  

              

  7/1/23 $30.71  $33.31  $36.48  $36.90  $37.07  

  2.35% $63,876.80  $69,284.80  $75,878.40  $76,752.00  $77,105.60  

              

Chief Mechanic 7/1/21 $29.04  $31.16  $34.75  $35.10  $35.26  

  2.00% $60,403.20  $64,812.80  $72,280.00  $73,008.00  $73,340.80  

              

  7/1/22 $29.69  $31.86  $35.53  $35.89  $36.05  

  2.25% $61,755.20  $66,268.80  $73,902.40  $74,651.20  $74,984.00  

              

  7/1/23 $30.39  $32.61  $36.36  $36.73  $36.90  

  2.35% $63,211.20  $67,828.80  $75,628.80  $76,398.40  $76,752.00  

              

Crew Leader – DPW  7/1/21 $25.98  $28.09  $29.40  $30.30  $30.84  
 Crew Leader – 
Maintenance  2.00% $54,038.40  $58,427.20  $61,152.00  $63,024.00  $64,147.20  

              

  7/1/22 $26.56  $28.72  $30.06  $30.98  $31.53  

  2.25% $55,244.80  $59,737.60  $62,524.80  $64,438.40  $65,582.40  

              

  7/1/23 $27.18  $29.39  $30.77  $31.71  $32.27  

  2.35% $56,534.40  $61,131.20  $64,001.60  $65,956.80  $67,121.60  

              

Park Maint/Maint. I 7/1/21 $19.27  $20.94  $22.29  $23.22  $24.05  

  2.00% $40,081.60  $43,555.20  $46,363.20  $48,297.60  $50,024.00  

              



 

 26 

  7/1/22 $19.70  $21.41  $22.79  $23.74  $24.59  

  2.25% $40,976.00  $44,532.80  $47,403.20  $49,379.20  $51,147.20  

              

  7/1/23 $20.16  $21.91  $23.33  $24.30  $25.17  

  2.35% $41,932.80  $45,572.80  $48,526.40  $50,544.00  $52,353.60  

              

Maint. II 7/1/21 $21.78  $23.88  $26.57  $26.71  $26.91  

Building Maint. 2.00% $45,302.40  $49,670.40  $55,265.60  $55,556.80  $55,972.80  

              

  7/1/22 $22.27  $24.42  $27.17  $27.31  $27.52  

  2.25% $46,321.60  $50,793.60  $56,513.60  $56,804.80  $57,241.60  

              

  7/1/23 $22.79  $24.99  $27.81  $27.95  $28.17  

  2.35% $47,403.20  $51,979.20  $57,844.80  $58,136.00  $58,593.60  

Pay Grade Beginning Hire 1 Year 2nd Year 3rd-5th Year 6th-10th Year After 10 Years 

              

Maint. III 7/1/21 $23.45  $26.28  $29.25  $29.56  $29.63  

 Mechanic 2.00% $48,776.00  $54,662.40  $60,840.00  $61,484.80  $61,630.40  

              

  7/1/22 $23.98  $26.87  $29.91  $30.23  $30.30  

  2.25% $49,878.40  $55,889.60  $62,212.80  $62,878.40  $63,024.00  

              

  7/1/23 $24.54  $27.50  $30.61  $30.94  $31.01  

  2.35% $51,043.20  $57,200.00  $63,668.80  $64,355.20  $64,500.80  

              

Assistant Town Clerk 7/1/21 $25.59  $26.53  $28.69  $28.88  $29.26  

  2.00% $46,573.80  $48,284.60  $52,215.80  $52,561.60  $53,253.20  

              

  7/1/22 $26.17  $27.13  $29.34  $29.53  $29.92  

  2.25% $47,629.40  $49,376.60  $53,398.80  $53,744.60  $54,454.40  

              

  7/1/23 $26.78  $27.77  $30.03  $30.22  $30.62  

  2.35% $48,739.60  $50,541.40  $54,654.60  $55,000.40  $55,728.40  

              

Asst. Bldg. Official 7/1/21 $31.12  $32.22  $33.38  $34.29  $35.64  

  2.00% $56,638.40  $58,640.40  $60,751.60  $62,407.80  $64,864.80  

              

  7/1/22 $31.82  $32.94  $34.13  $35.06  $36.44  



 

 27 

  2.25% $57,912.40  $59,950.80  $62,116.60  $63,809.20  $66,320.80  

              

  7/1/23 $32.57  $33.71  $34.93  $35.88  $37.30  

  2.35% $59,277.40  $61,352.20  $63,572.60  $65,301.60  $67,886.00  

              

Children’s Library 7/1/21 $29.52  $30.68  $31.94  $32.56  $33.05  
 Children’s, Adult/Young 
Adult 2.00% $53,726.40  $55,837.60  $58,130.80  $59,259.20  $60,151.00  

              

  7/1/22 $30.18  $31.37  $32.66  $33.29  $33.79  

  2.25% $54,927.60  $57,093.40  $59,441.20  $60,587.80  $61,497.80  

              

  7/1/23 $30.89  $32.11  $33.43  $34.07  $34.58  

  2.35% $56,219.80  $58,440.20  $60,842.60  $62,007.40  $62,935.60  

              

Admin. Assistant 7/1/21 $25.33  $26.34  $28.68  $28.87  $29.25  

WPCA Secretary 2.00% $46,100.60  $47,938.80  $52,197.60  $52,543.40  $53,235.00  

Public Works Secretary             

Police Disp/Secretary 7/1/22 $25.90  $26.93  $29.33  $29.52  $29.91  

  2.25% $47,138.00  $49,012.60  $53,380.60  $53,726.40  $54,436.20  

              

  7/1/23 $26.51  $27.56  $30.02  $30.21  $30.61  

  2.35% $48,248.20  $50,159.20  $54,636.40  $54,982.20  $55,710.20  

Pay Grade Beginning Hire 1 Year 2nd Year 3rd-5th Year 6th-10th Year After 10 Years 

              

Office Technicians 7/1/21 $25.13  $26.25  $28.66  $28.86  $29.01  

Building Department 2.00% $45,736.60  $47,775.00  $52,161.20  $52,525.20  $52,798.20  

Health Department             

  7/1/22 $25.70  $26.84  $29.30  $29.51  $29.66  

  2.25% $46,774.00  $48,848.80  $53,326.00  $53,708.20  $53,981.20  

              

  7/1/23 $26.30  $27.47  $29.99  $30.20  $30.36  

  2.35% $47,866.00  $49,995.40  $54,581.80  $54,964.00  $55,255.20  

              

Office Assistants 7/1/21 $24.82  $26.21  $28.65  $28.84  $28.92  

Assessor's Clerk 2.00% $45,172.40  $47,702.20  $52,143.00  $52,488.80  $52,634.40  

Tax Clerk's             

Accounting Clerks 7/1/22 $25.38  $26.80  $29.29  $29.49  $29.57  



28 

Police Clerk 2.25% $46,191.60 $48,776.00 $53,307.80 $53,671.80 $53,817.40 

7/1/23 $25.98 $27.43 $29.98 $30.18 $30.26 

2.35% $47,283.60 $49,922.60 $54,563.60 $54,927.60 $55,073.20 

Ref./Young Adult 
Library 7/1/21 $24.45 $25.43 $26.46 $27.00 $27.35 

2.00% $44,499.00 $46,282.60 $48,157.20 $49,140.00 $49,777.00 

7/1/22 $25.00 $26.00 $27.06 $27.61 $27.97 

2.25% $45,500.00 $47,320.00 $49,249.20 $50,250.20 $50,905.40 

7/1/23 $25.59 $26.61 $27.70 $28.26 $28.63 

2.35% $46,573.80 $48,430.20 $50,414.00 $51,433.20 $52,106.60 

Library Acquisition Mgr. 7/1/21 $22.67 $23.56 $24.51 $25.00 $25.35 
 Head of Circulation and 
Technical Services 2.00% $41,259.40 $42,879.20 $44,608.20 $45,500.00 $46,137.00 

7/1/22 $23.18 $24.09 $25.06 $25.56 $25.92 

2.25% $42,187.60 $43,843.80 $45,609.20 $46,519.20 $47,174.40 

7/1/23 $23.72 $24.66 $25.65 $26.16 $26.53 

2.35% $43,170.40 $44,881.20 $46,683.00 $47,611.20 $48,284.60 

Clerk Typist 7/1/21 $20.00 $20.84 $21.99 $23.33 $24.69 

2.00% $36,400.00 $37,928.80 $40,021.80 $42,460.60 $44,935.80 

7/1/22 $20.45 $21.31 $22.48 $23.85 $25.25 

2.25% $37,219.00 $38,784.20 $40,913.60 $43,407.00 $45,955.00 

7/1/23 $20.93 $21.81 $23.01 $24.41 $25.84 

2.35% $38,092.60 $39,694.20 $41,878.20 $44,426.20 $47,028.80 



i  

WORKING AGREEMENT 

 BETWEEN 

THE TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 

AND 

LOCAL R1-216 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES 

NAGE 

JULY 1, 2021 - JUNE 30, 2024 



 

ii  

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
                                                                                                                                              Page(s) 
 
Definitions           iii 
Preamble           1 
Article I - Recognition and Unit Description         1 
Article II - Union Security           1-2 
Article III - Wages            2 
Article IV - Holidays, Personal Days, Funeral Leave       2-3 
Article V - Hours of Work           3-5 
Article VI - Overtime and Holiday Pay         5-7 
Article VII - Seniority            7-8 
Article VIII - Layoffs and Recalls          8-9 
Article IX - Uniforms            9-10 
Article X - Safety and Health           10 
Article XI - Vacations          10-11 
Article XII - Sick Leave         12-14 
Article XIII – Workers’ Compensation       14 
Article XIV - Medical Care Insurance       14-16 
Article XV - Retirement         16 
Article XVI - Grievance Procedure        16-18 
Article XVII - No Strike         18 
Article XVIII - Promotions and New Positions      18 
Article XIX - Longevity         18-19 
Article XX - Discipline         19 
Article XXI - General Provisions        19-21 
Article XXII - Union Activities Leave       21-22 
Article XXIII - Severability         22 
Article XXIV - Management Rights        22 
Article XXV - Job Classification        22-23 
Article XXVI - Duration of Agreement       23 
Signature Page          23 
Appendix A-Wages – Salary Plan 2021-2024      24-28 

     



 

iii  

EAST HAMPTON TOWN EMPLOYEES 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
The following definitions shall be used and applied to all sections of this Agreement. 
 
Town Manager - shall mean the Town official filling the Charter designated position of Town 
Manager, who is recognized as the Chief Administrative and Chief Executive Officer of the Town 
pursuant to law. 
 
Members of the Unit - shall include all members of the bargaining unit. 
 
Regular Full-time Employees - shall mean any employee in the bargaining unit who works 
twenty (20) hours or more per week. 
 
Full-time Employee and Regular Full-time Employee - shall mean the same thing, an employee 
in the bargaining unit. 
 
Resignation without Prejudice - shall mean any employee who voluntarily resigns from Town 
service with no disciplinary charges pending against him/her. 
 
Resignation with Prejudice - shall mean any employee who resigns rather than facing charges 
against him/her. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 1 

PREAMBLE 
 
This Agreement made and entered into by and between the TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON, 
CONNECTICUT (hereinafter referred to as the “Town”) and LOCAL R1-216 of the NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES (hereinafter referred to as the “Union”) by 
virtue of negotiations between the Town and the Union under Chapter 113, Sections 7-467 through 
7-477 of the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut (hereinafter referred to as “MERA”), as 
amended from time to time, in order to fix the wages, hours of employment and other conditions 
of employment of all members of the unit as that term is hereinafter defined. 
 

ARTICLE I 
RECOGNITION AND UNIT DESCRIPTION 

 
Section 1.  The Town recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of 
collective bargaining relative to wages, hours and other conditions of employment of all employees 
of the Town working twenty (20) or more hours per week, including without limitation, all clerical, 
secretarial and technical employees working in the Town Hall (“Town Hall Group”),  Children’s, 
Adult/Young Adult, Head of Circulation and Technical Services, WPCA clerical position, Public 
Works clerical position and all employees in the Town’s Public Works Division (“Public Works 
Group”), excluding however, the Director of Public Works, the Administrative Secretary to 
Council/Manager, the Personnel Technician, department heads, seasonal, and temporary 
employees and all others excluded by virtue of the provisions of MERA. 
 
Section 2.  Hereinafter all of the employees in the bargaining unit shall be referred to collectively 
as “the Unit” and all members of the Unit shall be referred to as the “employee or employees.” 
 

ARTICLE II 
UNION SECURITY 

 
Section 1.  The Town agrees to deduct from the pay of all employees who individually certify in 
writing to the Town that they authorize such deductions, such dues and fees as may be fixed and 
certified to the Town by the Union and allowed by MERA.  The Town will remit to the Union any 
amounts collected once each month, together with a list of employees from whose wages these 
sums have been deducted.  Such authorizations, forwarded to the Town not less than ten (10) days 
prior to the first pay day of the month, shall be effective the month received by the Town. 
 
Section 2.  All employees may elect to become members of the Union.  If an employee resigns, 
retires, is terminated or receives a leave, any unused portion of his Union dues shall be returned to 
said employee upon his written request to the Town and the Union.  When an employee does not 
have sufficient money due him after deductions required by law, Union dues such deduction 
periods shall be deducted in the first dues deduction pay period in which the employee has 
sufficient funds due him. 
 
Section 3.  The Union, its officers and members, shall not intimidate or coerce employees into 
joining or remaining members of the Union; and the Town shall not intimidate or coerce employees 
for the purpose of not joining the Union. 



 

 2 

 
Section 4.  The Union agrees to indemnify the Town for any loss or damages arising from the 
operation of this Article II.  It is also agreed that neither any employee nor the Union shall have 
any claim against the Town for any deductions made or not made, as the case may be, unless a 
claim of error is made, in writing, to the Town within thirty (30) calendar days after the date such 
deductions were, or should have been, made. 
 

ARTICLE III 
WAGES 

 
Section 1.  The pay rates and pay ranges for job classes in the Unit, for the period July 1, 2021 
through June 30, 2024, are set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and made a part hereof. 
 
Section 2.   The hourly wage is official.  The “yearly” wage is for informational purposes only and 
based on a regular hourly schedule. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

HOLIDAYS, PERSONAL DAYS AND FAMILY FUNERAL LEAVE 
 
Section 1.  The Town shall provide the following paid holidays for all regular full-time employees 
of the unit: 
 
  New Year’s Day   Columbus Day 
  Martin Luther King Day (observed) Veterans Day  
  President’s Day   Thanksgiving Day 
  Good Friday    Day after Thanksgiving 
  Memorial Day (observed)  Christmas Day 
  Independence Day   Two Floating Holidays 
  Labor Day          
 
In the event that any of the above mentioned holidays fall on a Saturday, said holiday shall be 
observed on the preceding Friday; in the event the holidays falls on a Sunday, it shall be observed 
on the following Monday.  In order to receive pay for an observed holiday, an employee must be 
in work or paid leave status on the scheduled work day immediately preceding, and following, the 
holiday.  The Town may, if abuse is suspected, require a note from the treating physician for the 
illness that caused the absence the day before and/or the day after a holiday, in order for an 
employee to qualify for holiday pay.  
    
Section 2.  If a holiday falls while an employee is on sick leave, he shall be paid for the holiday 
and no deduction shall be made from his sick leave bank.  If a holiday falls during an employee’s 
vacation, he shall be paid for the holiday and no deduction shall be made from his/her vacation 
time.  
 
Section 3.  A full time employee who has successfully completed the entry level probationary period 
may be granted paid personal leave days.  Such days may only be taken with the approval of the 



 

 3 

employee's immediate supervisor, which will not be unreasonably denied; the time will be used for 
necessary personal business that otherwise cannot be conducted outside of the work day. 
 
Three (3) personal leave days will be granted to each employee at the beginning of each contract year.  
Personal leave days not used in one (1) contract year will not carry over into any later contract years.  
Pay shall be equal to the hourly rate times the number of hours in a regularly scheduled day for each 
particular employee.  At the discretion of the employee’s supervisor, personal leave days may be 
combined with vacation or may be taken with other personal leave days in the same week.  Except in 
the case of an emergency, employees must request approval from their immediate supervisor to take 
such leave at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance. 
 
Approved personal leave may be taken in one-half (1/2) hour increments.  
  
Section 4.  Each full-time employee shall be granted, with pay, funeral leave up to a total of three 
(3) working days in the event of the death of the employee’s spouse, child, mother, father, sister, 
brother, grandparent, grandchild, stepchild or stepparent. 
 
Each regular full-time employee shall be granted, with pay, funeral leave up to a total of two (2) 
working days in the event of the death of the employee’s father-in-law, mother-in-law, daughter-
in-law, son-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law. 
 
Each regular full-time employee shall be granted, with pay, funeral leave up to a total of one (1) 
working day in the event of the death of the employee’s aunt or uncle or niece or nephew. 
 
Leave taken under this section will be taken in the period between the death of the relative and 
through the funeral.  When an employee is taking leave under this section and the funeral is held 
over three hundred (300) miles from the employee’s home, the employee will be granted one (1) 
more day of paid leave, which may be used for travel after the funeral. 
 
Funeral leave shall apply only to an employee who is actually in attendance at the funeral or 
engaged in activities in connection therewith. 
 
Section 5.  Employees out of work due to a workplace injury shall not be eligible for holiday pay 
during such absence if the employee is receiving workers’ compensation benefits (any form of 
temporary total disability benefits, temporary partial disability benefits or a permanency award), 
in accordance with the Connecticut Workers’ Compensation Act during such absence. 

 
ARTICLE V 

HOURS OF WORK 
 
Section 1.  The standard work week for regular, full-time employees in the Town Hall Group shall 
consist of thirty-five (35) hours made up of three (3) days of seven (7) continuous hours Monday, 
Wednesday and Thursday from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., exclusive of an unpaid lunch period of one 
(1) hour duration; as well as one (1) day, Tuesday, of nine and one-half (9½) continuous hours 
from 8:00 a.m. to 6:30 p.m. exclusive of an unpaid lunch period of one (1) hour; and one (1) day, 
Friday, of four and one-half (4½) continuous hours, 8:00 a.m. to 12:30 p.m.   



 

 4 

The Water Pollution Control/Joint Facilities Administrative Assistant’s hours will be thirty-five 
(35)  hours, 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Monday through Friday with an unpaid lunch period of one (1) 
hour. The Public Works Administrative Assistant’s hours will be thirty-five (35) hours, 8:00 a.m. 
to 3:30 p.m. Monday through Friday with an unpaid lunch period of one-half (½) hour. 
 
Section 2.  Except as set forth below, the standard work week for regular, full-time employees in 
the Public Works Group (which shall consist of the following positions: Foreman, Chief Mechanic, 
Mechanic, Crew Leader DPW, Crew Leader Maintenance, Maintainer I, II, III and Parks and 
Recreation) shall consist of forty (40) hours made up five (5) days of eight (8) continuous hours 
each, Monday through Friday, from 7:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m., exclusive of an unpaid lunch period of 
one-half (½) hour duration (for exception see Section 6 below). 
 
Effective the first full week of July of each year, the standard work week for regular full-time 
employees in the Public Works Group (excluding Parks and Recreation, Chief Mechanic and 
Mechanic) shall consist of forty (40) hours made up of five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, 
Monday through Friday, 6:00 a.m. to 2:30 p.m., with an unpaid one-half (½) hour for lunch.  Lunch 
shall be from 11:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m.  This summer schedule shall remain in effect through the 
last full week in August. 
 
The Building Maintainer’s standard work week shall consist of forty (40) hours comprised of five 
(5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, Monday through Friday, normally 5:30 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. with 
an unpaid one-half (½) hour lunch, provided, however, the hours within a day shall flexible 
pursuant to the operational requirements of Town buildings. 
  
When the Building Maintainer is out of work or if the needs of the Town require additional 
assistance with building maintainer duties and responsibilities, Maintainer II employees may be 
assigned such duties and responsibilities.  Additionally, the Building Maintainer may be assigned 
Maintainer II duties and responsibilities.  Building Maintainer assignments include all of the duties 
and responsibilities of the position, including, but not limited to, building and outside work.  
Accordingly, such assignments and the day to day duties and responsibilities of Building 
Maintainer shall be at the discretion of the Town.    
 
Section 3.  Working hours may be altered by mutual agreement between the Town and the Union.  
The Town reserves the right to temporarily alter hours after consultation with the Union. 
 
Section 4.  Each employee may have two (2) fifteen (15) minute coffee breaks each workday, one 
in the morning and the other in the afternoon. 
 
Section 5.  When an employee is required to work for extended periods during emergency winter 
and other conditions, no such employee shall be required to work more than ten (10) consecutive 
hours in addition to said employee’s normal work day.  Each employee shall be granted up to four 
(4) hours of rest time with pay at the said employee’s regular base rate of pay after working sixteen 
(16) consecutive hours to be used, at the Town’s discretion, either during the employee’s work day 
on the specific day that the employee earned the use of the rest time or within the same payroll 
period that the employee earned the rest time.  The rest time provided for in this Section 5 shall be 



 

 5 

scheduled by the Town in its absolute discretion with a view toward maximum efficiency of work 
and safety of employees. 
 
Section 6.  The standard number of hours of work for library positions in a work week is thirty-
five hours (with an unpaid lunch break of one (1) hour).  
 
Assignment of flexible hours to library positions shall be in accordance with past practice. 
 
Section 7.  Volunteers - The library shall not depend on volunteers for daily operations but may 
use volunteers as long as they do not displace any current employee. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY 

 
Section 1.  All employees in the Town Hall Group who perform authorized overtime in excess of 
seven (7) hours in any one (1) day or thirty-five (35) hours in any one (1) week shall be paid at the 
rate of time and one-half (1½) his regular base rate of pay for such authorized overtime.  Except 
that as provided for in the amended Article V, Section 1, the day (Tuesday) of nine and one-half 
(9½) continuous hours shall be considered at the regular rate of pay for all nine and one-half (9½) 
hours and shall be exempt from overtime. 
 
Section 2.  All employees in the Public Works Group, including the Building Maintainers 
(custodians), who perform authorized overtime in excess of eight (8) hours in any one (1) day or 
forty (40) hours in any one (1) week shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1½) his regular 
base rate of pay for such authorized overtime. 
 
Section 3.  When a full-time employee is ordered to work on an official town holiday, as defined 
in Article IV above, he shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1½) his regular base 
rate of pay in addition to holiday pay for all hours actually worked and authorized; excepting, 
however, an employee working on New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Thanksgiving Day and 
Christmas shall be compensated at the rate of twice the employee’s regular base rate of pay in 
addition to the holiday pay for all authorized overtime.  The holiday for double pay purposes shall 
be the entire twenty-four (24) hour period.  Work authorized on Sunday shall be paid at the double 
time rate. 
 
Section 4.  Overtime assignments shall be allocated among full-time employees within the 
classifications requiring the overtime on a fair and reasonable basis to the fullest degree 
practicable, by rotation on a seniority basis, subject to the employee’s classification and ability to 
perform the required work.  If an employee is scheduled for, or offered overtime, and does not 
avail himself of the opportunity to work, he will be charged with the scheduled overtime as if he 
had worked. 
 
Section 5.  The Town has the right to schedule overtime as required.  There shall be no concerted 
action against overtime work by employees.  Should the Town be unable to fulfill its overtime 
schedule because of a number of refusals, the Town may require the least senior employees, from 
the classifications needed, to do the necessary work required. 



 

 6 

Section 6.  When a regular full-time employee, after departing from his regularly scheduled work 
day, is officially ordered to report back to work for emergency service, he shall be compensated 
for all hours worked, at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times his regular base rate of pay, or four 
hours at his regular rate of pay, whichever is greater.  Only hours worked between the employee’s 
regularly scheduled quitting time and one (1) hour before his next regularly scheduled starting 
time are subject to this provision.  Continuous hours of overtime at the end of the regular workday 
will be compensated on an as worked basis. 
 
Section 7.  When a regular, full-time employee is officially ordered to report to work for 
emergency service (i) one (1) hour before his next regularly scheduled starting time, he shall be 
compensated for said one (1) hour at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times his regular base rate 
of pay or (ii) in excess of one (1) hour before his next regularly scheduled starting time, he shall 
be compensated for all hours worked at the rate of one and one-half  (1½) times his regular base 
rate of pay or four (4) hours at his regular base rate of pay, whichever is greater. 
 
Section 8.  An employee called to work before or after his regularly scheduled work day shall be 
paid from the time he is called to report to work, provided he reports for work no later than thirty 
(30) minutes after such notification, otherwise, he will be paid from the time of reporting. 
 
Section 9.  Employees who are required to work overtime four (4) or more hours beyond the end 
of their regular shift will be permitted a one-half (½) hour meal break during that four (4) hour 
period with no interruption in pay. 
 
Section 10. 
 
 A. During the winter snow and ice control operations, or during other emergency 

situations, the Town, in its discretion, may provide a meal to eligible bargaining 
unit employees from a local eating establishment that the Town has an account with 
in an amount of up to the allowances set forth below.  If a meal from a local eating 
establishment is not an option offered by the Town, eligible employees will be 
reimbursed for meals (with the submission of a receipt) for the performance of work 
while working overtime work, in an amount of up to the following: 

 
     Breakfast $10.00 
     Lunch $15.00 
     Supper $20.00 
 

Employees called in prior to 6:00 a.m. shall be eligible for the breakfast meal 
allowance, and those working an extended work day after 6:00 p.m. shall be eligible 
for the supper meal allowance.  In order to qualify for the applicable meal 
allowance, an employee must be working during the times referred to above.  
Additionally, the meal must be purchased on the day of the actual event giving rise 
to the meal allowance. 

 
 B. Town Hall employees attending seminars, etc. will be eligible for a meal allowance 

while attending the specific function, in an amount of up to the following: 



 

 7 

 
  Lunch $15.00 

     Supper $20.00 
 
  If a function or seminar includes the cost of meals, the Town will pay for the cost  
  of the function and the meal allowance shall not apply. 
 
Section 11. A Recording Clerk performing work after 6:00 p.m. shall be paid one and one-
half (1½) times his or her regular hourly rate of pay or the amount of forty dollars ($40.00), 
whichever is greater. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
SENIORITY 

 
Section 1.  The purpose of seniority is to provide a declared policy of right of preference as to 
layoffs, transfers, vacations, promotions and other working conditions. 
 
Section 2.  For the purposes of this Agreement, seniority shall be based on the employee’s total 
length of continuous service as a regular, full-time employee of the Town and shall be determined 
from the date such employee was officially appointed as a regular full-time employee. 
 
Section 3.  All new employees covered by this Agreement shall serve a probationary period of six 
(6) months.  Determination of the employee’s level of performance, whether satisfactory or not, is 
at the sole discretion of the Town Manager, or his designated representative, during this period.  
During the probationary period, the employee shall be on probation and may be discharged or 
disciplined for any reason whatsoever, without right of appeal.  In such event, neither the Union 
nor the employee shall have recourse to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement.  
Upon successful completion of the employee’s probationary period his seniority shall date back to 
the date of his original employment as an employee of the Town.  If the probationary period is 
extended for any reason, written notice thereof shall be given to the Union. 
 
Section 4.  An employee’s earned seniority shall not be broken because of absence due to illness, 
vacations, authorized leave, or any call to military service for the duration. 
 
Section 5.  An employee’s seniority in the unit will be broken and cease when he: 
 

A. Quits; 
 

B. Retires; 
 

C. Is discharged for just cause; 
 

D. Obtains a leave of absence by false or misleading statements; 
 

E. Is absent from work for three (3) consecutive days without giving notice to his 
supervisor; 



 

 8 

 
 

F. Exceeds a leave of absence without satisfactory explanation to the Town; 
 

G. Fails to report to work within fourteen (14) calendar days after written notice of 
recall; 

 
H. Accepts employment elsewhere while on leave of absence; 

 
I. Is laid off for a consecutive period equal to his seniority at the time of such layoff, 

but in no event to exceed eighteen (18) months. 
 
Section 6.  The Town shall prepare a list of full-time employees, showing their seniority in length 
of service with the Town and deliver the same to the Union at its request but in no event more 
often than once per fiscal year. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
LAYOFFS AND RECALLS 

 
Section 1.  When a personnel reduction, in any classification, is required for whatever reason, 
employees shall be laid off in the inverse order of length of service as defined in Article VII above. 
 
Section 2. 
 
 A. Layoffs within classification shall be made by seniority and take effect as follows: 
 

1. Temporary and/or seasonal employees; 
 

2. Probationary employees; 
 

3. Employees working twenty (20) hours but less than forty (40) hours in the 
Public Works Group and thirty-five (35) hours in the Town Hall Group; 

 
4. Regular, full-time employees; 

 
5. An employee scheduled for layoff may, if he so desires, replace an 

employee with less seniority in an equal or lower job classification, 
provided the employee qualifies for the position without retraining and has 
greater job seniority than the employee he replaces.  Such employee’s base 
rate in the lower classification shall be that rate, which is nearest to, but does 
not exceed, his previous base rate and, in no case shall the regular base rate 
of pay exceed the maximum base rate of the classification. 

 
 B. Laid off employees, within classifications with the most seniority shall be rehired 
first, and no employee shall be hired in these classifications until all laid off employees in those 
classifications have been given the opportunity to return to work within fourteen (14) calendar 



 

 9 

days of written notification.  Such written notice shall be deemed to have been given when the 
notice has been sent by certified mail to the employee’s last known address.  Failure to respond in 
writing to a notice of an opening within fourteen (14) calendar days from the delivery of said notice 
shall be deemed a refusal to accept re-employment.  If an employee has not been recalled within a 
period of two (2) years, the Town will drop their name from the call list and have no further 
obligation under this section to rehire said employee. 
 
Section 3.  Regular employees subject to layoff shall be notified in writing, two (2) calendar weeks 
prior to the effective date, but, in an emergency, not less than one (1) calendar week.  In the event 
that a layoff is pending or proposed, the Town shall notify the Union as soon as practical, but in 
no event less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time said layoff is to be effective. 
 
Section 4.  Members of the unit whose names are on the recall list shall be notified of opportunities 
for temporary, part-time or seasonal positions.  No new employees shall be hired for a temporary, 
part-time or seasonal position until all employees on the recall list have had an opportunity to 
decline.  Notification of opportunities for such employment shall not constitute recall, and no 
employee shall forfeit recall, and no employee shall forfeit recall rights by declining such 
employment. 
 
Section 5.  Employees reinstated, before the expiration of eighteen (18) months of their layoff, 
shall regain their seniority and provided, however, that the period of separation will not count 
toward seniority. 

 
ARTICLE IX 
UNIFORMS 

 
Section 1.  Upon submission of a receipt for the purchases, the Town shall reimburse annually, all 
regular full-time employees who are normally required to wear a uniform, the actual cost of the 
required uniform, to include a winter jacket, a light weight jacket, pants and shirts up to a maximum 
of three hundred seventy-five dollars ($375.00) per contract year, or in the case of a mechanic up 
to a maximum of four hundred dollars ($400.00) per contract year necessary.  The color and style 
of such uniforms shall be agreed to by the Town and Union. The Town may designate a single 
source vendor to purchase the clothing from, with mutual agreement by the Town and Union giving 
due consideration to price and quality.  Neither party’s agreement will be unreasonably withheld.  
Cleaning of the clothing, except the head mechanic and mechanic’s coveralls cited above, shall be 
the responsibility of the employee.  In the event that the designated vendor cannot supply article 
necessary, employee may purchase same and be reimbursed by the Town with the prior approval 
of the Department Head. 
 
Section 2.  The Town shall reimburse each employee, who is required by law and regulations to 
wear safety shoes, for the purchase of said safety shoes up to a maximum of two hundred twenty-
five dollars ($225.00) in each contract year upon submission of a receipt for the purchase.  Safety 
shoes are defined as shoes with steel toes and steel shank or may be constructed of composite 
material as approved by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI). 
 



 

 10 

Section 3.  Unless otherwise authorized by the Public Works Director, employees shall be required 
to wear all items of the prescribed working uniform.  If any employee fails to wear such uniform 
items as made available and prescribed by the Town, he shall be subject to the disciplinary 
procedure provided in Article XX. 
 

ARTICLE X 
SAFETY AND HEALTH 

 
Section 1.  Both parties to this Agreement hold themselves responsible for mutual cooperative 
enforcement of safety rules and regulations. 
 
Section 2.  The Town shall, at its sole cost and expense, furnish to all regular full-time employees 
who are normally required to wear same, foul-weather gear, i.e., raincoats, rain hats, boots, dry 
and wet weather gloves, etc., and for their care as necessary. 
 
Section 3.  The Town shall furnish safety helmets, safety glasses or goggles and facemasks to 
employees working in hazardous locations, and equipment as prescribed by the Public Works 
Director.  If such equipment has been issued and the employee fails to wear such equipment, he 
shall be subject to the disciplinary procedure provided in Article XX. 
 
Section 4.  The Town shall replace such foul-weather gear and safety equipment as found 
necessary upon inspection, and as approved by the Public Works Director.  Such replacement shall 
be at the Town’s expense, except that gear or equipment damaged or lost through the employee’s 
negligence or wrongdoing shall be replaced at the employee’s expense. 
 
Section 5.  If an operator of mechanical equipment reasonably believes that the equipment that he is 
operating, or about to operate, he/she should document the defect on the Daily Driver Inspection 
Report and provide a copy of the inspection report to the chief mechanic on duty.  The chief mechanic 
shall review the report and inspect the vehicle and determine if it is safe to return to service.     No 
employee may operate equipment that he or she reasonably believes to be unsafe. 
 
Section 6.  When, in the judgment and sole discretion of the Public Works Director or his 
designated foreman, there is a need to have two (2) employees per truck during emergency winter 
conditions, two (2) such employees shall be used in said truck whenever possible.  This Section 6 
shall not be construed as establishing a firm policy with respect to having two (2) employees per 
truck during emergency winter conditions. 
 
Section 7.  The Town agrees to abide by and follow all State and federal statutes and regulations 
with respect to providing safe, healthy and sanitary conditions for all employees in the unit. 
 

ARTICLE XI 
VACATIONS 

 
Section 1.  Regular, full-time employees shall be eligible for annual vacation leave paid at (i) 
thirty-five (35) hours times a Town Hall Group employee’s straight time hourly rate at said 
employee’s normal weekly salary and (ii) forty (40) hours times a Public Works Group employee’s 



 

 11 

straight time hourly rate at said employee’s normal weekly salary, exclusive of overtime for each 
week, in accordance with the following schedule: 
 
 Length of Continuous Service   Vacation Leave Earned 
     
  Less than one (1) year         zero (0) days* 
 Upon completion of one (1) year   ten (10) days 
 Upon completion of five (5) years   fifteen (15) days 
 Upon completion of ten (10) years   twenty (20) days 
 Upon completion of fifteen (15) years  twenty-five (25) days 
 
*After six (6) months, an employee in good standing may be permitted to take five (5) days of  
vacation from the ten (10) days he/she will earn upon the completion of one (1) year of service. 
 
Years of service for determining vacation eligibility hereunder shall be based upon full years of 
employment and the employee’s anniversary date of employment shall be used. 
 
Section 2.  Requests for vacation time shall be made in advance and shall be granted where 
practicable to employees in accordance with seniority rights within classification.  Vacation 
requests made without notice will be considered in light of operating needs and vacation schedules.  
There will be no mass shutdown for vacation purposes.  The minimum amount of vacation time 
that may be used is two (2) hours.   
 
Section 3.  Employees shall be allowed to accumulate unused vacation leave from year to year up 
to a maximum of twenty-five (25) vacation days.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set 
forth in this Section 3, any employee who has accumulated in excess of twenty-five (25) vacation 
days as of July 1, 1990 shall be allowed to maintain said accumulated vacation time but it shall not 
be increased thereafter.  The Town has the option to purchase excess accumulated vacation time 
from employees who have maintained same under this Section. 
 
Section 4.  When a holiday occurs during a regular vacation, the employee shall be paid for the 
holiday and no deduction shall be made from his/her vacation time.  
 
Section 5.  An employee who is separated, discharged or retired from Town service shall be paid 
the total of his vacation leave credited prior to the date of such separation, provided, however, for 
purposes of such payout, vacation time provided during the employee’s last year of employment 
shall be prorated from his/her anniversary date through his/her last day of actual employment with 
the Town.  Retiring employees may not utilize vacation time to extend the retirement date.  
Payment for such days shall be in two (2) payments; the first during the then current fiscal year, 
and the second, one (1) year after the first payment. 
 
Section 6.  In the event of the death of an employee, the employee’s accrued vacation time shall 
be paid to the employee’s estate, up to the maximum number of hours permitted, provided, 
however, for purposes of such payout, vacation time provided during the employee’s last year of 
employment shall be prorated from his/her anniversary date through the date of death. 
  



 

 12 

ARTICLE XII 
SICK LEAVE 

 
Section 1.  Authorized sick leave shall be considered to be absent from duty, with pay, for the 
following reasons: 
 
 A. Personal illness, physical quarantine, physical incapacity, or non-compensable 

bodily injury, except where directly traceable to employment by an employer other 
than the Town. 

 
 B. When the employee is required to undergo medical, optical, or dental treatments, 

only when this cannot be accomplished on off duty hours, and provided the Town 
Manager is notified at least one (1) day in advance of the day on which the absence 
is to occur. 

 
 C. When the serious illness, as defined under the Federal Family & Medical Leave 

Act, of a member of the employee’s immediate family requires his personal 
attendance, when supported by a doctor’s certificate.  

 
Section 2.  The Town may require proof of illness for any authorized sick leave, provided, sick leave 
in excess of three (3) consecutive days must be accompanied by a note from the employee’s 
treating physician for the illness causing the employee’s absence from work.   
 
Additionally, in the event that an employee either demonstrates a pattern of absenteeism or an 
abuse of sick leave, the Town may require a note from the employee’s treating physician 
addressing the employee’s absences.   
 
In the judgment of the Town Manager, proof of sick leave may include a doctor’s certificate, or other 
proof of illness or injury from the employee’s treating physician for the illness that caused the absence, 
indicating the nature and duration of the illness.  Proof of illness or injury will not normally be required 
for sick leave of less than four (4) consecutive full work days or less than eight (8) full work days per 
rolling twelve (12) month period.  If the frequency rate rises to eight (8) full work days, a doctor’s 
certificate from the physician treating the employee for the illness that caused the absence may be 
required for all illnesses unless waived by the Town Manager.  The Town may investigate and require 
proof of illness or injury for any absence for which sick leave is requested. 
 
Section 3.  In order to have an absence counted as sick leave, the employee, on the first day of 
absence due to illness or injury, shall notify either the employee’s department head or his 
designated representative, of his illness or injury at least thirty (30) minutes subsequent to his 
normal time for reporting to work, except where sufficiently limiting circumstances exist, in which 
case he shall report as soon as practicable. 
 
Section 4.  To the extent allowed by the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable laws, 
the Town reserves the right to require any employee to submit to a physical examination by a doctor 
of the Town's choice, the cost of the physical examination to be at the Town's expense. 
 



 

 13 

Section 5.  Sick leave shall be earned by each regular, full-time employee at the rate of one and 
one-fourth (1¼) working days for each complete calendar month of continuous service, the total 
of which shall not exceed fifteen (15) sick leave days in any twelve (12) months.  Sick leave earned 
in any month of service shall be available during any subsequent month. 
 
Section 6.  The following shall apply to sick leave accumulation: 
 
 A. All unused sick leave of any regular, full-time employee during continuous 

employment may be accumulated up to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) 
days. 

 
 B. The amount of each employee’s accumulated sick leave on the day prior to the 

effective date of this Agreement shall be credited toward his accumulated sick leave 
under this Agreement. 

 
 C. No credit toward accumulated sick leave shall be granted for time worked in excess 

of his normal workweek. 
 
 D. Sick leave shall continue to accumulate during authorized leaves of absence with 

pay. 
 
Section 7.  The following shall apply to sick leave redemption: 
 
 A. An employee who has successfully completed the probationary period, upon 

resignation without prejudice, shall receive, on the basis of his base rate of pay, 
compensation for fifty percent (50%) of his unused, accumulated sick leave, as 
severance pay, up to ninety (90) days maximum.  Payment for such days shall be 
in two (2) payments; the first during the then current fiscal year, and the second, 
one (1) year after the first payment.   

 
 B. An employee who is discharged, or resigns with prejudice, shall receive no 

compensation for any of his unused, accumulated sick leave. 
 
 C. Upon retirement or death of a regular, full-time employee, eighty percent (80%) of 

his unused, accrued sick leave shall be remitted on the basis of his current base rate 
of pay to the employee, or his estate, up to a maximum of ninety (90) days. Payment 
for such days upon retirement shall be in two (2) payments; the first during the then 
current fiscal year, and the second, one (1) year after the first payment.  Payment 
for such days upon death, will be paid to the employee’s estate in one (1) lump sum 
during the then current fiscal year.     

 
 D. An employee, who is subject to a layoff without prejudice, may elect to receive, on 

the basis of his base rate of pay, compensation for fifty percent (50%) of his unused, 
accumulated sick leave, as severance pay, up to ninety (90) days maximum.  If an 
employee elects the above, he will forfeit all sick leave on the books if recalled at 



 

 14 

a later date regardless of his seniority.  An employee must exercise this option 
before his seniority rights have expired under Article VIII. 

 
Section 8.  The minimum amount of sick time that may be used is one-half (1/2) hour with prior 
written approval of the Town Manager or his/her designee to be used, if possible, at the beginning 
or the end of the employee’s work shift.  
 

ARTICLE XIII 
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

 
Section 1.  Each employee shall come under the terms of the Workers’ Compensation Act for 
injuries which occur while the employee is engaged in the performance of his duties for the Town.  
Employees are covered by Workers’ Compensation Insurance and are paid stated amounts due to 
injuries received on duty.  The Town, in case of a compensable injury incurred in the line of duty, 
shall supplement the payments of the insurance company so the employee will receive his full base 
rate of pay during his absence (less applicable state and federal withholdings) while the employee 
is out of work and receiving temporary, total disability benefits, for a period not to exceed six (6) 
calendar months. 
 
In the event that an employee is out of work and is temporary, partially disabled and light duty 
work is available for such employee (as determined by the Town); he/she shall work the light duty 
assignment (provided such light duty work is within his/her light duty restrictions) and not be 
eligible for the supplemental benefit set forth herein. 
 
In the event that an employee is out of work and is temporary, partially disabled and no light duty 
work is available within his/her light duty restrictions  (as determined by the Town), he/she shall 
be eligible for the supplemental benefit set forth herein. 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
MEDICAL CARE INSURANCE 

 
Section 1.  The Town will provide the following insurance coverage for the period from July 1, 
2021 through June 30, 2024 for all regular, full-time employees and their dependents: 
 

1. The Connecticut State Partnership Plan (health, dental and vision) and the 
prescription drug plan offered through the Connecticut State Partnership.  If the 
plan design changes during the period of time that the Town is a participating 
member, the new plan design will be adopted).  

 
2. Within eighteen (18) months of joining the plan, all employees and dependents 

must meet the minimum requirements of the Connecticut State Partnership’s Health 
Enhancement Program (“HEP”). 

 
3. As set forth in the Connecticut State Partnership Plan, employees who do not meet 

the minimum HEP requirements will be subject to deductibles of three hundred 
fifty dollars ($350.00) for individual or one thousand four hundred dollars 



 

 15 

($1,400.00) for family coverage, as well as an additional one hundred dollars 
($100.00) in premium payments per calendar month. 

 
4. The carrier network for the plan will be the carrier selected by the State. 

 
5. Employees will pay the following premium share contributions in lieu of the 

premium share contributions set forth under Article X of the collective bargaining 
agreement between the parties: 

 
July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022:  14% 
July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023:  14%   
July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024:  15%   
  
Such premium share contribution shall be based on the cost of the plan and fees 
incurred by the Town related to joining and remaining in the Connecticut 
Partnership Plan.   

 
6. In the event that the State imposes additional fees or increases the Town’s cost of 

the premium at the end of any contract years, employees shall pay a percentage of 
such increase(s) based upon the employee’s premium share contribution as set forth 
above.  The additional fees and/or increases in the premium, if any, will be paid as 
part of the employee’s premium share contribution during the term of the contract 
year.   

 
7. If the Town decides to discontinue participating in the State Partnership Plan during 

the term of this Agreement or upon expiration of this Agreement, the co-pays, 
deductibles, co-insurance maximums, out of pocket maximums and prescription 
costs under the State Partnership Plan shall not be considered the baseline for 
negotiating subsequent plan(s).  Under such circumstances, the parties will meet to 
negotiate a substitute health insurance plan.    

 
Group Term Life Insurance.  Effective July 1, 1989 Group Term Life Insurance shall be one (1) 
times the annual salary rounded to the highest one thousand dollars ($1,000.00).  Employees who 
retire after July 1, 1990 shall be provided with a two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) 
life insurance policy. 
 
Section 2.  An employee who elects not to accept the health insurance benefits provided in Section 
1 above, shall be remunerated in the amount of five hundred dollars ($500.00) at the end of each 
quarter of the year, effective with the quarter beginning July 1, 2006; provided, however, said 
employee shall furnish to the Town evidence satisfactory to the Town that said employee carries, 
individually or through members of his immediate family, insurance coverage similar to or better 
than that offered by the Town in this Article.  Such person choosing this option shall not be able 
to change his decision prior to the end of each quarter, and the Town shall be relieved of its 
responsibility to provide such coverage during the previous quarter.  If an employee is hired for a 
bargaining unit position covered by this Agreement on or after July 1, 2021, the waiver language 
set forth herein shall not apply to the employee if he/she is eligible for coverage under any health 



 

 16 

insurance plan offered by the Town.  Life insurance, however, shall continue to be provided such 
employee. 
 
Section 3.  The Town reserves the right to change insurance carriers cited in Section 1 as long as 
the benefits are equivalent to, or better than, those offered above as determined on an overall plan 
benefit basis, with the consent of the Union which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 

ARTICLE XV 
RETIREMENT 

 
Section 1.  Except as set forth in Section 2, herein, the Town’s present and existing retirement plan 
(the “Retirement Plan”) shall remain in full force and effect unless modified by mutual agreement 
and approved by the Town’s legislative body and the Union.  Effective July 1, 2021, the eligible 
employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be seven and one-half percent (7.5%).  Effective 
July 1, 2022, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be eight percent (8.0%).   
 
Section 2.  A separate pension plan agreement effective January 1, 2008 and separately negotiated 
shall continue in effect until amended by mutual agreement of both parties.  Effective July 1, 2021, 
the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be seven and one-half percent (7.5%).  
Effective July 1, 2022, the eligible employee’s contribution toward such plan shall be eight percent 
(8.0%).   
 
Employees hired on or after July 1, 2015, shall not be eligible for the plans set forth herein.  Such 
employees shall be eligible for a 401A defined contribution plan offered by the Town in 
accordance with the terms of the plan.     
 
“Average Annual Earnings” means if the Participant retires from employment with the Town on 
or after his Normal Retirement Date, or retires or otherwise terminates employment prior to his 
Normal Retirement Date, his highest average annual earnings received for the last sixty (60) 
months immediately preceding the date the Participant’s employment terminates. 
 
Section 3.  The Town will implement a pre-tax wage deduction plan in accordance with applicable 
federal and State laws as it applies to health and retirement co-pays. 
 

ARTICLE XVI 
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 
Section 1.  The purpose of the grievance procedure shall be to settle employee grievances at as 
low an administrative level as possible and practicable, so as to ensure efficiency and employee 
morale. 
 
Section 2.  A grievance for the purpose of this procedure shall be considered to be a written 
complaint, alleging a specific violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of at least one (1) 
provision of this Agreement, filed by a grievant(s), who is a member of the bargaining unit making a 
claim that a grievance has occurred to his or her detriment. 
 



 

 17 

Section 3.  The grievance procedure under this Agreement shall be as follows: 
 

Step 1: The grievant shall, within ten (10) calendar days of occurrence of 
same, reduce the grievance to writing and submit it to the immediate 
Supervisor in the Department in which the grievance occurred.  The 
immediate Supervisor shall meet with the grievant within five (5) 
working days of receipt of such grievance and use his/her best 
efforts to settle the dispute and shall issue a written decision to said 
party within five (5) working days of such meeting. 

 
Step 2: If said grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the 

immediate Supervisor and elects further processing, they may, 
within ten (10) working days, submit the grievance to the Town 
Manager who shall meet with the grievant within five (5) working 
days of receipt of such grievance and use his best efforts to settle the 
dispute.  The Town Manager’s decision shall be submitted in writing 
to said party within five (5) calendar days of such meeting. 

 
Step 3: If said grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the 

Town Manager and elects further processing, the Union may, within 
fifteen (15) calendar days, submit the grievance to the Connecticut 
State Board of Mediation and Arbitration.  Notice of intention to 
proceed to arbitration must be given to the Town Manager.  The 
arbitrator or arbitrators shall be limited to the express terms of the 
Agreement and shall not have the power to modify, amend or delete 
any terms or provisions of the Agreement. 

 
Step 4: Neither party waives its or his right to legal appeal under the 

Connecticut General Statutes. 
 
Section 4.  Mediation services may be used at any step of the grievance procedure. 
 
Section 5.  If either of the parties related to the grievance process desires to meet for the purposes 
of oral discussion, a meeting shall be requested and if satisfactory to the other party, a meeting 
shall be promptly scheduled.  Such procedure shall not extend the time limitations above. 
 
Section 6.  The employee, the Union, or the Town shall have the right, at his or its own expense, 
of choice of representation whenever representation is desired.  While the employee has the right 
to the choice of representation, he or she may have only one spokesperson at any one step of the 
grievance procedure or at arbitration. 
 
Section 7.  Disciplinary action other than dismissal and/or suspension, when appealed through the 
grievance procedure shall be effective with the decision of the State Board of Mediation and 
Arbitration. 
 



 

 18 

Section 8.  The parties will use the State Board of Arbitration and Mediation’s tripartite panel 
arbitration.  The prevailing party in said grievance procedure shall be reimbursed for his or its 
filing fee by the losing party.  If the grievance is partially sustained, the fee will be split by both 
parties.  The parties may by mutual agreement use expedited arbitration, referenced in earlier 
agreements by these parties as single public member arbitration.  The Town shall have the option 
to select AAA as long as the Town pays one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the arbitration 
and the filing fee. 
 

ARTICLE XVII 
NO STRIKE 

 
During the term of this Agreement, the Union agrees that there shall be no authorized or sanctioned 
cessation, retarding, or stoppage of work, picketing, sympathy strikes, work to rule action, or other 
interference, because of any dispute that may result from interpretations of this Agreement or for any 
cause whatsoever.  The failure or refusal on the part of any employee to comply with this provision 
shall be cause for immediate discipline, including discharge. 
 

ARTICLE XVIII 
PROMOTIONS AND NEW POSITIONS 

 
Section 1.  When new jobs are created or exist, the Town shall post the position for ten (10) working 
days and each employee within the unit who is interested shall have the opportunity to apply for said 
opening.   
 
When a vacancy exists and the Town, in its’ discretion, decides to fill the vacant position, the Town 
shall post the position for ten (10) working days and each employee within the unit who is interested 
shall have the opportunity to apply for said opening. 
 
Section 2.  When a vacancy exists (and the Town decides to fill the vacancy) or a new position is 
created, applicants will receive preference on the basis of their qualifications.   Where the 
qualifications of two or more applicants are equal, the internal applicant with the greatest seniority 
will be given preference.   The candidate will be placed on a probationary period per Article VII of 
this agreement.  If the probation is not satisfactorily completed, then the candidate will be returned to 
his or her original position, if it exists.  Otherwise the candidate will have all rights he or she would 
otherwise have under the reduction in force provisions of this agreement. 
 

ARTICLE XIX 
LONGEVITY 

 
Section 1.  Longevity pay, as noted in this Article, will be paid annually after the employee 
meets the service requirement as follows: 
      
    5 years    $200.00 
  10 years   $350.00 
  15 years   $500.00 
  20 years   $650.00 



 

 19 

  25 years   $800.00 
  30 years   $950.00 
  35 years                              $1,100.00 
 
Annual longevity payments shall be made in full upon the anniversary date of employment.  
Only employees employed in the bargaining unit as of June 11, 2013 shall be eligible for 
longevity payments. 
 

ARTICLE XX 
DISCIPLINE 

 
Section 1.  No employee shall be suspended or discharged without good and sufficient cause.  All 
suspensions and discharges shall be preceded by a notice in writing with the reasons for said 
suspension or discharge stated therein.  A copy of such notice must be given to the employee at 
the time of the suspension or discharge.  The Union President shall be notified when an employee 
is disciplined or discharged. 
 
Section 2.  Disciplinary actions shall normally follow this order: 
 
 A. Verbal warning with notation or order in writing; 
 B. Written warning; 
 C. Suspension without pay; 
 D. Discharge. 
 

ARTICLE XXI 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 1.  The Town shall provide bulletin board space for the Union located in the designated 
areas for the posting of notices concerning Union business and activity. 
 
Section 2.  The Town shall provide a copy of this Agreement to each employee presently employed 
and to each new employee upon employment and five (5) copies to the National Union. 
 
Section 3.  The provisions of the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (Act) shall apply to 
employees, if the employee meets the eligibility requirements set forth in the Act, based on a rolling 
year, as defined in the Act, as amended.   
 
Section 4.  The Town will provide jury leave for regular, full-time employees ordered to serve on 
jury duty, precluding their being available for work.  In such cases, the employee shall receive that 
portion of his regular pay, which will, together with jury pay, equal his total salary for the same 
pay period.  The employee shall notify his immediate supervisor of the scheduled jury duty at least 
forty-eight (48) hours in advance, except where sufficiently limiting circumstances exist.  An 
employee reporting for jury duty and who is dismissed shall return to work so long as one half a 
work day or more remains to be worked. 
 



 

 20 

Section 5.  When the context so requires, the masculine gender shall include the feminine and the 
feminine shall include the masculine, and the singular shall include the plural and the plural the 
singular. 
 
Section 6.  During the term of this Agreement, the Town shall furnish the Union with an up to date 
list of employees.  When a new employee is hired, the Town shall notify the Union and furnish the 
Union with the name, date of employment, classification and the rate of pay of the new employee.  
When the employment of an employee terminates, the Town shall notify the Union and furnish the 
name and date of termination of the employee. 
 
Section 7.  Each employee may review his personnel file with the Town Manager by appointment.  
Copies of material placed in the employee’s file other than a record keeping shall be provided to 
an employee.  Should an employee wish to obtain a complete copy of his personnel file, such copy 
will be provided upon written request. 
 
Section 8.  When an employee is required by the Town to use his/her own motor vehicle to perform 
Town business, he/she shall be reimbursed at the IRS rates. 
 
Section 9.  The Town agrees that the regular payday is on Thursday.  Paychecks will be released 
to employees after 12:00 noon on Thursday.  In the event a holiday falls on Thursday, employees 
shall be paid on Wednesday.  Any change in this schedule shall only be made upon mutual 
agreement between the Town and the Union.  Paychecks will be issued on a biweekly schedule.  
Direct deposit of paychecks shall be required.  
 
Section 10.  All Personnel Rules and Regulations that are the property of the Town shall be 
available to all bargaining unit employees.  Any future changes that affect those working 
conditions subject to the Municipal Employee Relations Act (“MERA”), as amended, shall be 
negotiated with the Union. 
 
Section 11.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent any employee from holding outside 
employment, other than Town work, as long as such employment does not conflict with the 
employee’s duties as a Town employee subject to the approval by the Town which will not be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 
Section 12.  Nothing in this Agreement shall require any employee to be a resident of the Town 
of East Hampton. 
 
Section 13.  Copies of individual job descriptions will be provided to the Union. 
 
Section 14. Past practices concerning subjects that would require bargaining under the Municipal 
Employees Relations Act (“MERA”) presently enjoyed by the Bargaining Unit are protected by 
this Agreement. 
 
Section 15.  The Town shall provide for reimbursement for all tuition and books needed by an 
employee attending job related courses, approved by the Plant Superintendent and Public Utilities 
Administrator, and with documentation of a C or better grade (or a “pass” in a “pass/fail” course) 



 

 21 

once they have completed one year of service.  Reimbursement of all tuition, books, and other 
costs are up to a maximum of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) per calendar year for undergraduate 
or work related courses and up to one thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500.00) per calendar year 
for graduate-level courses.  Seminars and conferences are to be approved by supervisor and the 
Town Manager. Any books purchased will remain the property of the Town. 
 
Section 16.  The Town shall reimburse employees required by the Town to possess a CDL the 
difference between the cost of a regular driver’s license and the CDL.  Amounts for trailer 
endorsements required by the Town shall also be reimbursed by the Town to the employee.  
 
Section 17. If any illness or injury results in a disability that has prevented the employee from 
performing the essential functions of the position (with or without a reasonable accommodation) 
for a period of twelve (12) months or longer, the Town shall have the right to retire or discharge 
the employee.   
 
Section 18. The parties agree that the lining of Town fields by unauthorized individuals shall 
not be considered subcontracting of bargaining unit work.  
 
Section 19. Upon submission of a paid invoice/receipt, the Town will reimburse bargaining unit 
employees for DOT physicals if the employee’s job requires such a physical.   
 
Such reimbursement shall be no greater than one hundred thirty dollars ($130.00) annually.  In the 
event that the Town designates a physician to conduct DOT physicals, the employee shall be 
required to use the designated physician in order to receive the aforementioned reimbursement.      
 

ARTICLE XXII 
UNION ACTIVITIES LEAVE 

 
Section 1. The three (3) members of the Union Negotiating Committee shall be granted leave 
from duty with full pay for all meetings between the Town and the Union for the purpose of 
negotiating the terms of Agreement when such meetings take place at a time during which such 
members are scheduled to be on duty. 
 
Section 2. One (1) member of the Union Grievance Committee, in addition to the employee 
or employees who filed the grievance, shall be granted leave from duty with full pay for all 
meetings between the Town and Union for the purpose of processing grievances through 
arbitration when such meetings take place at a time during which such members are scheduled to 
be on duty. 
 
Section 3. Members of the Union selected to serve as authorized representatives of the Union 
shall be certified in writing to the employer.  Each representative will be expected to perform his 
duties on his own time.  However, it is recognized that from time to time it will be necessary for 
Union activities to be carried out during working time, for example, investigation and processing 
of complaints and disputes, and attendance at executive board and general meetings with a 
maximum fiscal year allowance of two and one-half (2½) working days.  It is further recognized 
that there are reasonable limited deviations from this letter that do not require substantial periods 



 

 22 

of time.  Where such activities are necessary or reasonable to be performed during working hours, 
they may be done without loss of pay to the representative involved.  All Union activity will be 
reported on the appropriate time reporting form.  Prior to engaging in Union activities during work 
time, the employee shall give sufficient notice to the employer (at least three (3) days except in 
unexpected circumstances). 
 

ARTICLE XXIII 
SEVERABILITY 

 
This Agreement contains the full and complete agreement between the Town and the Union on all 
negotiable issues, and neither party shall be required during the term thereof to negotiate upon any 
issue, whether it is covered or not covered in this Agreement.  It is the understanding of the parties 
to this contract that each provision of this Agreement and any schedules or addenda hereto is 
severable and distinct from any other provision, schedule or addenda hereof and that the 
unenforceability or invalidity of any one of said provisions, schedules or addenda shall not affect 
the remainder of this Agreement and this Agreement shall be read and construed as if said 
unenforceable or invalid portion has never been included herein. 

 
ARTICLE XXIV 

MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 
Unless expressly limited by a specific section of this Agreement, the rights, powers and authority 
held by the Town of East Hampton, including any of its boards, agencies, departments or 
commissions pursuant to any Town Charter, general or special acts of the legislature, Town 
ordinance, regulation or other type of lawful provision over matters involving Town employees, 
including but not limited to full control over the policies, practices, procedures and regulations 
with respect to employees of the Town covered by this Agreement, shall remain vested solely and 
exclusively in the Town of East Hampton. 
 

ARTICLE XXV 
JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 
Section 1.  When the Town creates a new classification or changes an existing job other than a 
minor change, the Town and the Union shall negotiate appropriate pay rates for such new or 
changed classification, and said classification and pay rates shall become effective upon agreement 
through negotiations. 
 
Section 2.  All members of the various classifications listed in the wage schedules shall be paid at 
a rate in accordance with the amount of services they have in that particular classification except 
that any member advanced or promoted to a higher classification shall be paid the next higher rate 
of pay, not less than one full step, over which he was receiving at the lower classification. 
 
Section 3.  When an employee is assigned, in writing, by the Town Manager or his/her designee, 
to another job classification for more than thirty (30) consecutive work days (due to either another 
employees absence from work or the position is vacant), and the employee satisfactorily performs 
all of the essential duties of the position, the employee shall be paid at the next higher pay rate in 



 

 23 

his/her pay grade for all such time worked in excess of thirty (30) consecutive work days in the 
classification.  If the work assigned, in writing, by the Town Manager or his/her designee, is 
performed for more than ninety (90) consecutive work days, the employee may request, in writing 
to the Town Manager, a permanent upgrading or “reclassification."  All requests shall be 
considered on the basis of job evaluation and recommendation by the department head to the Town 
Manager.  The Town Manager shall make the final determination regarding reclassification.  A 
written response to all requests for reclassification under the above noted circumstances shall be 
issued within sixty (60) calendar days of the filing date of the request. 

 
Section 4.  When an employee is assigned, in writing, by the Town Manager or his/her designee, 
and satisfactorily performs all the duties of a non-bargaining unit supervisor position for more than 
thirty (30) consecutive work days, he/she shall receive additional compensation of one dollar 
($1.00) per hour.  Effective July 1, 2022, the additional compensation set forth herein shall be 
increased to one dollar and twenty-five cents ($1.25) per hour. 
 

ARTICLE XXVI 
DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

 
The effective date of this Agreement shall be July 1, 2021 and it shall remain in effect for three 
years until June 30, 2024.  This Agreement shall remain in effect upon expiration and during 
negotiation until agreement is reached and signed to amend or modify this Agreement.  At least 
one hundred twenty (120) days before the expiration date of this Agreement, the parties agree to 
meet and discuss a new Agreement.   
 
FOR THE TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON  FOR THE EAST HAMPTON 

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES 
ASSOCIATION 

 
Town Manager     NAGE 
 
Signed: 
 
__________________________________  ____________________________________ 
David Cox, Town Manager     Michael Angeli, President, NAGE/NAME    
 
 
__________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Witness      Witness 
 
 
 
Date:   ____________________________  Date:_____________________________ 
 
 
 
  



24 

Wage Schedule   APPENDIX A 

   Pay Grade Beginning Hire 1 Year 2nd Year 3rd-5th Year 6th-10th Year After 10 Years 

Foreman 

7/1/21 $29.34 $31.83 $34.86 $35.26 $35.42 

2.00% $61,027.20 $66,206.40 $72,508.80 $73,340.80 $73,673.60 

7/1/22 $30.00 $32.55 $35.64 $36.05 $36.22 

2.25% $62,400.00 $67,704.00 $74,131.20 $74,984.00 $75,337.60 

7/1/23 $30.71 $33.31 $36.48 $36.90 $37.07 

2.35% $63,876.80 $69,284.80 $75,878.40 $76,752.00 $77,105.60 

Chief Mechanic 

7/1/21 $29.04 $31.16 $34.75 $35.10 $35.26 

2.00% $60,403.20 $64,812.80 $72,280.00 $73,008.00 $73,340.80 

7/1/22 $29.69 $31.86 $35.53 $35.89 $36.05 

2.25% $61,755.20 $66,268.80 $73,902.40 $74,651.20 $74,984.00 

7/1/23 $30.39 $32.61 $36.36 $36.73 $36.90 

2.35% $63,211.20 $67,828.80 $75,628.80 $76,398.40 $76,752.00 
Crew Leader – DPW 

Crew Leader – 
Maintenance  

7/1/21 $25.98 $28.09 $29.40 $30.30 $30.84 

2.00% $54,038.40 $58,427.20 $61,152.00 $63,024.00 $64,147.20 

7/1/22 $26.56 $28.72 $30.06 $30.98 $31.53 

2.25% $55,244.80 $59,737.60 $62,524.80 $64,438.40 $65,582.40 

7/1/23 $27.18 $29.39 $30.77 $31.71 $32.27 

2.35% $56,534.40 $61,131.20 $64,001.60 $65,956.80 $67,121.60 



25 

   Pay Grade Beginning Hire 1 Year 2nd Year 3rd-5th Year 6th-10th Year After 10 Years 
Park Maintainer 

Maintainer I 
7/1/21 $19.27 $20.94 $22.29 $23.22 $24.05 

2.00% $40,081.60 $43,555.20 $46,363.20 $48,297.60 $50,024.00 

7/1/22 $19.70 $21.41 $22.79 $23.74 $24.59 

2.25% $40,976.00 $44,532.80 $47,403.20 $49,379.20 $51,147.20 

7/1/23 $20.16 $21.91 $23.33 $24.30 $25.17 

2.35% $41,932.80 $45,572.80 $48,526.40 $50,544.00 $52,353.60 
Maintainer II 

Building Maintainer 
7/1/21 $21.78 $23.88 $26.57 $26.71 $26.91 

2.00% $45,302.40 $49,670.40 $55,265.60 $55,556.80 $55,972.80 

7/1/22 $22.27 $24.42 $27.17 $27.31 $27.52 

2.25% $46,321.60 $50,793.60 $56,513.60 $56,804.80 $57,241.60 

7/1/23 $22.79 $24.99 $27.81 $27.95 $28.17 

2.35% $47,403.20 $51,979.20 $57,844.80 $58,136.00 $58,593.60 

Maintainer III 

Mechanic 
7/1/21 $23.45 $26.28 $29.25 $29.56 $29.63 

2.00% $48,776.00 $54,662.40 $60,840.00 $61,484.80 $61,630.40 

7/1/22 $23.98 $26.87 $29.91 $30.23 $30.30 

2.25% $49,878.40 $55,889.60 $62,212.80 $62,878.40 $63,024.00 

7/1/23 $24.54 $27.50 $30.61 $30.94 $31.01 

2.35% $51,043.20 $57,200.00 $63,668.80 $64,355.20 $64,500.80 



26 

Pay Grade Beginning Hire 1 Year 2nd Year 3rd-5th Year 6th-10th Year After 10 Years 
Assistant Town Clerk 

7/1/21 $25.59 $26.53 $28.69 $28.88 $29.26 

2.00% $46,573.80 $48,284.60 $52,215.80 $52,561.60 $53,253.20 

7/1/22 $26.17 $27.13 $29.34 $29.53 $29.92 

2.25% $47,629.40 $49,376.60 $53,398.80 $53,744.60 $54,454.40 

7/1/23 $26.78 $27.77 $30.03 $30.22 $30.62 

2.35% $48,739.60 $50,541.40 $54,654.60 $55,000.40 $55,728.40 

Asst. Bldg. Official 

7/1/21 $31.12 $32.22 $33.38 $34.29 $35.64 

2.00% $56,638.40 $58,640.40 $60,751.60 $62,407.80 $64,864.80 

7/1/22 $31.82 $32.94 $34.13 $35.06 $36.44 

2.25% $57,912.40 $59,950.80 $62,116.60 $63,809.20 $66,320.80 

7/1/23 $32.57 $33.71 $34.93 $35.88 $37.30 

2.35% $59,277.40 $61,352.20 $63,572.60 $65,301.60 $67,886.00 
Children’s, Adult/Young 
Adult 

7/1/21 $29.52 $30.68 $31.94 $32.56 $33.05 

2.00% $53,726.40 $55,837.60 $58,130.80 $59,259.20 $60,151.00 

7/1/22 $30.18 $31.37 $32.66 $33.29 $33.79 

2.25% $54,927.60 $57,093.40 $59,441.20 $60,587.80 $61,497.80 

7/1/23 $30.89 $32.11 $33.43 $34.07 $34.58 

2.35% $56,219.80 $58,440.20 $60,842.60 $62,007.40 $62,935.60 



27 

Pay Grade Beginning Hire 1 Year 2nd Year 3rd-5th Year 6th-10th Year After 10 Years 
Admin. Assistant 

WPCA Secretary 

Public Works Secretary 

Police Dispatcher/Secretary 
7/1/21 $25.33 $26.34 $28.68 $28.87 $29.25 

2.00% $46,100.60 $47,938.80 $52,197.60 $52,543.40 $53,235.00 

7/1/22 $25.90 $26.93 $29.33 $29.52 $29.91 

2.25% $47,138.00 $49,012.60 $53,380.60 $53,726.40 $54,436.20 

7/1/23 $26.51 $27.56 $30.02 $30.21 $30.61 

2.35% $48,248.20 $50,159.20 $54,636.40 $54,982.20 $55,710.20 

Office Technicians 

Building Department 

Health Department  
7/1/21 $25.13 $26.25 $28.66 $28.86 $29.01 

2.00% $45,736.60 $47,775.00 $52,161.20 $52,525.20 $52,798.20 

7/1/22 $25.70 $26.84 $29.30 $29.51 $29.66 

2.25% $46,774.00 $48,848.80 $53,326.00 $53,708.20 $53,981.20 

7/1/23 $26.30 $27.47 $29.99 $30.20 $30.36 

2.35% $47,866.00 $49,995.40 $54,581.80 $54,964.00 $55,255.20 



28 

 Office Assistants 

Assessor's Clerk 

Tax Clerks 

Accounting Clerks 

Police Clerk 
7/1/21 $24.82 $26.21 $28.65 $28.84 $28.92 

2.00% $45,172.40 $47,702.20 $52,143.00 $52,488.80 $52,634.40 

7/1/22 $25.38 $26.80 $29.29 $29.49 $29.57 

2.25% $46,191.60 $48,776.00 $53,307.80 $53,671.80 $53,817.40 

7/1/23 $25.98 $27.43 $29.98 $30.18 $30.26 

2.35% $47,283.60 $49,922.60 $54,563.60 $54,927.60 $55,073.20 

Head of Circulation and 
Technical Services 

7/1/21 $22.67 $23.56 $24.51 $25.00 $25.35 

2.00% $41,259.40 $42,879.20 $44,608.20 $45,500.00 $46,137.00 

7/1/22 $23.18 $24.09 $25.06 $25.56 $25.92 

2.25% $42,187.60 $43,843.80 $45,609.20 $46,519.20 $47,174.40 

7/1/23 $23.72 $24.66 $25.65 $26.16 $26.53 

2.35% $43,170.40 $44,881.20 $46,683.00 $47,611.20 $48,284.60 

 Clerk Typist 

7/1/21 $20.00 $20.84 $21.99 $23.33 $24.69 

2.00% $36,400.00 $37,928.80 $40,021.80 $42,460.60 $44,935.80 

7/1/22 $20.45 $21.31 $22.48 $23.85 $25.25 

2.25% $37,219.00 $38,784.20 $40,913.60 $43,407.00 $45,955.00 

7/1/23 $20.93 $21.81 $23.01 $24.41 $25.84 

2.35% $38,092.60 $39,694.20 $41,878.20 $44,426.20 $47,028.80 



Agenda Item 12



BOARD AND COMMISSION SUMMARY 
JUNE 2021 

Arts & Culture Commission 
The Arts & Culture Commission met on June 17 at the Joseph N. Goff House.  New member 
Mindy Maynard was welcomed back to the Commission.  The members reviewed information 
on the poet laureate, the budget balance and the cancellation of the student art award.  The 
student art award will be reinstated next year.  The members recognized Shirley Brooks, an 
original commission member who has retired and moved. 

Board of Finance 
The Board of Finance met on June 14 for a special meeting where they unanimously approved 
the mill rate for the 2021-2022 Fiscal Year (34.53).  The Board also met for their regularly 
scheduled meeting on June 21 where they unanimously approved a motion to approve the 
FY21 Tax Suspension List.  

Brownfields Redevelopment Agency 
The Brownfields Redevelopment Agency met on June 28.  The members received updates on 
the properties of 1 and 13 Watrous. The members briefly discussed the Brownfields webinars 
and the possible outreach to and collaborations with sister agencies about future projects. 
There was discussion of possibly nominating a new Chairman and the announcement of Mr. 
Bristol stepping down from the agency.  

Clean Energy Task Force  
The Clean Energy Task Force met on June 1.  Members welcomed new member Russ Kaplan.  
John Greeno of New England Conservation Services provided additional information on the 
programs available for clean energy including solar canopies and heat pumps.  The members 
discussed the upcoming electric car show in September. 

Commission on Aging 
The Commission on Aging met on June 10.  Ms. Ewing provided an update on the Senior 
Center opening to visitors beginning June 1.  Dr. Rosenberg provided an update on the 
housing survey being drafted for the commission.  Members decided to hold on reinstating 
the Roundtable Meetings until early 2022.  The July meeting will be held in person and via 
Zoom.  The August meeting will be cancelled.  The commission received $1,200 for next year’s 
budget. 

Conservation-Lake Commission 
The Conservation-Lake Commission met on June 10.  The commission welcomed three new 
members. There was discussion and review of one plan review for an addition. The members 
approved the plan review. The members received updates on the watershed projects and 
federal funding, the sub-committee report on education, the advisory panel, the lake smart 
program, and the lake level. The members reviewed and discussed the commission’s 
ordinance. There was discussion of the project for the Christopher Brook property. 

Design Review Board 
No meeting 

Agenda Item 14a



 
Economic Development Commission 
The Economic Development Commission met on June 15.  The members discussed the Bells 
on the Bridge event, the local business pamphlet, the new business mixer, the minutes and 
motions from the P&Z meeting, the new business banner, and the Business of the Month 
under old business. The members also discussed the Village Center direction signs and Town 
Hall signs, the draft for the commission mission statement, and whether the members would 
want to go back to in-person meetings. The Town Manager gave his updates to the members 
on what is happening in and for the town. 
 
Ethics Commission 
No meeting  
 
Fire Commission 
The Fire Commission met on June 14.  The members received the blue books and 
presentation from Rick from ACG about the 2020 awards program. The Fire Marshal and 
Fire Chief gave their reports to the members. The members received updates on the dry 
hydrants, the AC upgrades, the budget, and the new system for report the NFIRS to the state. 
The members were updated on the damaged hoses and the 3-year hose testing contract was 
approved. 
 
Inland Wetland Watercourses Agency 
The Inland Wetland Watercourses Agency met on June 30. 
Continued Business: 

A. IW-21-012:  Maurice Gagnon, Clark Hill Road, to construct a new home in the  
           Upland Review Area.  Map 11/Block 40/Lot 11B.  Vice-Chairman Wilson made a motion 

to approve Application IW-21-012 using the standard short form with no special 
conditions for the following reason:  the applicant has shown adequate protection of 
the wetlands and watercourses on the site.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Wall.  
Vote:  4-0 

 
New Applications: 

A. Application IW-21-013:  Dream Developers, 1 West Street, demolish existing two-story 
deck and construct a two-story addition in its place with a foundation in the Upland 
Review Area.  Map 03A/Block 44/Lot 59.  Vice-Chairman Wilson made a motion to 
have the Agent approve Application IW-21-013.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Wall.  
Vote:  4-0 

 
B. Application IW-21-014:  Rocco Nozzolini, to construct a 572 sq. ft. garage in the Upland 

Review Area.  Map 36/Block 96/Lot L-3.  Vice-Chairman Wilson made a motion to 
continue Application IW-21-014 to the next regularly scheduled meeting on July 28, 
2021.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Wall.  Vote:  4-0   

 
C. Application IW-21-015: Brookhaven Park Inc., Brookhaven Beach, Park Road, 

Reclamation of approximately 495 sq. ft. of beach sand from Lake Pocotopaug to 
restore the beach area.  Map 10A/Block 82/Lot 26A.  Mr. Boule made a motion to 
continue Application IW-21-015 to the next regularly scheduled meeting on July 28, 
2021.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Wall.  Vote:  4-0 



 
D. Application IW-21-016: East Hampton WPCA, Replacement of sewer force main 

between Pine Trail and Poe Road on 4 properties along Lake Pocotopaug shoreline in 
the Upland Review Area.  Mr. Boule made a motion to continue Application IW-21-016 
to the next regularly scheduled meeting on July 28, 2021.  The motion was seconded 
by Vice-Chairman Wilson.  Vote:  4-0   

 
Election of Officers: 
Mr. Wall made a motion to elect Mr. Foran as Chairman and to elect Mr. Wilson as Vice-
Chairman.  Mr. Boule seconded the motion.  Vote:  4-0 
 
Joint Facilities  
No meeting 
 
Library Advisory Board 
The Library Advisory Board met on June 7.  The members received an update on the library 
space planning project.  Members provided feedback on the drawings and discussed future 
building space needs.  The Library received an unsolicited grant of $17,000 from the 
Connecticut State Library.  The funds originated from the American Rescue Plan Act and are 
to be used to respond to the pandemic.  Members suggested possible uses including adding 
mobile shelving for increased flexibility in library spaces, adding charging stations and 
replacing old and worn out furniture. 
 
Middle Haddam Historic District Commission 
The Middle Haddam Historic District Commission met on June 24.  The members reviewed 
and discussed an application to construct a modern farmhouse at lot #5 on Long Hill Road. 
The members made a motion to approve the application. The members then reviewed and 
discussed applications 551, 552, 553, and 554 from the previous month’s meeting. The new 
property owner and the construction manager were present to answer questions and show 
the chosen materials for the proposed house plans. The members made a motion to approve 
of all four applications with the condition that no two houses of the same style be built next 
to each other.  
 
Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 
The Parks & Recreation Advisory Board met on June 1.  Mr. Hall discussed several grants for 
summer camp programs that the department was awarded.  Members received updates on 
the Air Line Trail and the sports facilities projects.  The master plan was cut from the budget 
for this season.  The department will be looking at other ways to proceed with a similar project 
run in house.  Sports on 66 was sold at auction.  The members discussed a possible dock by 
the boat launch at Sears Park.  The status of all parks and recreation summer programs were 
reviewed.  COVID guidelines for summer programs were also reviewed. 
 
Planning & Zoning Commission 
The Planning & Zoning Commission met on June 2. 
Public Hearings: 

A. Application PZC-20-024: Paula Free, 249 West High St., for a special permit per Sec. 8.4 
Motor Fuel Filling Station with a proposed convenience store in the Commercial Zone, 
Section 5.2. Map 06/Block 12/Lot 1B. Continued 



B. Application PZC-21-012: Reno DeNovellis, 11 Daly Rd., for a Special Permit per Sec. 
8.4.M for a 900 sq. ft. in-law dwelling Map 87/Block 26/Lot 9. Approved 

C. Application PZC-21-009: Long Hill Estates, LLC., for an eight (8) lot subdivision on Long 
Hill Road Map 06/Block 12/Lot 8. Approved 

 
Old Business: 

A. Application PZC-21-007: Atlantis Marketing, 157 Main Street, 1 Colchester Ave., and 5 
Colchester Ave., for a zone change from R-2 to Commercial Map 07A/Block 56/ Lots 
21,22,24.  Denied 

 
Town Facility Building Committee  
No meeting 
 
Water Pollution Control Authority  
The Water Pollution Control Authority Board met on June 1 via Zoom.  The Sewer Use fees 
are reporting at 102% collected. The switch to a 2x billing for sewer use (October and April) 
appears to be very successful. Mr. Clayton gave a brief report on the Municipal Water System. 
Mr. DeSimone noted that the WPCA may want to look at adding sewers to those sections of 
the RT 66 corridor that will be opened up during the construction of a water line. The 
engineering firm (CLA) is finalizing the design plans for the Pine Trail and North Maple 
pumps stations. Estimating bids in July/August for fall construction. A Public Hearing was 
held for the proposed 2021-22 Water Budget and recommended water rates for the 
customers of the Village Center and Royal Oaks. The Budget will not require a rate change in 
FY 21-22. No public attended.  The Water Budget will go to Town Council on June 8, 2021 
for final approval. 
 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
The Zoning Board of Appeals met on June 14. 
Public Hearings: 

A. Application ZBA-21-006, Michael Epright, Esq., 145 Main St., to reduce the side setback 
from 25’ to 10’ and to increase the lot coverage from 10% to 12.64% to construct a 24’ x 
36’ accessory building with detached garage Map 6A/Block 56/Lot 27.  Ms. Jacobson 
made a motion to approve Application ZBA-21-006, Michael Epright, Esq., 145 Main St., 
to reduce the side setback from 25’ to 10’ and to increase the lot coverage from 10% to 
12.64% to construct a 24’ x 36’ accessory building with detached garage Map 6A/Block 
56/Lot 27.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Pfaffenbach.  Vote:  5-Yes; 0-No 

 
B. Application ZBA-21-007, Philip Healey, 63 Skyline Drive, to increase the lot coverage 

from 10% to 12% for a 420 SF pool and 592 SF deck Map 18/Block 44/Lot 48.  Vice-
Chairman Spack made a motion to approve Application ZBA-21-007, Philip Healey, 63 
Skyline Drive, to increase the lot coverage from 10% to 12% for a 420 SF pool and 592 SF 
deck Map 18/Block 44/Lot 48 with the noted hardship.  Mr. Reed seconded the motion.  
Vote:  5-Yes; 0-No. 

               
 


	East Hampton NAGE Town Hall CBA 2021-2024 ( highlighted copy).pdf
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	ARTICLE I
	RECOGNITION AND UNIT DESCRIPTION
	ARTICLE II
	UNION SECURITY
	ARTICLE III
	WAGES
	ARTICLE IV
	HOLIDAYS, PERSONAL DAYS AND FAMILY FUNERAL LEAVE
	ARTICLE VI
	OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE IX
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	Length of Continuous Service   Vacation Leave Earned
	ARTICLE XII
	ARTICLE XIII
	ARTICLE XIV
	ARTICLE XV
	“Average Annual Earnings” means if the Participant retires from employment with the Town on or after his Normal Retirement Date, or retires or otherwise terminates employment prior to his Normal Retirement Date, his highest average annual earnings rec...
	ARTICLE XVI
	ARTICLE XVII
	ARTICLE XVIII
	ARTICLE XIX
	ARTICLE XX
	ARTICLE XXI
	ARTICLE XXII
	ARTICLE XXIII
	ARTICLE XXIV
	ARTICLE XXV

	ARTICLE XXVI
	DURATION OF AGREEMENT

	East Hampton NAGE Town Hall CBA 2021-2024 ( clean copy).pdf
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	ARTICLE I
	RECOGNITION AND UNIT DESCRIPTION
	ARTICLE II
	UNION SECURITY
	ARTICLE III
	WAGES
	ARTICLE IV
	HOLIDAYS, PERSONAL DAYS AND FAMILY FUNERAL LEAVE
	ARTICLE VI
	OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY
	ARTICLE VII
	ARTICLE VIII
	ARTICLE IX
	ARTICLE X
	ARTICLE XI
	Length of Continuous Service   Vacation Leave Earned
	ARTICLE XII
	ARTICLE XIII
	ARTICLE XIV
	ARTICLE XV
	“Average Annual Earnings” means if the Participant retires from employment with the Town on or after his Normal Retirement Date, or retires or otherwise terminates employment prior to his Normal Retirement Date, his highest average annual earnings rec...
	ARTICLE XVI
	ARTICLE XVII
	ARTICLE XVIII
	ARTICLE XIX
	ARTICLE XX
	ARTICLE XXI
	ARTICLE XXII
	ARTICLE XXIII
	ARTICLE XXIV
	ARTICLE XXV

	DURATION OF AGREEMENT




